GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDON

AGENDA

Meeting Housing Committee
Date Tuesday 27 February 2018
Time 10.00 am

Place Committee Room 5, City Hall, The
Queen’'s Walk, London, SET1 2AA

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing

Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past
meetings.

Members of the Committee

Sian Berry AM (Chair) Tony Devenish AM
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) David Kurten AM
Tom Copley AM Nicky Gavron AM

Leonie Cooper AM

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business
listed below.
Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat
Monday 19 February 2018

Further Information

If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458

For media enquiries please contact: Lisa Lam; Telephone: 020 7983 4067;
Email lisa.lam@london.gov.uk. If you have any questions about individual items please contact the
author whose details are at the end of the report.

This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as
noted on the agenda. A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.

There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available. There is limited underground
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or
further information.

vl 2015


http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.

Si usted, o algiin conocido desea recibir una copia del order del dia, acta o informe en
Braille o en su propio idioma, y gratis, no dude en ponerse en contacto con nosotros
llamando al teléfano 020 7983 4100 o por correo electronico:
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.

Se vocé, ou algliem que conheca precisa uma copia da ordem do dia, anotacées ou
relatorios em prensa grande ou Braille, ou em outra lingu, entao por favour nos
telephone em 020 7983 4100 ou e-mail assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.

Haddii ama ama qof aad tagaanid, uu ugu baahan yahay koobiga ajendhada, haddaladii
ama warbixinta in far waaweyn loogu qoro ama farta qofka indooclaha akhrin karo, amaba
luugad kale, fadlan naga soo wac telefoonkan 020 7983 4100 ama email
assembly.translations @london.gov.uk.

Ta ba ri enikeni ti o ba ni ife ni eda ewe nla ti ighimo awon asoju tahi papa julo ni ede ti
abinibi won, ki o kansiwa lori ero ibanisoro. Nomba wa ni 020 7983 4100 tabi ki e kan si

wa lori ero assembly translations@london.gov.uk.

A dHA Al AR Bl dl Al A ubld Ao (sdyBl), Mz (24 i) e
Buiza (eadl)-dl -sa Hiel 2ani ouddl 3 adaui 2aa oo 55 eumi Addl
sy, dl su s34 020 7983 4100 GuR st »al assembly translations @london.gov.uk
Gy wuA §-1da 53,

STl 9 WP AEoE (Fe A arersl, TG 91 [[remeeg aFh F# 92 g 91 @2+
SN ST (BT SRR CPCS Bl S0 W B0 SIS0 020 7983 4100 & HTF 10T (I Bs]
9l assembly.translations@london.gov.uk < Z-TI3¢e (AT Feee] |

# Zog 7 IoF T fan dv fowadt §, 803, HifZar &1 aoeet 7 fouget &t anft, €3 nugt
feg suel 7 59® € gu feu A far J9 89 feg odlet T 3t fagur s9a AS 020 7983 4100
'3 2WiIgs a9 At fER U ' FIH® J9 : assembly.translations@london.gov.uk

r'//al.-{?uruEﬂ:pﬁfug}dfﬂdgfuzkﬁggzuﬁ:gz&J’.f;{LéE’JII;EFU“I;G;;JLJ:L%&.?,TL = T/ﬁ
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk ﬁ,.iyu,; JSLU di@:}&ﬁﬂ?{(ﬂﬂ 79834100%°

I1SO
9001

Quality
Management

Certificate Number: FS 80233


mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk

Agenda
Housing Committee
Tuesday 27 February 2018

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements

To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4)

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat
Contact: Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616

The Committee is recommended to:

() Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at
Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests
in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and

((3) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be
relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA's
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s).

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 66)

The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the
Committee held on 23 January 2018 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record.

The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 67 is attached for Members and officers only
but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website:
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing



mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing

Summary List of Actions (Pages 67 - 80)

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat
Contact: Clare Bryant; Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4616

The Committee is recommended to note the outstanding actions arising from its
previous meetings.

Strategic Issues for Social Housing in London (Pages 81 - 82)

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat
Contact: Pauline Niesseron, pauline.niesseron@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4843

The Committee is recommended to:

(@) Note the report as background to putting questions to the invited guests on
the future of social housing in London.

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead
Members, to agree any output from the discussion.

Protecting London’s Property Guardians (Pages 83 - 134)

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat
Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394

The Committee is recommended to note its report on property guardians, Protecting
London’s property guardians, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

Housing Committee Work Programme (Pages 135 - 138)

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat
Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394

The Committee is recommended to

(@) Note the progress on its work programme, as set out in the report.

(b) Note the schedule of its provisional meetings for 2018/19, which is subject to
agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 10 May 2018.

(c) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, to
agree the topic, terms of reference and scope for the Committee’s first
provisional meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year on 24 May 2018.


mailto:Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:pauline.niesseron@london.gov.uk
mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
mailto:crutiny@london.gov.uk

Date of Next Meeting

The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Thursday, 15 March 2018 at 2.00pm in
the Chamber, City Hall.

Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDONASSEMBLY

Subject: Declarations of Interests

Report to: Housing Committee

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat Date: 27 February 2018

This report will be considered in public

1.1

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

Summary

This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary
interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and
gifts and hospitality to be made.

Recommendations

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted
as disclosable pecuniary interests’;

That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific
items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding
withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and

That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant
(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the
time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and
noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any
necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted.

Issues for Consideration

Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf:

' The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly,
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered” must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London
Borough X.

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SET 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk v2/2017

Page 1




3.2

3.3

Member

Interest

Tony Arbour AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond

Jennette Arnold OBE AM

Committee of the Regions

Gareth Bacon AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley

Shaun Bailey AM

Sian Berry AM

Member, LB Camden

Andrew Boff AM

Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of
Europe)

Leonie Cooper AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth

Tom Copley AM

Unmesh Desai AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham

Tony Devenish AM

Member, City of Westminster

Andrew Dismore AM

Member, LFEPA

Len Duvall AM

Florence Eshalomi AM

Member, LB Lambeth

Nicky Gavron AM

Susan Hall AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow

David Kurten AM

Member, LFEPA

Joanne McCartney AM

Deputy Mayor

Steve O’Connell AM

Member, LB Croydon

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM

Keith Prince AM

Member, LB Redbridge

Caroline Russell AM

Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington

Dr Onkar Sahota AM

Navin Shah AM

Fiona Twycross AM

Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum

Peter Whittle AM

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 1 October 2017]

Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism
Act 2011, provides that:

where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered
or being considered or at

()  a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or

(i)  any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s
functions

they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and

must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting

UNLESS

they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality —
Appendix 5 to the Code).

Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is
knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading.

Page 2



34

35

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

4.1

5.

5.1

In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that
was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising -
namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with
knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it
would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.

Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and
the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or
decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to
make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also
that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence.

Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person
from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the
previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to
disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend
at which that business is considered.

The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set
out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-
line database may be viewed here:
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.

If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of
the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from
whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members
are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when
the interest becomes apparent.

It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or
hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the
relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the
Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so
regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in
any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA.

Legal Implications

The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report.

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

Local

Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

List of Background Papers: None

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer
Telephone: 020 7983 4616

E-mail:

clare.bryant@london.gov.uk

Page 3



http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



Agenda Item 3

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDONASSEMBLY

MINUTES

Meeting: Housing Committee

Date: Tuesday 23 January 2018

Time: 10.00 am

Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The
Queen’'s Walk, London, SET1 2AA

Copies of the minutes may be found at:
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing

Present:

Sian Berry AM (Chair)

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair)
Tom Copley AM

Leonie Cooper AM

Nicky Gavron AM

David Kurten AM

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1)

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Tony Devenish AM.

2 Declarations of Interests (Item 2)
2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.
2.2 Resolved:

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at
Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk

Page 5


http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing

3.1

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

Greater London Authority
Housing Committee
Tuesday 23 January 2018

Minutes (Item 3)
Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2017 be signed by the Chair as
a correct record.

Summary List of Actions (Item 4)
The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.
Resolved:

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the
Committee be noted.

Draft London Plan (Item 5)

The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to
putting questions on the Mayor’s draft London Plan the following invited guests:

e James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development;
e James Clark, Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority (GLA);
e Darren Richards, Head of London Plan Team, GLA;

e Mark Baigent, Interim Divisional Director of Housing and Regeneration, London Borough
of Tower Hamlets;

e Steve Moore, Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering;

e Martyn Thomas, Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of
Havering;

e Andrew Russell, Senior Strategic Planner, GLA; and

o Elliot Kempe, Principal Strategic Planner, GLA.

A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1.

Page 6



53

54

55

56

6.1

6.2

Greater London Authority
Housing Committee
Tuesday 23 January 2018

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential
Development, agreed to provide:

@ A written explanation on how planning permissions are monitored in terms of funding
in relation to the London Plan;

(b)  The number of young people in overcrowded households;

(@) The timescale for analysis of the effectiveness of the 35% threshold approach for
developers; and

(d) Further information on the net and gross loss of social housing through demolition on
public land and information on the delivery of affordable housing in parts A3 and A4
of the London Plan.

During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the Senior Manager for
Housing Strategy to clarify

@ Why the 40% borough portion of tenure split in be social housing is included in the
supporting text 4.7.2 and not in main H7 policy box; and

(b)  Whether the last Strategic Housing Market Assessment was based on the data from
the English Housing Survey, or the London Housing Survey.

During the course of the discussion, the Interim Divisional Director of Housing and
Regeneration agreed to provide the figures for overcrowding locally in Tower Hamlets

Resolved:
(a) That the report and discussion be noted.
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group

Lead Members, to agree the Committee’s submission to the Planning
Committee on the draft London Plan response.

Housing Committee Work Programme (Iltem 6)

The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.
Resolved:

That the updated work programme be noted.

Page 7



Greater London Authority
Housing Committee
Tuesday 23 January 2018

The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Tuesday, 27 February 2018 at

Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 8)

There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent.

7 Date of Next Meeting (Item 7)
7.1
10.00am in Committee Room 5, City Hall.
8
8.1
9 Close of Meeting
9.1 The meeting ended at 1.05pm.
Chair

Date

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458

Page 8



Appendix 1
London Assembly Housing Committee - 23 January 2018

Transcript of Item 5 - Draft London Plan

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Now on to the main item, the draft London Plan. This was published at the
beginning of December [2017] and all the different Committees that are concerned with planning are looking
at this across the Assembly. The Planning Committee was yesterday; the Environment Committee has already
looked at it. We will be putting in responses to the consultation and today we are going to be discussing
issues around housing.

| just wanted to say to members of the public who may be watching that it is really important that you respond
to the London Plan as well. The Greater London Authority (GLA) has made that really easy. There is a
website. If you just search for “London Plan” on the internet, the website lets you leave individual comments
on individual policies. Even if just one thing from this meeting or from any of the other parts of the London
Plan that you want to comment on bothers you, make sure that you put in comments to the Mayor so that it
can go into the consultation. The deadline is 2 March [2018]. | just wanted to say that.

| want to welcome our guests. We have James Murray, who is the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential
Development. We have James Clark, who is the Senior Manager for Housing Strategy at the GLA. We have
Darren Richards, also from the Planning team at the GLA. Then, from the boroughs, we have Mark Baigent,
who is from the London Borough of Tower Hamlets. He is one of the Directors for Housing and Regeneration
there. We have Steve Moore, who is the Director of Neighbourhoods from the London Borough of Havering,
and Martyn Thomas, who is the Development and Transport Planning Manager from the London Borough of
Havering as well.

We are here to ask lots of questions, focusing on the housing aspects of the London Plan. Can | ask James just
to start off by telling us how important housing is to what is in the planning policies and how we got to the
point of this draft?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Thank you very much,
Chair, for inviting me along this morning and just giving me a few moments to set out some of the overall
context of this. The London Plan draws together all of the Mayor’s different policies around housing,
employment, open space, culture and so on across the board, but, from my point of view as the Deputy Mayor
for Housing, clearly, the housing targets in it are central to what | am working on for the Mayor.

The really important starting point for understanding how this London Plan fits into broader conversations
around housing delivery is that it essentially says it is possible to pretty much meet London’s needs within
London without building on the Green Belt or open space. The way in which it says that is based on the
evidence base of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), which | am sure we will discuss later on,
which identifies a need for 66,000 homes a year. On the basis of a response to that evidenced need for
66,000 homes a year, it identifies capacity for 65,000 homes a year through a combination of various
measures, which | am sure we will discuss in greater detail, around densification, around building on small sites
and so on.

Page 9



It is quite important to lay that out because it is saying upfront that it is possible to build the homes that
London needs. Sometimes the housing crisis can seem so enormous that people wonder where to begin in
tackling it; whereas what the London Plan is saying is, upfront, that the capacity is there.

The more important, and far more difficult, part of the conversation then becomes how we deliver those
homes. Identifying the theoretical capacity is, clearly, a first and essential step and getting the planning
permissions in place for that is necessary, but it is not sufficient to get them built. We need to make sure we
have the delivery mechanisms to make sure those homes are built.

That is, again, where the London Plan is very clear about the extra powers, resources and levels of investment
that London would need in order to build those homes; for instance, investment in affordable housing. The
London Plan sets out a target for 65,000 homes a year, 50% affordable, and it also makes clear within the
London Plan that if we were to deliver that, we would need investment in affordable housing, on our first
estimates, to go from the current level of around £500 million a year up to around £2.7 billion a year
investment in affordable housing. Therefore, it is clear about what we would need in terms of powers,
resources, investment and so on to do the delivery of these homes.

That is quite an important distinction to make so that we understand the context of the London Plan and its
targets and that it is an essential and quite important first step to say, “Here in principle is where the homes
could go”. What we need to work on with partners, boroughs, private industry, housing associations and,
crucially, the Government is getting those homes delivered, which needs other interventions that a planning
system alone cannot necessarily deliver. It does need to work in conjunction with investment, land assembly
powers, delivery capacity and so on. However, as an overall framework, it is essentially saying that it is possible
to build the homes that we need in London.

The London Plan is also very clear around affordable housing. The Mayor sets out his strategic target of 50%
affordable housing and it sets out the ways in which he sees us moving toward that level, with a combination
of those homes which are affordable gained through planning conditions where there is no public subsidy or
public grant going into the development, the 35% threshold approach, which is integrated within the London
Plan. It sets out how that planning approach to gaining affordable housing will work in conjunction with other
levers to deliver affordable housing: affordable housing investment taking the affordable housing on
developments where investment is applied above and beyond 35% to 40% and up toward 50% and so on, and
public land being put into developments at a discount to market to make sure that it can support a greater
level of affordable housing than would otherwise be the case. Affordable housing is at the centre of that
argument.

| should probably leave it there because, otherwise, | am in danger of running through all of the topics before
we get on to questions, but that was just to set out that headline for me, which is that the London Plan
identifies the overall capacity, and says, “Here is where the homes could be built, 50% affordable”; but the
other part of the discussion, which is referenced by the Plan but is a bigger and broader discussion, is around
the delivery of those numbers.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you very much. That was useful. We have follow-up questions on a lot of
those issues coming.

David Kurten AM: Thank you very much. Good morning. | have a first question to you, James. You

mentioned a 65,000 capacity and how that is a possibility, but how many homes can London realistically
deliver over the next few years, going from now up to, say, 10 years in the future?

Page 10



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): At the moment, the number
of homes delivered every year varies from year to year, but it tends to be around 30,000 homes a year or
around that level. The capacity which is set out in the London Plan is very ambitious. It is a step change. It is
not just a slight dialling-up from where we are now. It is a step change to a fundamentally higher level of
delivery, which is why we are really clear in the London Plan - and in the Housing Strategy which is aligned
with it - that going from where we are now to hitting the targets in the London Plan would require a real step
change in terms of investment, in terms of resources and powers that the GLA and councils have and in terms
of the capacity to deliver, not least the construction sector as well. It is very clear about, whilst the 65,000
capacity is identified by the London Plan, the delivery, which your question touches on, is a broader set of
questions which goes beyond just the planning consents required into the investment, delivery mechanisms
and so on.

David Kurten AM: When do you think that you will reach and hit your 65,000 target?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): We know that an increase
in the number of homes is going to require a lot of extra investment and resources. What the Mayor has set
out is how we can identify the capacity and for those homes. However, to be honest, increasing the level of
delivery also depends on a lot of external factors: how much investment we can secure from the Government;
what happens in terms of the construction sector, not least around the workforce in the construction sector,
which will be impacted by changes in our relationship with the European Union. There are a lot of other issues
which will affect our capacity to build. However, as | said, what the London Plan sets out is where these homes
could go and it sets out some of the broad parameters around what we would need to ensure their delivery.

David Kurten AM: The London Plan seems to mention that a lot of this delivery that you want will be in the
outer London boroughs and east London. Why have you selected those areas? Why do you think that you will
be able to build a larger share of London’s new housing in those areas?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): What the London Plan sets
out is a way in which every borough in London will play its part in meeting the housing targets. Being very
honest, these are ambitious targets for boroughs to meet. They are ambitious in terms of how many homes we
expect different boroughs to contribute. We need to be really clear that we want to work with boroughs to
make sure that the delivery of those homes is enabled. It will be through a combination of two main sorts of
sites, though: the large sites, the ones which historically or at least in recent years a lot more of the
development in London is concentrated on, and those smaller sites where the London Plan sets out a
framework whereby the delivery of housing on smaller sites could increase substantially. Part of the reason for
that is that smaller sites have advantages over larger sites and they tend to encourage small and medium
builders rather than relying just on a small number of large volume builders. They tend to be built up more
quickly because, once a small builder acquires a small site, if they have certainty over the planning, they just
want to get on and build it rather than sitting on it for a long time. It also means you are more likely to have
smaller developments in places in outer London, where even the market prices can be more relatively
affordable to people in London.

Really, the aim of setting out the targets across London and in every London borough and setting out the
difference between small sites and large sites is about diversifying the sorts of homes we build. At the moment
or in the last few years, we have become quite dependent on large schemes, which are done by larger
developers building at a pace which is consistent with their business model and delivering some affordable
housing as a planning gain as a result of that. What we need to do is diversify the range of homes being built
substantially and that is by getting councils and housing associations to build, but it is also about making sure

Page 11



that we are building on those smaller sites using small and medium builders as well as just relying on the large
volume homebuilders.

David Kurten AM: What | take from what you have said is that you see more building on smaller sites in
outer London. That answers part of my question.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sorry, just to be clear, in
the London Plan there are two arguments there. The first argument is that every borough in London has a
target, clearly, in the London Plan and so every borough will need to play its part in contributing to the overall
housing targets in London. Alongside that, you also have the emphasis on small sites, which can apply in outer
London but also applies in inner London. It applies across the board, that introduction of an emphasis on
smaller sites alongside the larger ones.

David Kurten AM: How about the east of London, boroughs like Newham, Barking and Dagenham,
Redbridge and so on? You seem to have higher targets in those boroughs as well. Is that correct and how do
you see that being delivered?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): All of the targets which are
identified for individual boroughs have come out of the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
(SHLAA), which identifies the capacity in boroughs across London. That is a piece of work which has been
done collaboratively between the GLA and boroughs. | will be honest: they are ambitious targets for a lot of
boroughs, but they are targets that have been developed in consultation with those boroughs involved.

David Kurten AM: My last question: you say these are all ambitious targets, but, if boroughs are struggling
to meet the targets that they have, what extra support will you be able to offer to enable them to reach the
targets and to deliver what you have set them to do?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): We want to work very
closely with boroughs around the delivery of these homes. The London Plan sets out, as | said in my
introduction, the overall framework for how these homes could be built and where the capacity is to build
them. We want to work closely with boroughs to try to enable their delivery so that when boroughs are
developing their local plans, to make sure they are delivery-focused and so that we can work with boroughs to
ensure their local plans show how these homes could be delivered.

There is also some more direct working with councils we can do in certain key areas. You mentioned some of
the boroughs in east London - Barking and Dagenham, for instance - are taking a big lead on a lot of
development in their area, getting closely involved with some of the major sites, Barking Riverside and so on.
There are ways in which boroughs can work with us around land assembly, around flexible investment and
around infrastructure including transport investment to unlock those sites and bring them forward more
quickly.

Our message is very much that, yes, we are setting ambitious targets for every borough, but at the same time
we want to work closely with boroughs and use all of our resources to support them in delivering as many of

those homes as they can.

David Kurten AM: Thank you.

Page 12



Sian Berry AM (Chair): Can we ask the boroughs what they think? Tower Hamlets, Newham and Greenwich
have the highest targets across London, much higher than some of the outer London boroughs. How are you
reacting to the instructions in the London Plan?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): In Tower
Hamlets, we are already growing faster than any other borough in London. We have almost 14,000 homes
onsite in development at the moment across the borough and another 12,000 in the planning system at
various stages. There is nothing frightening for us about this.

The issue for us is what was just said about infrastructure. We welcome growth and we want the growth to be
supported by the infrastructure. If you take something like the Lower Lea Valley, which is a housing zone at
the moment, it is a popular riverside Opportunity Area in terms of the new Plan. It is really about the little bits
of infrastructure like bridges across the river and things like that that will really open up that development area
into something that really connects up with the wider area and makes those new homes places to live rather
than just new homes. That is really what we are looking for.

In terms of the small sites, in Tower Hamlets most of what we are looking at is larger sites. We have some
small sites particularly in council ownership, council estate infill programmes and so on. Our main concern
there is around the capacity of the industry. We do struggle to find local builders who will take on those small
sites. We tend to try to package them up for the larger construction companies to deliver, but, again, they are
stretched as well. Building capacity in the local industry is very important to us and we are investing in a
training facility to that end with other east London boroughs.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you. In Havering, you have, presumably, had a bigger change in your target
and you are not as happy about that, | think?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): That is a question for local
politicians, | suppose. From an officer perspective, what | will say is that in Havering we have been very
proactive over the last 12 to 18 months and worked very closely with the GLA in delivering about £3 billion
worth of new housing over the last 12 months. We are now on a route where the council is entering into joint
venture 50/50 deadlock partnerships with those developers as well. We want to be at the forefront of
designing those schemes that are coming forward as well.

The key thing, if | can be quite honest with you, is that on a daily basis we are we are hearing stuff from our
residents saying, “I cannot get into the hospital at the moment”. If you move to Romford today, you cannot
get your children into a primary school in Romford. It is very difficult to move across the borough from a
transport perspective. It has very strong east-west connectivity but very poor north-south connectivity. When
we talk to our current population in relation to growth and seeing the increased population through additional
housing sites coming in, they quite rightly say, “That is fine, but how is that going to impact on my quality of
life if you do not put the essential infrastructure alongside it when you develop areas”.

That, to me, is the real challenge. | know we are talking specifically about housing. | tend not to think of it
like that. |tend to think about total regeneration and all of the infrastructure you need to build good growth
in what we do going forward. That, to me, is the real challenge that we face when we deal with our members
on a day-to-day basis and when we try to communicate that message to our public. If you live in the south of
the borough, say in Rainham, it can take you two and a half hours to get to work if you work in Romford, and
that is six miles away. | am just trying to put that into context for you.

Page 13



Sian Berry AM (Chair): That is by public transport?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): By public transport. It is
extremely difficult. It does not have the infrastructure.

| always think it is a strong argument if the infrastructure needs are there and put on the table at the same
time. The local population accepts it a lot more. The numbers, in a way, then become a little bit of an
irrelevance. | am saying that from an officer perspective. It is really about making sure that the infrastructure
is fit for purpose as we move forward.

Disappointingly for us as a borough, when the Mayor’s Transport Strategy came out for consultation, we spent
a lot of time feeding back into that process, talking about north-south connectivity, talking about how that
could open up maybe more sites for development, looking at key transport nodes like Gallows Corner. | do not
know if you are familiar with these areas, but they are hotspots at the bottom of the A12 and something
fundamental around a ring road. Disappointingly, Havering seems to have been forgotten as part of that plan
and was not mentioned. We made our views very clear at that time. From a senior officer perspective, it
makes it very difficult for me to convince our local population and our members that it is the right thing to do
when we do not get any recognition in relation to the consultation.

In summary, it is about being more holistic. The A City for All Londoners Strategy is a good strategy. It talks
primarily about infrastructure. We need to see that happen and work alongside the phasing of regeneration as
it moves forward.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you. That is really interesting. Nicky, you have a question?

Nicky Gavron AM: Yes, it was just for James. | just wondered, James. Are the 270,000 planning permissions
which are not yet built, if that is still the figure, part of the targets? Does the 65,000 or 66,000 a year include
those?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The sites on which those
270,000 consents exist would have been taken into consideration as part of the SHLAA process to identify the
capacity for 65,000. The sites where there may be planning permission, but homes are not yet built, those
sites which showed up in that stat of 270,000, were also inputted into the SHLAA process to come up with the
65,000. Broadly, yes, but | am trying to answer --

Nicky Gavron AM: The answer is yes?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | was just trying to answer
quite carefully because, basically, it is the same source of sites. Some of the sites which are identified as part
of the 270,000 consents which are not yet built will be some of those sites which are included in the SHLAA,
not all of them because there will be other sites and other sources of land which go into the SHLAA, but they
do feed into it. It is not double counting, as it were. The 270,000 are not in addition to the 65,000 a year.
Nicky Gavron AM: No, they are part of it?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes.

Nicky Gavron AM: Tower Hamlets’ targets, then, include the as yet unbuilt permissions, and Havering’s?

Page 14



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The 65,000 homes a year
could comprise a combination of homes which already have permission but are not built or homes which do not
have permission at all.

Nicky Gavron AM: Of course. | understand that. You can confirm that, can you, Tower Hamlets and
Havering, that your targets per year include sites which have permission but are not yet built?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Correct.

Nicky Gavron AM: OK. That is useful. It is interesting to know. Are there any mechanisms in the London
Plan to speed up that planning permission to be built? They are already in the can.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes. One of the important
things in the London Plan is around the threshold approach to viability and to affordable housing. That
threshold approach gives an incentive to build out permissions quickly and to implement them within two
years. If you get the fast-track approach through the London Plan with the 35% or 50% on public land, you
benefit from the fast-track approach only if that permission is implemented within two years. There is an
incentive there to make sure that anything which gets consent on that basis then is implemented quickly.
Otherwise you trigger an early-stage review and a viability analysis and so the benefits of the fast-track really
fall away. In terms of new consents given under the Mayor’s approach to viability, there is an emphasis about
implementation. In terms of the bigger question around --

Nicky Gavron AM: Sorry, | just wonder. That will only be for new permissions, will it not, not for these older
ones?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes, exactly.
Nicky Gavron AM: Sorry, it is not quite answering my question.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No, it was just adding to
the --

Nicky Gavron AM: You were adding another layer, but it will not incentivise those already built, those
already --

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is correct, yes. It
would only apply to new permissions.

In terms of the 270,000, this was an issue which the Mayor raised directly with the Chancellor last year.
Although the Mayor felt that the budget in November [2017] fell far short of what he would expect in terms of
support for housing, one door which he welcomed being opened was around this investigation which

[Sir] Oliver Letwin was commissioned to do and which is now underway, which is about looking at why there
are so many consents which are not implemented. The Mayor has views on this which we want to make sure
are fed into the review, things around the infrastructure needed to bring forward development in London,
linking up with Steve’s [Moore] point that he just made, and also around the need for investment in London
given that a lot of the development is high density and so on.

Page 15



The way that we tackle those 270,000 is by a broader conversation around the barriers to delivery, which
comes to my central point around how you can have the capacity on the one hand, given the planning
consents is essential, but what we really need to focus a lot of our energy and effort on is delivery and the
investments and mechanisms needed to get those permissions implemented.

Nicky Gavron AM: Thank you.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Assembly Member Cooper?

Leonie Cooper AM: Yes, | come back to the point about delivery and the points that Steve [Moore] was
making. | know Havering very well and I tried once to get to Rainham and back by public transport and
thereafter always drove. The connectivity and the wider issues relating to housing within the Plan are
absolutely critical. Jules [Pipe CBE, Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills] at the Environment
Committee was talking about ‘good growth”. | do not see how plonking housing down where there is
insufficient infrastructure to surround it, including and especially making sure that there are very well served
public transport opportunities with bus routes and bus lanes to get people out of their individual vehicles,
because one of the problems, therefore, is that people in Havering take the choice that | did, and then of
course you end up with massive congestion and people cannot get in and out of Rainham, which is very
beautiful. | want to commend anyone to go and visit Rainham Marshes if you have not yet done so. However,
it is really impossible for people living there. The distance from Rainham to Romford is incredibly small and it
sounds like a complete mistake for us to try to impose higher targets because that is how it will be seen.

My questions are: how are we going to carry the borough with us in terms of the politicians, and also and more
particularly how are we going to carry local people and how are we fitting these targets together with the
concept of good growth, which is that it is not just housing but that all of that connectivity is happening at the
same time?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The question you raise
about how we bring Londoners with us as we are building a lot more housing is really essential to what we are
doing in the London Plan more broadly. There is not a definitive list of what we need to do, but | would say
three things jump out to me as being important.

The first is making sure that we have a decent level of affordable housing. That means that people will see a
development and will see the disruption and so on that might go with it, but they will see the benefits of it in
terms of genuinely affordable housing to benefit local people. That is an important part to have as any
development.

The design is really important, particularly if we are building at higher densities than have historically been the
case. People want to see it being well designed and safe and so on in terms of how those are planned.

The third is, as you say, infrastructure. People want the reassurance that the infrastructure is there.
There is a Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF), which the Government set out last July [2017]. The team here
worked over the summer to get those bids in for the large forward-funding bids. There are also smaller ones,

the Marginal Viability Fund --

Leonie Cooper AM: Do we know the outcome of the bids yet? The last time | asked this question we did
not.

Page 16



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No. They are all in with the
Government and --

Leonie Cooper AM: We are still waiting?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): -- we are waiting to see
what the feedback there is. From our point of view, we want answers as quickly as possible because that helps
us get on with delivery, but also there is quite a tight timescale around the spending of that money.

Leonie Cooper AM: Yes. The sooner we know, the longer we might have to get on with spending it, if we
are given an allocation.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If we get that certainty
quickly, then we can say in certain areas, “This infrastructure is coming in the next two years”, or whatever the
timescale is, “and therefore you have certainty to get on and build in that location”. A really important part for
us is getting that HIF funding to come through and also to bid on any further money that comes through.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Just two things | would
add. There has been a lot made of Crossrail 2 and everyone is excited about Crossrail 2 coming through
London, especially our part of London. We are very fortunate. We are picking up three Crossrail stations,
which is really positive for the borough --

Leonie Cooper AM: It is still east-west, though.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): -- but it is east-west again
and that is what | was going to say. It is not north-south. The point | would make is that significant
investment in north-south connectivity can open up more development opportunities for good growth rather
than just trying to use the sites we currently have at the moment. That is an important one to get across. Any
investment through the HIF or whatever would be very much welcomed.

| suppose the other thing from my point of view is that we have had one or two examples of poor design within
the borough historically. What poor design does to local authorities is it increases demand on the public purse
locally. It can increase levels of antisocial behaviour and increase demand for more public spaces, all of these
opportunities, or there could be a lack of adult assisted living accommodation or children’s residential
accommodation, all of these things, when social care budgets are coming under significant pressure at the
moment. If we do not get the regeneration right, it is going to increase the pressure on the public purse
locally.

Certainly, from a Havering point of view, what we are trying to do is we are trying to see regeneration as an
opportunity where we can manage down demand. The only way you can manage down demand is if you have
the whole good growth agenda at the heart of what you do. It has to have the infrastructure. It has to have
the public realm. It has to have healthy places. It has to have connectivity. All of those things that | - and |
am sure everyone around the table - aspire to have when we decide where it is we are going to live. It is the
basic needs. We have to be extremely careful because, if we get it wrong, it is going to be a long time wrong.

Leonie Cooper AM: Thank you.

Page 17



Sian Berry AM (Chair): James?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sorry to add, but can |
make one more point, just drawing out one element of that into a slightly broader conversation? It is worth
just remembering that one of the key reasons why London’s population has been increasing is because jobs
have been created successfully in the last couple of decades. Jobs have gone up, people have moved to
London to work in those jobs and housing has failed to keep up. That is really the core of the crisis. Because
you have people in London to work in those jobs, that does not mean that the people are not here; they are
just living in overcrowding or they are travelling long distances or they are not able to move into a home which
is suitable for their family or whatever the impact of that might be. Building housing is in part around meeting
the existing need which is in London but currently means that people are not living in appropriate housing.
There is already, to a degree, some of the people living here using transport links and so on just not living in
the right sort of homes for them. Some of the building of housing is about building new homes to meet that
need and then, when you build that new housing, you get Community Infrastructure Levy, you get section 106
and you get all the extra investment from that development, which can then go into supporting further
infrastructure. | suppose it is not quite as binary maybe in terms of there being new development which is
needed and then people coming to live in those homes. People are living in London already. We need to
make sure that we have homes which are suitable for everyone’s needs.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Sorry, before we move on to Assembly Member Copley, in terms of the Housing
Strategy, which the Havering team criticised, you have been feeding into that about where there might be
failings in terms of how the planned infrastructure and the planning around the Housing Strategy will help you
deliver new homes. That is something you have been liaising with the other Deputy Mayors about,
presumably.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): About the Housing
Strategy?

Sian Berry AM (Chair): About the Transport Strategy. This seems to be really key to getting the Housing
Strategy right.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): In terms of the Transport
Strategy, the Deputy Mayor for Transport and |, and our teams, are closely liaising about it constantly and are
always working out what transport investment is needed for housing. It does not mean we are always going to
be able to give everyone the answer that they want, but you can rest assured that we are in constant routine
conversation about it.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you. Assembly Member Copley?

Nicky Gavron AM: Can | just --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Sorry, Tom has been waiting for ages, Assembly Member Gavron.

Nicky Gavron AM: Apologies.

Tom Copley AM: It is OK. It is a technical question, really, to do with housing need versus housing demand.

The SHMA is an assessment of need, correct, but need and demand are not the same things. For example, an
overseas property investor does not need a home in London, but that does generate demand for housing in

Page 18



London. How is that factored in? Of these 23,037 market sale homes that are needed to be built every year,
is it assumed that all of those will go to owner-occupiers or is it assumed that some of those will be bought by
overseas investors or domestic property speculators?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | might ask James [Clark,
Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, GLA] to come in with any further technical detail on this, but the basis of
the SHMA is on everyone who will live in London’s housing need being met.

Tom Copley AM: Yes, that is what | thought.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That would mean that there
may be latent need - as in people who are living in overcrowding now who need a home which is suitable for
their needs and population growth on the back of job growth and so on - to make sure we keep up with that.
It is about making sure that if you fulfilled the parameters of the SHMA over time, you would provide the
housing that everyone needed.

Tom Copley AM: The people who might end up, in the case of market-sale housing, owning those homes are
not necessarily the people who need them. They might be renting them out, but that is generating extra
demand, is it not?

Nicky Gavron AM: It is a new market.

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): For precisely this
reason, within the market category, the SHMA does not distinguish between owner-occupation and private
renting because, as your question indicates, it is not possible. The planning system is not able to regulate for
that or put occupancy criteria in or whatever. The assumption is that, on market sale homes that are
subsequently bought by investors, all the evidence suggests that the vast majority of those are then rented out
to Londoners. There is a separate debate about whether that is the best outcome or not, but from the
perspective of meeting people’s housing needs, the SHMA treats that as all within the market category, if that
makes sense. In the past we have been asked if the SHMA can try to distinguish between the need for private
rented housing and the need for owner-occupation housing, but it is just not possible because it is not
something we can regulate through policy.

Tom Copley AM: | appreciate that that is difficult, but | guess | am not making my point that well. There is
an argument that there is an almost infinite demand for London property out there and, if you build market
sale, you could build market sale and you could move up and up and up, and you still would not address the
affordability side when it comes to market sale because you just keep sucking in demand from overseas. Is
there anything in the Plan or anything in the Housing Strategy that takes that into account?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | suppose, in a way, if we
step back a second, you said that there is this endless demand for London property. Actually, you could look
at it another way. At the moment, we are building 30,000-odd homes a year and, if you compare what we are
building and the breakdown of affordability within that versus what we would need, you could say we are
building most of the market homes we need. What we really need is a lot more affordable housing. Therefore,
in terms of the actual demand in London, the unmet demand - and therefore where you could build most
rapidly at pace - is affordable housing. If you look at it from the other angle, it shows the demand is strongest
for affordable housing.

Page 19



Tom Copley AM: Absolutely, hence why 65% government...
Nicky Gavron AM: We all know that.

Tom Copley AM: We know that. | am just thought it was interesting about this difference between demand
and need on the market side of the equation.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is what the SHMA
says. It is not just that we know it. It is that the SHMA actually says that. If you wanted to increase housing
supply overall to the levels which are set out through the SHMA and are broadly met with the London Plan,
you need an emphasis on new affordable housing because that is where the demand is to absorb those new
homes into the system.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you.
Nicky Gavron AM: Can | very quickly --
Leonie Cooper AM: Andrew was waiting.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Andrew has been waiting for a very long time and | just wanted to clarify what Tom
just said as well.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Nicky wants to come in on that.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Fair enough. Nicky, do you want to --

Nicky Gavron AM: It is a real quickie. In Havering, do you have strategic areas of community regeneration?
You do?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Yes, we do.

Nicky Gavron AM: We are very keen to make sure - this is about how you can get communities to accept
what is going on - to include much earlier community engagement in planning. The Mayor has a policy in the
London Plan to resource that in areas of opportunity, but he does not have a similar policy in areas for
strategic regeneration which are not in areas of opportunity. It seems to us these are some of the most
stressed areas in the country and it seems rather important that it is not just left to boroughs to get that early
involvement. | wondered if you had a view on this.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Chair, if | may, early
consultation and engagement with communities on any big development is absolutely critical.

Nicky Gavron AM: Not just a voice but a role.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): And a role. Any developer
worth their salt will tell you that they will put in a lot of time and effort with the local authority to engage the
current community on any redevelopment opportunity because the most important thing is to understand what
the local people who are currently there want and need. For example, | mentioned the lack of primary school
provision within Romford at the moment. If you spoke to the current population in Romford, they would tell

Page 20



you, “We need more primary schools”. Again, if that is something that is needed locally, that is a good way to
get local people involved so that there is something out of it for them as part of the regeneration. That is very
important. If you do not engage the local community very early in shaping what you are going to do, it makes
it far more difficult. That in itself slows up the process and that then becomes a block as people challenge.
Early engagement is critical.

Nicky Gavron AM: The question is really not just talking about developers getting involved. It is when you
are doing an area of regeneration and you are looking at the acceptance and you are looking at all the
different services and the stress on those services. These are people who do not normally have a voice
because, in an area of regeneration, you can tell. A lot of people will not have much time; they will not have
normally been involved. You need resources to involve them. Is that done? That is not what communities are
telling us. | do not know about Havering.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): If it is a large-scale
development that is subject to a masterplan exercise --

Nicky Gavron AM: We are talking about an area, yes.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): -- yes, a masterplan
exercise that would be carried out like in Beam Park or something like that, there is an awful lot of public
engagement because it is large-scale. | suppose the flipside to that would be, if you fragmented that down
using lots and lots of different small sites, you could argue that you might lose the effectiveness of how you
then engage the local community on very small-scale site development coming forward. | suppose that is a
challenge to look out for in relation to the small-sites proposals.

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
Certainly, as far as some of the work we have done down in Rainham with the London Riverside area, that
involved quite a lot of community engagement through the preparation of Our Rainham and the Rainham
development framework and masterplan. There were a number of sessions with the community based in
Romford to polish that and get it accepted.

Nicky Gavron AM: Thank you.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): There was a good discussion yesterday at the Planning Committee about public
engagement around the density and the form of new developments. That is useful to watch for anyone who
has not seen it already.

Can | just clear up the point that Tom [Copley AM] was trying to make? The SHMA sets out the need from
Londoners for housing each year and it does not take into account the demand for housing from overseas. If
we are delivering homes to these targets, every single one that gets bought by somebody who is not intending
to live in it, who is not a Londoner, who is part of the SHMA assessment, is knocked off the total.

Tom Copley AM: Unmet need?

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes.

Tom Copley AM: Thank you. That is exactly the point | was trying to make. Thank you, Chair.

Page 21



Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. That is correct and that is the essence of the “first dibs” promises that the
Mayor made. | just wanted to ask. Is there anything that has made it through into the London Plan? |
appreciate it is difficult to deal with that problem of ‘first dibs” and the fact that that is not meeting the SHMA
need if those homes go to overseas investors.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If a market home identified
within the SHMA target were to be bought by an investor - a United Kingdom (UK) investor, an overseas
investor, whoever - but was rented out at a private rate to a Londoner, that would be seen to be meeting a
Londoner’s housing need. It is not about owner-occupation versus renting. It is not about --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): It is about the ones that are not occupied. That is the issue, is it not?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Exactly, but it is important
to separate them out because some of the research we did last year showed that in certain areas there seemed
to be spikes in homes which appeared to be left empty, but across the board the level of permanent emptiness
is low. Most homes bought by overseas buyers numerically - and | appreciate there may be particular hotspots
where they get attention but across the board - most homes are rented out if they are bought. It is important
to separate that out because they are two different issues. It is not about ownership; it is about the use of that
home. If the home is built as a market home and bought by an investor - whether domestic or international -
and then rented out, that is seen as meeting a housing need of a Londoner because there is someone who is
living in the rented house. The separate --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): It meets the target in the SHMA, but the question then is the affordability. That is a
separate question.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes, exactly. You could
technically meet someone’s housing need even if it were -- you might want it to be at a more affordable rate.
Do you see what | mean?

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): You can have private rents
being above where you would like rents to be, but technically someone is housed in that home.

The separate question is around emptiness, which is a very specific subset of investor properties, which is
associated with overseas. Not exclusively, but it is more typically associated with overseas buyers. There is a
hook in the London Plan that supports boroughs to develop local responses to that. One of the reasons for
that is because the evidence base at this stage shows that whilst it is not a London-wide problem, there are
particular areas where it may be more of a problem. The London Plan offers a hook for boroughs to develop
tailored responses in those local areas rather than apply a London-wide blanket policy to everywhere in
London. We do not have that evidence base to do that policy.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Those local responses might be, say, planning conditions that there must be lease
conditions imposed that they are occupied and that sort of thing.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If you could get the local
authority to develop that, yes.

Page 22



Sian Berry AM (Chair): Assembly Member Boff, a question?

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | do not know what the difference is between foreign investment and
investment, really. It all sounds rather xenophobic when we only pick on foreign investors, but that is an aside.

Tom Copley AM: By ‘foreign’, | just mean outside of London, Andrew.
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Outside the M25?
Leonie Cooper AM: Outside Lewisham, probably!

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Can | just ask Mr Moore or the Havering team: is there anything in the
London Plan that supports your ambition to get better north-south transport within Havering?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): As | said earlier on, Chair, |
can only refer to the recent draft Transport Strategy, which, disappointingly, did not pick up on the
conversations we have had with colleagues and was quite silent in relation to the transport infrastructure.
Based on that, we have continued conversations with Transport for London (TfL) to try to understand exactly
what the opportunities may be going forward. To be fair, there is an element of feasibility work that is being
carried out at the moment. Is that being funded through the Local Implementation Plan (LIP)?

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering): We
are using some LIP funding to part-fund feasibility work. That work is due to come to an initial conclusion
next month and we will then hope to discuss that with the Mayor and his colleagues.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): We would like to really
present that forward because we do believe that that is the correct way to go to make sure the transport
infrastructure is there first.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): This is something that you have identified in your Local Plans, however,
is it?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): It is. Our Local Plan is due
for submission shortly.

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
The Local Plan is due for submission next month [February 2018], and it highlights in particular the need for
major improvements in public transport infrastructure investment and the north-south connectivity issue very
strongly.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): In dealing with the London Plan, it has been quite difficult for us as a
Housing Committee and a Planning Committee to stop trampling over each other’s territories, but, as we all
know, transport is a housing issue and housing can be considered a transport issue. It is quite difficult and |
know that we are slightly going over the boundary here - and perhaps it is for the politicians to say - but do
you think it is rather unfair if the GLA and the Mayor are asking you to build to full capacity but will not offer
any of the help that you are asking for?

Page 23



Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): All | would respond to that
with, Chair, goes back to what | said at the start: good growth requires a holistic approach, whether it be
planning, housing or transportation. You cannot look at these things in isolation. You have to look at them
together.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Thank you.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): We are moving on now to questions on affordability specifically. | know there is
overlap here between funding questions and planning questions. The more we can save time by focusing on
the planning questions, the better.

What are we doing within this London Plan to effect housing that is affordable, that is not what we are
funding? There is a list of the Mayor’s preferred affordable tenures within here, which are London Affordable
Rent, which is social rent or very close to that, London Living Rent, which is defined by ward against average
incomes - it is about 30% of average wages - and London Shared Ownership, which is the shared ownership
product that we are all familiar with. Within that, though, there is still flexibility for other types of affordable
housing and the definition of “affordable” at 80% of market rent still occurs within here. It seems to me that
many private developers not being funded by you could use this Plan to argue that they can deliver housing at
80% of market rents and still call that ‘affordable’.

Have you tried to change that with the Government? | know that we have a case in London that our rents are
about double the average for England and the 80% of market rent in London does not represent affordable in
any way. Have we tried to get that definition, which | know is in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), removed for London? Has the Government refused us?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Without repeating
conversations we have had before, both here and via press release, the 80% definition, as we know, is from the
2012 NPPF. The London Plan exists within the overall NPPF and so the inclusion of a definition of “affordable
rent” in the glossary - it would be worth minuting this just so there is no future confusion about this - does not
necessarily mean an endorsement of it. It is just explaining what that means. ‘Affordable rent” is defined
nationally and so the definition in the glossary refers to that. It just is worth bearing that in mind in case that
issue comes up again. | know we have spoken about this several times.

However, what the Mayor is really clear on is what he considers to be genuinely affordable. He is upfront that,
when we are doing housing for low-cost rent, 80% of market rent is not affordable in most parts of London.
That is why he has set the London Affordable Rent - which, as you indicated, is essentially social rent-level
housing - as what should be delivered for the general needs rented part of affordable housing. In a way, he is
strengthening the hands of local boroughs because they can point to the London Plan steer on affordability
rather than having to fall in line with simply the national definition of 80%, which the Mayor believes is not
genuinely affordable in most parts of London. They can lean on his definition of “affordable” to make sure it is
genuinely so.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): | appreciate that. You say that the ‘affordable housing” definition is defined
nationally. That is true and | am not saying that we would not have to deviate from what is in the NPPF, but
we are a special case in London in terms of housing affordability. We could get permission from the
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) to deviate from that definition and define
“affordability” in terms of wages if they let us. They write the laws. They could let us do that.

Page 24



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): We have had numerous
conversations with the DCLG - now the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) -
about what status the London Plan has. The status quo is that the London Plan exists within the general
framework of the NPPF and so the “affordable rent” definition still exists as a national definition. Within the
London Plan, it is very clear for that low-cost rented housing that the Mayor expects it to be at London
Affordable Rent, which is social-rent, based benchmarks or below. The Mayor has given as strong a steer as
possible within the national framework that what he expects to see for genuinely affordable homes for
low-cost rent is homes based on social rent levels.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): To try to force up the percentage of affordable housing, you are using this threshold
approach where, if you can get to 35%, as a developer, you gain some benefits in terms of not having to
disclose all your viability and all of that and these different constraints. Can a developer point to homes it is
planning to deliver at 80% of market rent and say that that counts towards that 35% threshold? | cannot find
anything in this London Plan - and planning policies have to be written really carefully - that constrains them
to the definitions that are preferred by the Mayor.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The 35% threshold
approach there will be one here. It sets out what the expectations are if you are going to go down the 35%
route. That is that the tenure mix within that 35% should meet what is set out in the London Plan. Itisin
Policy H6(C)(2). Let me just find the exact part here. In order to go down the threshold route, the
applications must “be consistent with the relevant tenure split” in H7. It is not the case that an applicant could
come forward with, let us say, 35% affordable housing that was not considered genuinely affordable and just
go through the fast-track route because, in order to benefit from the fast-track route, as H6(C)(2) sets out,
the mix of affordable housing within that 35% has to be consistent with the relevant tenure split.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): H7(A)(3) leaves 40% of that tenure split:

“... to be determined by the relevant borough based on identified need, provided they are consistent
with the definition of affordable housing.”

That seems to me to open up the door to developers pointing at things that are 80% of market rate. These
people have very clever lawyers. This seems to me a way of getting out of it.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is consistent with the
definition of “affordable housing” --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): In the glossary?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): -- that the Mayor sets out
in the London Plan.

Tom Copley AM: It should say that, yes.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Then it needs to say that.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If you look at 4.7.2,

Page 25



“There is a presumption that the 40% to be decided by the borough will focus on social rent/London
Affordable Rent given the level of need ...”

Sian Berry AM (Chair): “However, it is ... a broader mix”, maybe?

Tom Copley AM: It is not in a box. As Assembly Member Gavron often says, if it is not in a box --
Nicky Gavron AM: [t does not count. Also, if it says “should”, it is very weak. It should say “must”.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, it should say “must”.

Nicky Gavron AM: And it should be in a box.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | asked the Mayor - in fact, | asked you - a long time ago: when the
Mayor talks about his targets, is he talking about his definition of ‘affordable” or the Government’s definition
of “affordable’? | was told it was his definition of “affordable’. His 50% target was his political target based
upon what his definition of ‘affordable” was, not on what the Government’s was.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): This is a question about reporting and monitoring as well. Will you be reporting and
monitoring the achievement of the targets? You have in there the 50% to 60% affordable targets for public
land. Will you be reporting those only for things that meet the Mayor’s definition of “affordability” or will you
be counting other things, too?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): As | understand it, the
monitoring of affordable housing is being updated. We can maybe get some more detail from Darren
[Richards, Head of London Plan Team, GLA] around the exact reporting requirements about the London
Development Database. There was a Mayor’s Question which we responded to you on. Just to update you,
that is being updated in the detail in which it is recording affordable housing outputs.

The Plan is very clear in terms of what the Mayor considers to be genuinely affordable. As you set out in your
question, it sets out the London Affordable Rent or below, London Living Rent and London Shared Ownership.
Those are the three products which he considers to be affordable. That aligns with the Housing Strategy.
Whether it is funded or whether it is delivered through a planning condition, the definitions are consistent.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): You would be content for us to feed back that this definition needs tightening up to
specifically exclude things that go up to 80% of market rent?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If you have concerns about
the relationship between the London Plan and the NPPF, then feel free to write them down --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): | have, yes. Can | also ask you about gross versus net things? | am really getting
into the detail of the planning policy now.

Essentially, you have your overall targets of 35% for people following the threshold approach and that applies
to things that are above 10 units of any kind of development. Then you have your overall 50% to 60% target
looking at public land. Then you have the Estate Regeneration Policy, for which the threshold approach is
somewhat of an exception. The Estate Regeneration Policy says that all things must go through the viability-
tested route, which has full disclosure and trying to get the absolute maximum possible in quite a public way.

Page 26



Policy H10, the Estate Regeneration Policy, says, “Where there is a loss of existing social housing”, and then,
like | said before, H6, the threshold policy talks about developments above 10 homes. Is there any lower limit
to where H10 will apply? If there is a loss of affordable social housing, is that just more than 10 or is it any
loss of social housing that would go through the viability-tested route? It is just that there seems to be a bit
of a gap.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It applies to any. This
policy is not limited to the size of development. This is saying that wherever affordable housing is lost, it
should be re-provided. The Mayor will have direct jurisdiction only over applications which are above the
threshold of referable applications, but in terms of the planning policy here in the London Plan, this applies to
any loss of existing affordable housing.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): That policy later says that all such all such schemes will then go through the
viability-tested route and that would then apply to anything that demolished even one or two social homes. Is
that right?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | believe so, yes.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): That would be really useful if that is what it says.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | believe that to be the
case. | was just double-checking because we do not see the small ones, but | am pretty sure that is the case.

Nicky Gavron AM: Can you just repeat? What is it he is happy to -- sorry, James

Sian Berry AM (Chair): The viability-tested route seems to apply to every development where any social
homes are demolished, even if it is one, even if it is not an estate as such, and that would be really useful for
everyone to see.

Nicky Gavron AM: Does the discounted, sorry --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Can | finish my question about gross versus net? Where you are looking at 50% and
60% on public land, where there are homes being demolished, is that net homes? If you are demolishing 200
affordable homes and then you are building a development that has, say, 800 homes, 400 of which are

affordable, you could argue that that is 50% or you could argue that that is 25% of the net gain.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Just to be clear, when you
keep saying 50% and 60%, what are you --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): On the public land, you are aiming to get 50% and sometimes 60% if you are
putting in money as well.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No, 60% is the target we
set with strategic partners that we are funding on a flexible basis --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, that is what | mean, yes.

Page 27



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): -- but that is not public
land.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): That is anything where you are working with

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It might be because that is
a funding thing. That is basically saying that if we have a strategic partner - one of the big housing
associations, for instance - that we are funding, their programme should aim for 60% overall, irrespective of
whether it is private or public land. The 50% fast-track applies to public land sites, just to be clear on that.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Both of those targets, then, are relevant to my question because those are likely to
be sites where there are existing homes. Is that 50% or 60% net or gross that you are expecting to see?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): They might be sites where
there are existing homes, but they would not necessarily be. For instance, Holloway Prison, which is a live
case, is one which is being sold by the Ministry of Justice and we set out really clearly in a planning brief that
Islington Council did, that we were closely involved with, that we expect 50% to be what is deliverable on that
site. Certainly, if it is to benefit from the Mayor’s fast-track route, that is what it would have to achieve. That
is public land where there are no homes. There are plenty of sites coming forward, as we see with TfL sites as
well, as we see with lots of different public-sector landowners, where there are not existing homes on there.
The threshold approach and the fast-track route applies in those cases.

On the cases where you have some form of estate regeneration, where you have existing homes being
demolished and rebuilt, we are saying that the 50% threshold is not relevant there because you cannot have a
fast-track route. It has to be viability-tested. It has to maximise the amount of affordable housing delivered.
Therefore, it could be a lot more than 50% if that is viable on the scheme, but the point is that the threshold
and the fast-track route does not apply to estate regeneration.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): All right. | am thinking of a different policy here. Here we go. It is Policy H5. On
delivering affordable housing, parts A(3) and A(4) both cite a 50% target on public-sector land. They are not
to do with the viability route, they are just targets, but are they net or gross targets?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The strategic target of 50%
would apply across public-sector land but --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, it is parts A(3) and A(4) of H5.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes, this is investment
rather than planning policy because, if you look at A(3) and A(4), it says, “Affordable housing providers with
agreements with the Mayor”, and so it does get into the question of funding. | suggest we get back to you
with some detail around --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. A(4) does not mention funding. That is just a target.

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): All of the planning

measures of affordable housing are measured in net terms in the Annual Monitoring Report and that will be
published every year, if that makes sense.

Page 28



Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, but we will need to clear this up because the question of whether you are
expecting 50% gross or 50% net makes a big difference to how far you are going towards the really high
targets in the SHMA, which says that 65% of homes ought to be affordable if we are meeting London’s needs.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): | am not clear. What do you
mean by ‘gross” and ‘net’? Normally, a net figure is when you take account of demolitions, replace demolitions
and have a net increase.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, that is what | mean.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): It would always be a net
figure. If on that piece of public land there were existing dwellings and they were demolished, to get a net
uplift they would have to take account of the demolished dwellings and replace them.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): In terms of the number of homes, but is the affordable split — is that the split in net
homes or the split in what you end up with gross? It is about the affordability split within that. That is the
question.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): The policy applies to
planning applications and so it would be the number of homes that are being replaced in the application, which
we would expect to take account of the demolition of homes. The 50% would be 50% of the total number of
homes in the planning application. This is a policy for a planning application. If the planning application was
proposing 100 homes, we would expect 50% of those to be affordable.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): All right. If there are, say, like my example, 200 homes, there would then be a 25%
net gain in affordable homes to contribute towards the SHMA.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): No, because they are social
homes and --

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): This is tricky, but it is
important to emphasise --

Nicky Gavron AM: It has always been, if you replace a home, you do not count it.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you, Nicky. That makes it very clear.
Nicky Gavron AM: It has always been that way.

Leonie Cooper AM: Can we use a specific example to illustrate this? Can | use the example of the High Path
Estate, where there are 500 homes? The original plan put in by one of the precursor organisations that has
now become Clarion was to build 1,000 homes and, essentially, it was just to replace the 500 homes that were
there and then produce another 500 homes, almost all - if not all - for sale. They have now extended that to
1,800 homes, but there are still going to be only 500 homes that will be replacing the original social-rented
homes. | do not see that as a net gain at all because all the other properties are going to be sold off to people
who will buy them. They might then be using the money that they get from those sales to cross-subsidise to
other sites; Ravensbury and Eastfields, as it so happens, but the detail is unimportant. The question that we
are trying to get to is: where are we going to see that gain? On sites like that, we will not.

Page 29



Nicky Gavron AM: We have an answer. Planning figures and monitoring on planning permissions and on
completions has always been net. It includes conversions, though, if you create more households. The DCLG
figures have usually been gross.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): In that example you were
using, they would go through the viability-tested route and so we would be scrutinising them about why they
could not provide affordable housing in addition to replacing the existing affordable.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If | am understanding the
different points correctly, there is one question around how things are monitored and how they are monitored
in relation to the London Plan and in terms of funding. They are slightly different in the way that they are
monitored and we can set that out in detail in writing for you, if that would be helpful.

The other point is around the 50% affordable housing on public-sector land. That does not apply to estate
regenerations because every single application for an estate regeneration would have to go through full
viability testing to make sure the affordable housing is maximised. For instance --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, and so you will get the most --
Tom Copley AM: The 50% would be at a hospital site, for example?
Leonie Cooper AM: Yes.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Then it is about monitoring because the key thing is that your viability route is
intended to get the most possible affordable homes out of the scheme, but in terms of how you report that,
are you going to report that as 50% or 25% depending on whether it is net or gross? That makes a difference
in terms of monitoring your progress towards achieving the needs that are in the SHMA.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): As | said, there are two
issues here. One is around the monitoring. As | say, because there are differences between how things are
recorded and monitored in relation to the London Plan versus funding and so on, can | suggest we set that out
really clearly in writing to you about how those are separately recorded?

The separate issue around the 50% and estate regeneration is easy to understand from the point of view of
individual applications coming forward. If you have any application coming forward for an estate regeneration,
it does not matter who the landowner is. It does not matter if that landowner has an agreement about 50% or
whatever they have. That application for that estate regeneration will go through a viability-tested route to
ensure the maximum level of affordable housing is delivered. Irrespective of all of the other points, that is
nonetheless the case.

The point that is being made by H5 is a more general point, which is that where public-sector landowners are
bringing forward public-sector land, the Mayor expects them to hit 50% across their portfolios. There is
provision within the threshold approach whereby, if it is 50% across the portfolio, some of these sites could
deliver, for instance, 35% and still benefit from the fast-track route if other ones in the portfolio are, let us say,
100% so that they make up 50% overall. That will allow people some flexibility within their overall
programmes.

Page 30



However, even if you have a public-sector landowner who had that agreement with the Mayor and then that
public-sector landowner brought forward an estate regeneration, that estate regeneration would have to be
viability-tested.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): The important thing is that we see all the numbers and we can examine those for
ourselves.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes. The really important
guarantee for people more generally is this guarantee around estate regeneration and around making sure that
all of the applications are viability-tested. If a public-sector landowner - it would be a council in the example
we are talking about - had an agreement with the Mayor about 50% across the portfolio and if it brought
forward an estate regeneration, that would then be viability-tested. That would not be subject to any
threshold or fast-track because the fast-track and threshold do not apply.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. That is good. Thank you very much. Assembly Member Copley now has more
questions about the threshold approach.

Tom Copley AM: | did have another question on the split, sorry.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Go for it, yes.

Tom Copley AM: | was just wondering because previously the London Plan set out originally 70:30 and then
60:40 social or low-cost rent to intermediate. Why are you being less prescriptive now with the boroughs?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): There are two important
points to make here. Firstly, if you start from the SHMA, the needs assessment, it does show the need for
affordable housing and also, within that, the need is primarily for low-cost rented housing. When we are doing
the targets in the Plan, that has to take into consideration the deliverability, available funding and so on. The
funding deal that we secured with the Government for the current time period up to 2020/21 is weighted in
favour of low-cost home ownership because that is the deal that we have managed to strike with the
Government given their priorities and accommodating ours as far as possible. Therefore, the leaning in terms
of funding is toward more low-cost home ownership.

Part of the reason for allowing some flexibility within the London Plan threshold approach is so that individual
boroughs can have a bit of flexibility within the 35%. It is a combination of having a clear central steer around
the 35% - or 50% on public land - being important for the fast-track approach, but giving boroughs some
flexibility around the exact tenures within that, which they can make a decision on based on local needs, local
preferences, viability and so on.

The fall-back position is that, if the local borough does not have a particular view on what that 40% should be,
the presumption is toward social rent and London Affordable Rent. That is where we think things should go.

Tom Copley AM: The previous Mayor’s housing deal with the Government was weighted in favour of
low-cost home ownership as well and they still went with the 60:40 split.

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): What James is saying is
that the current Government’s weighting is not towards low-cost rent. It is towards low-cost home ownership.

Page 31



Tom Copley AM: Yes, but, sorry, | cannot remember. Was the previous deal on affordable housing between
the Government and the last Mayor weighted towards --

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Overall, it was still
weighted. It was a legacy of the real push for social rent and then affordable rent under the previous Labour
Government and the beginning of the Coalition Government.

Tom Copley AM: On this, it says in the supporting text at 4.7.2, “There is a presumption that the 40% to be
decided by the borough will focus on social rent”, but could that be included in the actual policy itself so that
it has some weight?

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): | can take that point
back and we can get back to you on the reason why it is in the supporting text rather than in a box.

Tom Copley AM: Yes, that would be really useful to know because, if that is the presumption, then | guess it
ought to be in the policy.

Anyway, | will move on to my question, which is on the threshold approach. It is still early days, but do you
think the threshold approach is working and what evidence do you have either way?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Do | think it is working?
Yes. | have one interesting anecdote just to start off my explanation. Even before we had published the draft
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), we were hearing anecdotally that developers were putting in bids for
land on the basis of delivering 35% affordable housing and so they had already priced that into their bids for
land. That meant that the discussions or arguments further downstream around affordable housing were going
to be reduced substantially because they had already factored that in when they were buying the land upfront.
Really, one of the key aims of the threshold approach is to increase the level of affordable housing and to do it
in a way that shifts the cost of affordable housing on to land values so that we do not have the situation
whereby what we have inherited is land values going up and up because very weak requirements around
affordable housing meant that developers were effectively overpaying for land and then coming back and
arguing through viability for very low levels of affordable housing. It was a circular argument to very few
people’s benefit.

We said that this cannot go on and we want to make sure that people have a clear steer on affordable housing
so that when the land is being bought people expect to deliver a minimum level of affordable housing. The
feedback from the development industry generally is that they welcome it because it gives them some clarity
so that when they are bidding for land they know on what basis they can do that. They like the certainty.
They like the fact that it is less risky. They like the fact that they can then, potentially, have a more
straightforward conversation with local planning authorities rather than confrontation from the beginning.

In terms of boroughs, many boroughs are supportive of our policy. Some people argue should be a little bit
lower, some argue it should be a bit higher, but everyone acknowledges that this is a much better position than
we inherited.

Tom Copley AM: Within the 35%, without wanting to just go back to tenure split, do you have any evidence

as to whether developers are going with the desired tenure split in the new draft London Plan or are we in the

situation where they are getting up to 35% by just putting in a load of shared ownership and then ignoring the
low-cost rent side?

Page 32



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): In terms of the applications
which are referable to the Mayor, we have been very clear that that we do not in normal circumstances accept
a 35% fast-track approach if it is mono-tenure. There may be certain cases where we would look at the
specifics of the situation and it might be a different conclusion, but the starting point is always that it should
be a mix. You should have rented housing as well as low-cost home ownership and that should always be the
presumption.

That is largely what we are seeing. People are following a tenure split and they look to the local borough to
see what the tenure split is that the local borough is likely to support. We see slightly different weightings
depending what the borough’s local preferences are in terms of rent versus low-cost home ownership, but we
are seeing developers coming forward with 35% routinely and, when they do so, they are having a mix of
rented and low-cost home ownership.

Tom Copley AM: Are you planning at some point doing any quantitative work so that we can say for sure?
You have spoken anecdotally about the applications coming through. Do you intend at some point to do some
work to look overall to see if there has been an increase and if it is working?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes.

Tom Copley AM: Excellent. Do you know when would be a sensible period to --

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | can get back to you on
exactly when might make sense, yes.

Tom Copley AM: Creat.
Nicky Gavron AM: Can we ask Tower Hamlets?

Tom Copley AM: Yes, | was going to bring the boroughs in, Nicky. | was interested in Tower Hamlets and
then Havering. What is your view on this?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Our view
would be that we support the threshold approach. It is still quite early days to demonstrate what it is achieving
and so | cannot give you numbers on what we have achieved through that approach to date.

Tom Copley AM: It is too early to say?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Yes. We
support it. We think it will work. We do not have the evidence to prove it at this point.

Tom Copley AM: Thank you.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Chair, from a Havering
perspective, we welcome it. We need to be more consistent on how this is applied. There is a level of
inconsistency. We are still seeing a number of developers overpaying for land and coming forward with weak
arguments like, “Maybe | cannot deliver any affordable”, or 5% or 10% or 11%. Even our own internal viability
assessments sometimes are questionable. The skills to carry out these things and the capacity to carry out the

Page 33



viability assessments is an issue. Of course, it holds up development as well, which everyone is trying to see
happen as well. If there was a more consistent approach taken across London so that all developers knew
exactly how they would be measured from a viability point of view, it would be very helpful.

Tom Copley AM: Have you sought any advice from the Mayor’s ---

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): We have. We have worked
very closely with the GLA and James’s [Murray] team in relation to trying to get that support to make sure we
can increase our ability to push back with some of the developers who are coming forward with substandard
levels of affordable housing.

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering): To
that end, we recently met with Juliemma McLoughlin, Head [Assistant Director] of Planning at the GLA. She
was explaining to us that one of the things she is doing is expanding the viability team.

Nicky Gavron AM: That is good.
Tom Copley AM: Excellent.

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
She is looking to be able to offer that as a resource to the boroughs, which picks up on Steve’s [Moore] points.
That, potentially, is a very helpful way forward.

Tom Copley AM: Good. We are pleased to hear that. Nicky, did you want to come in on this point or was it
a later one?

Nicky Gavron AM: No, sorry. It is not that point. It was the earlier point.
Tom Copley AM: Sorry. Can | just finish?
Nicky Gavron AM: It is OK. | will come in after you.

Tom Copley AM: Fine, yes. What about the extension of the 35% to other areas? It is being extended to
build-to-rent. Is there any evidence as to the impact it will have on that?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): On build-to-rent, because it
is very new, there is still an open question around the components within the 35% of build-to-rent, which
means that people do use the build-to-rent threshold sometimes - sorry, as in the 35% threshold sometimes -
because you could set a definition of what that 35% had to include, which would be so impossible to deliver
that no one would use it and so the threshold approach would not be worth having; or you could set it at a
level where the affordability was not good enough, in which case you would be missing out on too much
potential gain for Londoners as a result of the threshold. Getting the definition of the components of the
threshold is really important for the success of this measure.

When you are talking about traditional, conventional homebuilding where it is a combination of social rent and

usually shared ownership, people understand the parameters of it a little better and so people can specify what
they want. Please, Mark [Baigent], correct me if | am wrong, but Tower Hamlets says 70% at social rent levels

Page 34



and 30% can be intermediate. That sums up to 35% and you are happy that that is a decent amount of
affordable housing to get from a scheme. That will be an example where people know the parameters of it.

In build-to-rent, people do not know the parameters yet because it is still quite early on. Therefore, in the
SPG, we did not set a threshold approach for build-to-rent. We just said that it will be viability-tested with the
view being that over time we could see what was coming through on viability-tested schemes and then
possibly in the future say, “This is where things seem to be landing. This is how we could set out a threshold
approach to build-to-rent”.

What we decided to do in the draft London Plan was to set out an initial threshold approach for build-to-rent,
which is the 35% but then including homes at London Living Rent for at least 30% of those homes. That is
one way of saying, “Let us test this. Let us see how this works. Let us see if this threshold is appropriate”.
The London Plan can be updated and parts of it can be amended and so we can see if this works and if this
needs to be amended in any particular way. It will be good to get to a situation where you could have a
functioning threshold for build-to-rent, but the exact components of that threshold are still being teased out.

Tom Copley AM: Any more on that?

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): | was just going to say
that, beyond build-to-rent, Tom, it is right that the threshold is also proposed to be applied in the Plan to
student housing, retirement housing and shared living housing as well. The same goes for all of those, which
is, because it was not in the SPG, it is almost impossible to say that they have had the impact yet because they
have only just been introduced and they do not have that much weight in the system yet.

Tom Copley AM: | have some final questions on minimum space standards and permitted development and
co-living. It is not possible for the Mayor to apply minimum space standards for permitted development, but
potentially you could apply minimum space standards for new co-living developments. Is there any reason why
you do not and is that something you should consider?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): As you are right to say,
within co-living, there is more flexibility around space standards than within conventional housing. By defining
large-scale, purpose-built, shared living - or co-living for short - very precisely, it is an attempt to make sure
that any flexibility around space standards stands no chance at all of impacting conventional supply.
Conventional supplying has absolutely firm guidance around space standards and about room standards, which
is new in this London Plan. It is really very firm indeed around the space standards for conventional supply
whilst allowing flexibility in very tightly defined circumstances around co-living.

Again, with co-living, because it is quite new, it is still a question of seeing developments coming forward and
seeing what the right levels are. A lot of that feedback is at the moment being given via individual planning
applications. When an application comes to the Mayor, he will look at it and we will look at it and discuss it
with him. He will say, “These look like too much on the smaller side. That is not the right side of the slightly
grey line in terms of what the space standards should be in terms of co-living”.

In terms of what will happen in future as the sector develops more, all policy can be updated, but at the

moment it is way of allowing co-living to have a place in London’s housing supply, but for any flexibility to be
completely ringfenced so that it does not affect conventional supply in any way.

Page 35



Tom Copley AM: In terms of the Mayor, say, declining an application for a co-living scheme on the basis that
the rooms are too small, if the standards do not apply, what weight can he put on that?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): At the moment, because it
is so new, it would be very hard to pick an exact number and say, “This is the exact number right now”. By
looking at each individual application on a case-by-case basis, he can give a very clear steer that that is simply
too small and, having made an assessment of it, he does not support that level of room size.

Tom Copley AM: Sure, but if a developer then comes back and says, “We are going to do it anyway”, if the
standards do not apply or if there is not a separate set of standards that applies, is it going to be more difficult
for him to reject an application on that basis and for it to stand up?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The Mayor can reject it on
the basis that he considers the rooms to be too small. It would be up to the developer if they want to appeal
that, clearly. That would be an option open to them, but the Mayor can reject an application because he does
not consider the space standards to be adequate.

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): There is also a bigger factor
of co-living in terms of the whole offer of the whole building and what else they are offering. These are very
small developments, but they often offer other things. That is often what the Mayor looks at in terms of the
overall package that is being offered for the development rather than just the size of the room because, in
self-contained accommodation, you would expect that there is space in there for the other things you would
expect to be provided as part of self-contained accommodation. With co-living, there are things like laundries,
shared living rooms, large kitchens and those kinds of things, which all add into the assessment of whether or
not it is a suitable environment for living.

Nicky Gavron AM: | do not understand this because, with co-living, what you are sharing is the communal
space, usually. Not everyone wants a spare bedroom or something. Where are you squeezing the space
standards, then?

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): It is about the number of
people sharing the kitchen and the number of people sharing that living space and the environment they are
living in.

Nicky Gavron AM: They would have to be bigger, would they not?

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): Potentially, and that is what
the Mayor looks at in terms of referred applications. It is not just about the size of the room. It is about what
other things are being provided.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is not about smaller space standards; it is about larger ones?

Darren Richards (Head of London Plan Team, Greater London Authority): It is just difficult to have
space standards when you are talking about space standards for other uses in a building because co-living is

not just about a bedroom. It is about co-living, which you do not have in self-contained accommodation.

Nicky Gavron AM: Sure, but we would not want to see --

Page 36



James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): | will just clarify that
this policy is about non-self-contained. We had a situation before when there were lots of schemes coming in
and it was not always clear whether they were non-self-contained co-living or self-contained very small micro
flats or build-to-rent or student housing. There is quite a lot of blurring between all of those and probably
retirement housing as well. What we attempted to do in the Plan was to distinguish those very clearly and
define them to make sure that we were capturing the benefits in every case - for example, affordable housing
for co-living - and in some cases, such as micro flats, self-contained very small footprint flats, they are
effectively ruled out by the Plan because the space standards always apply to self-contained accommodation.
What we have done is to very clearly distinguish between different uses.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is partly to the point
around making sure that the flexibility is contained within this very tight definition of co-living rather than in
any way risking bleeding out into the wider supply.

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): The policy support for
co-living is quite tentative in the Plan. H18(A) says, “Large-scale purpose-built shared living ... may have a
role in meeting housing need”. Effectively, what the policy says is that, if it meets these very tight criteria,
then it may be permitted to have some flexibility on housing standards. However, as James [Murray] says, it is
very tentative at this stage because it is quite a new sector and we all want to see what it looks like.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Did you have a question, Nicky?

Nicky Gavron AM: A very quick question. It is going back to the earlier part of Tom’s question. James, you
were saying that - and | agree with this - what is good about the 35% threshold is that it gives certainty in
advance and it will impact, therefore, on the land speculation. Yesterday, in the Planning Committee, we had
an issue around land speculation because there is no maximum. There is no density matrix and there is no
ceiling on density. There was a strong feeling that this would lead to land speculation. If you are looking at a
mixed-tenure site, which you would be doing often with the threshold, then how are you going to deal with
that aspect of it?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | might bring James [Clark]
in in a second for some further detail, but it is important to recognise that although there were the guidelines
for densities in the previous London Plan, they were very often exceeded and so, in fact, there were people
already buying land on the basis of delivering at higher densities, and so --

Nicky Gavron AM: You could do something about that with this Plan, but you have not.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): What we are saying is that
every density on each individual scheme should be optimised, that good design should be integral to bringing
forward that planning application and that it must include 35% affordable housing. One of the biggest
determinants around the land value is going to be affordable housing. If you are building at high density and
you are managing to optimise the density above what you might have done under another scenario, you are
delivering more affordable housing because you are delivering 35% of whatever you are delivering. Even if you
are building at higher density with more units on it, the 35% applies to a greater number of units and so you
are getting more affordable housing out of it. The phrasing around “optimising density” is really important
because sometimes we know that it can be more expensive to build some very tall buildings in certain
circumstances. Building a different form might be a better way of making sure people can meet the

35% threshold. James, do you want to?

Page 37



James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Yes. | just distinguish
between the policy objective for affordable housing which is about maximising affordable housing and so, in
that case, it would make sense to set a minimum and let that feed into land values. Compare that with density
where the policy objective is to optimise rather than minimise or maximise, if that makes sense. This means
putting numbers in a plan and enforcing those rigidly does not make sense because that is not what the policy
objective is. In some cases, it will make sense to have high densities and, in some cases, it might make sense
to have lower densities. If you sit that alongside the point that James made around how the matrix in the
current Plan is very rarely stuck to in terms of input and applications, we not only get a lot of applications that
seem to go --

Nicky Gavron AM: Seem to go above, yes; 15% do not though.

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): -- above but also 15%
also come under the density matrix. It is clearly not being applied in a North American planning style.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is a benchmark.
James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Can | guillotine this conversation at this point because we promised not to discuss
density. The Planning Committee discussed it yesterday and it is a very big topic. We do have an interest,
though.

Can we move on to the next topic, which is the size mix of homes? Andrew is going to lead on that because
that is very much of interest to us.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Mr Murray, can you explain why the SHMA assesses more than half of
London’s need to be for one-bedroom homes?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Just to be clear in case this
comes up, the SHMA is not policy. The SHMA is an evidence base on which policies are then made. As you
rightly say, the SHMA does identify there to be a large need for one and two-bedroom homes. There are a
number of reasons around that. Changes to the underlying population and household projections. There are
assumptions made around under-occupation and also the need to accommodate concealed households. For
instance, people who might be living in overcrowding at the moment where the overcrowding is relieved via
one or two people moving out of that home and into a smaller home. For a number of different reasons, the
SHMA identifies that large need for one and two-bedroom homes.

We have to remember the starting point which is that the SHMA sets out how you would provide the housing
that everyone needs to ensure the housing needs are met ie there is no overcrowding if all of the homes are
identified in the SHMA. That might be through a combination of some larger homes, but it could be a large
number of one and two-bedroom homes as well. As | said, it is down to the reasons around the changes in the
population, assumptions around occupation and the need for smaller homes to accommodate concealed
households. Those factors mean that there is that larger numerical need identified in the SHMA for one and
two-bedroom homes but, as | say, policy is separate to the evidence base.

Page 38



Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): How reliable are the SHMA assessments given they are based on the
English Housing Survey (EHS) sample of only 2,000 in London?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The SHMA is based on a
number of different sources. James, do you want to come in about the evidence base?

James Clark (Senior Manager — Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): We generally say it is
the best estimate we can make with the available data and there is not anything else we can do about that.
You are right. The English Housing Survey is not a large a sample as we would have liked but across the whole
of London and over a reasonably long-time period, we do not only look at one year; we look at two or three
years for the EHS. It gives us a confident enough estimate. We can always have better data, but we have to
also do the assessment with the data that was available to us.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You have rightly identified that the SHMA is not a policy; it is just a piece
of evidence. Similarly, that piece of evidence is not valued to put any particular weight of value on any
particular housing need. It judges, or it does not judge at all, but the needs of, say, four students who are
occupying a larger house for a couple of years is considered exactly the same in neutral to a family of people in
over-crowding conditions. There is no value or weight put on any of that need. Is that correct?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is exactly where policy
along the Plan and in local boroughs comes in. The SHMA identifies in an analytical sense over a long-time
period, without any judgements being made on any other basis, what homes would you need to meet all of the
need over the time period. The Plan policy and then local borough policy can then add in further steers.

For instance, for the first time, the draft London Plan gives boroughs guidance around the size mix of units for
low-cost rent. In social rented homes, for instance, a borough might say they want particularly family sized
housing or whatever steer they gave. That reflects the fact that, although over the long-term, the SHMA
analysis period, you would need a particular number of one and two-beds which is set out within that SHMA, a
local borough can say there is a pressing need, for instance, for social rented homes with families; therefore,
that would be prioritised within their local plan. This draft London Plan, for the first time, enabled boroughs to
do that.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): At one previous Housing Committee, when we were considering the draft
Housing Strategy and raised concerns about the loss of the family homes target, you assured us this would be
addressed in the London Plan. It does not seem to have been addressed. It seems to have been abnegated.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The London Plan is very
clear in that this London Plan, for the first time, requires boroughs to provide guidance on the size mix of
low-cost rented homes based on local factors like overcrowding. That is what the London Plan does which
previous London Plans have not.

Neither the current draft Housing Strategy nor the previous Mayor included a separate target for family-sized
housing. Steers about family housing have only ever been given to --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): There was a target in the Housing Strategy from the previous Mayor.
Now you have no targets anywhere.

Page 39



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): There was an aspiration in
the previous Mayor’s funding guidance.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): And we saw the number of larger properties increase over his period.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The target that the previous
Mayor set was not a target. It was an aspiration for funding bids and, if you look at the detail of his funding
guidance, it said that there should be a certain number of family sized homes. They should only apply to
discounted rent homes which is only half of the affordable rent homes under the previous Mayor’s approach to
the funding guidance. It was only ever an aspiration for funding bids. It was never a separate target within the
Housing Strategy and certainly not within the London Plan.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): It had a policy. In the London Plan, can you point where the Mayor
identifies how important overcrowding is as a social problem in London?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The basis of the SHMA, the
evidence base for the housing targets is based on overcrowding being addressed.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): We go back to the original thing that it applies no value; it applies no
difference between the different needs.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is an aspiration.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): It is aspiration. As | say, four students living on Mile End Road,
overcrowded for a little while, are considered exactly the same as a family that has been brought up for their
entire young lives in overcrowded conditions. There is no value.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Let me set this out clearly
for you. The SHMA is calculated on the basis of everyone’s needs being met. Just start from that point of
view. You are right in that SHMA is analytical and it does not make those extra judgements but from an
analytical basis, the entire underpinning of the housing targets is around eliminating overcrowding. The issue
of overcrowding is absolutely in the foundations of the SHMA which is in the evidence base for the London
Plan Policy.

When you then come to the London Plan Policy itself around unit size mix, it is really important to see the
distinction between market housing and low-cost rented, social rented housing because in market housing, we
know that in practice a lot of what you might call family-size accommodation, three-bed plus, are in fact
bought by investors and then rented. They do not go to families. It is the case that two-thirds of market
homes which are family size do not have any children living there. They are lived in by individuals, couples or
adult sharers. Prioritising family-size housing or three-bed plus housing within the market sector would not
necessarily go for meeting family needs, whereas within a social-rented sector, the low-cost rented sector,
councils can have housing registers and make sure those homes do go to those people whose needs are being
targeted most directly.

If the local borough sets a target for low-cost rented housing for a particular number of three-bedroom plus
homes to be brought forward, it can then make sure they are used by families.

Page 40



Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): For your own categorisation, where in the London Plan is there a policy
related to removing overcrowding amongst those people who live in affordable housing?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is very clear that when it
says the individual boroughs can specify the size mix for low-cost rented homes, that will be based on local
factors such as the rate of overcrowding.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You do consider overcrowding to be a London-wide problem.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is a London-wide
problem, which is why it is part of the --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): If it is a London-wide problem, why does it not have a London-wide
expression?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It has a London-wide
expression in that boroughs across London are encouraged to set size mix requirements for low-cost rented
housing based on factors that would include overcrowding. Individual boroughs can see their local evidence on
what they know about their housing needs assessment within their local borough and set the appropriate size
mixes.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Are there boroughs without any overcrowding problem?
James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No, | do not think there is.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Without targets for new family housing, what incentive is there for
developers to build larger new homes? We talked about your affordability targets, the 35% earlier, which you
decide to impose London-wide. Why do you not have targets for new family housing? If you do have a target,
what is the incentive for developers to build those homes?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is for individual boroughs
who are required to set guidance around size mix for low-cost rented homes. There will be those targets for
low-cost rented homes. What we are saying is that we want those targets around the size mix, which can
include family housing, to be focused on low-cost rented homes, not on market housing which, as we know,
for the reason | just set out, quite often it can be bought by investors, let out to sharers and so on and not
helping families in need.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): How does the new London Plan promote downsizing?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The new London Plan is
setting out what homes need to build in order to meet everyone’s need and that does not assume any
downsizing within the market sector and occupation. It does not assume any downsizing there. It assumes a
degree of downsizing within the social rented sector and the private rented sector but that is separate. The
owner-occupied sector assumes no downsizing. It assumes that under occupation continues at the same rate
that currently exists.

The way that downsizing can be promoted is by providing the right kind of homes to people to downsize into.
You might well have a situation whereby, for instance, the local authority would want to encourage

Page 41



two-bedroom homes which are ringfenced for older, under occupiers to downsize into because that might be a
particularly attractive thing for people who are currently living in three or four-bedroom homes to downsize
into. It would allow boroughs the flexibility to set targets around the kind of housing that would be attractive
to downsizers.

There is also some policy within the London Plan around housing which is attractive to older people, not just
sheltered or housing to live in with care support, but also more generally housing which is attractive to older
people. The idea there is that by providing attractive housing for older people to downsize into, they might
voluntarily make that choice.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You expect older Londoners to downsize to a one-bedroom flat?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No. It is very clear that in
the SHMA, it is on the basis that people who are in --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You said that SHMA is just a technical assessment. | am talking about
the London Plan and how the London Plan has translated the SHMA into policies that matter.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The London Plan does not
have any directive around downsizing. It is around providing the homes which will then meet Londoners’
needs. That may involve some downsizing in the social rented sector or assume some downsizing in the social
rented sector and the private rented sector but not in owner occupation.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Are you just assuming that people will downsize?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): No. In the owner occupier
sector, we are assuming there will not be downsizing on the basis of the SHMA figures.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You talked earlier about some of the new housing is about meeting the
needs of existing requirements, that it is not all about demand, it is about existing requirements. How many
young people are living in overcrowded conditions in London?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes, | can tell you the
statistics around that but | do not have them.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): It is 360,000. Do you not think that is a problem that is worth
addressing by addressing the fact that there is little supply for those families to move to a more appropriate
sized property?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Where you have
overcrowded families at the moment, there can be a number of different ways in which the overcrowding is
caused. It could well be that you have a parent or two parents with young children and they need a larger
home, therefore, they might be living in a one or a two-bed and need a three or four-bed; you could have that
situation. You could also quite commonly have the situation where the children are adults themselves but still
living at home because they are unable to afford somewhere to move out into. In that situation, you might
have overcrowding, let us say, in a two-bed home and what they need, what the family needs to relieve each
individual’s overcrowding is not necessarily a three or four-bedroom home but maybe two two-bedroom homes

Page 42



or a two-bed and a one-bed or some combination along those lines because overcrowding can be caused by
adult children living at home as well as children who are still dependent.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is not the same kind of overcrowding.
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): It is completely different.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is not the same kind of overcrowding. You have already been growing up in a home
with two of you in one bedroom but if you are in a private rented flat, children sleeping with their parents --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): A bit too late.
Nicky Gavron AM: It is different.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): With respect to that, the
point | was making, and the solution is different in that if you have, let us say, a family living in a social rented
property and there are dependent young children, then the solution may well be a larger home for that family
to move into. If you have a situation where a family is living in social rented accommodation and the children
are all adults themselves, the right solution might not be for everyone to move into a larger family home but to
split into separate households, therefore, you have a larger number of smaller properties for them all to live in.
That was the point | was making.

Nicky Gavron AM: Sure. | misunderstood your point. | am sorry, James.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Of course, many communities in London, there is a requirement for larger
properties, not splitting up the family because many families support each other, intergenerational support and
they tend to live in the same home and yet, those houses are not coming forward, are they? Those
five-bedroom, those six-bedroom; | am not asking for every single development to be five or six-bedrooms, but
those five or six-bedroom developments are simply not happening.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): What you are highlighting
here is the difference that you can have across London, and local boroughs should be able to understand what
their needs are specifically in terms of the size mix of homes.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): There is no incentive, is there, Mr Murray, for people to build those
homes if it is not in the Housing Strategy and it is not in the London Plan? It means you are not going to pay
for them and you are not going to even advise them to build them.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is in the draft London
Plan. The draft London Plan says the boroughs should set requirements around the size mix of low-cost
rented homes. | do not want to put a borough on the spot, but if Tower Hamlets --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Do you not see the point?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Chair, | suggest it might be
worth asking Tower Hamlets --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): We will come to the boroughs in a moment.

Page 43



Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | am going to move on to the boroughs, yes. Do not worry. Do you not
see the point that out of three-quarters of a million words in the London Plan and there is only one reference
to overcrowded homes, developers are going to say, “It is not that important here”? | remember going up to
Manchester one time. We were on a trip about the Olympic Park many years ago, and | said to the Chief
Executive there, “What are you doing about your overcrowding in Manchester?” He said, “What
overcrowding?” This affects London more than any other area of the country and yet we have one reference
to it in the London Plan and we have a Housing Strategy that does not attach any kind of funding whatsoever
to building those very important larger homes. Do you understand the concerns of this Assembly when it sees
a London Plan and a Housing Strategy that virtually says, “It is not our problem”?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): What | cannot understand is
why my explanation to you does not seem to be clear enough because | am being very clear that, for the first
time, the draft London Plan sets out a requirement for boroughs to set out how many homes of different sizes
they want in low-cost rented housing. That is where we are able to build housing to tackle overcrowding; that
is why the London Plan has the clearest hook for boroughs to set out what their size mix requirements of new
homes and for the first time it is included in this draft London Plan. | am afraid | do not quite understand --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): There are no numbers, no targets and no real expression in the London
Plan of how important this problem is.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is there because in the
primary policy around what the mix should be of low-cost rented housing, it says boroughs should set
expectations around what their size mix requirements are. It is something which is not in previous London
Plans. It is, for the first time, saying the boroughs should give a steer about what size mix they want for
low-cost rented housing, specifically to tackle issues including overcrowding. It mentions it there in black and
white.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): What is also in black and white is that the London Plan is saying that
two-bedroom units should be taken into account when assessing the need for family homes. Do you think
Londoners living in overcrowded positions and overcrowded homes will consider a two-bedroom flat a family
home?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It depends on the need of
that individual family.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): If that is what you can meet and that is what you can justify, you say, “I
am going to build family homes and they are going to be two-bedroom flats”.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It depends what the family
needs. You cannot generalise about what a family might need. You might have a parent with one child --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You have to provide for them. You have to identify that need and you
have to cope with that need.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is what individual

buyers are able to do. You might well have a family where you have a parent with a child that may need a
two-bedroom home.

Page 44



Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Can | ask perhaps, Havering, how you consider -- | beg your pardon.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Sorry, yes. | have Tom and Leonie both waiting to ask questions. | want to open the
boroughs on this, but do you have comments which are --

Tom Copley AM: | do. First of all, as Andrew has just raised it on the two-bed family, | can sort of see what
you are trying to say but it is not coming across the way it is intended. It feels like it is almost justifying
overcrowding which | am sure is not your intention. | know that is not your intention but that is how it comes
across. | suspect most families living in two-bed accommodation potentially are overcrowded. | would hope
that wording could be taken out or revised somewhat in the subsequent Plan.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | will be making that point
again.

Tom Copley AM: Thank you, that would be great. | know the SHMA is evidence and not policy but, for
example, according to the SHMA, we need half the number of three and four-bed low-cost rented homes each
year as we do market rented homes which seems quite counterintuitive.

| take your point about not setting prescriptive size mixes for market rents on the basis that they are often
bought by investors and rented out to individuals rather than families. That does not mean, at some point in
the future, they will not be lived in by a family.

Nicky Gavron AM: Good point.

Tom Copley AM: They might be sold on, we do not know. | know the Plan period is five years but the SHMA
is over 25 years. Over those 25 years, you have much more flexibility with a three or a four-bedroom property
than you do with a one-bedroom property. Has that been taken into consideration?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The SHMA, although this is
around larger homes being bought and then rented out to sharers as one driver of the policy, it is also
significant about the underlying household projections, about the formation of smaller households over time.
It is also the need for one and two-beds is not just based on the issue which you have just discussed around
multiple sharers living in larger homes. It is also based on what the underlying households are. If you have a
household of one or two people, having them living in a home which is around the right size for their need, it
may be better than them sharing in perpetuity. You can argue both ways.

Tom Copley AM: One last point, which is specifically on low-cost rent, where you need to have some sort of
target. | know you said it was not in the Housing Strategy; it was the funding guidance. We had

David Montague [Chief Executive, London & Quadrant] to this Committee and he said very clearly to us that
their focus would be on one or two-beds. | suppose, from their point of view, that is what they will deliver.
The £60,000 grant rate is the same whether or not you are building a one-bed or a four-bed. Obviously, the
incentive for them is to build smaller units. Surely that makes it even more important for there to be a
strategic target in the Plan. Not just leaving it up to boroughs but having a strategic London-wide target
which is going to encourage housing associations to build these larger units.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): As you rightly highlighted,
yes, in the London Plan before, there has never been a target for family housing. For the first time, we are

Page 45



saying, particularly on low-cost rented housing where the size mix really matters, in terms of tackling issues like
overcrowding, we are giving a steer that we shall require boroughs to provide guidance on that for low-cost
rented homes.

Tom Copley AM: In some parts of the Plan, you are very prescriptive on boroughs and in other parts of the
Plan, it is very hands off. | am wondering almost where the logic is in something as important as this not
having a figure that the Mayor says is important.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The truth is that it will vary
from borough to borough around what their housing needs are. That is why the Plan is quite clear about
requiring boroughs to provide this guidance and we do expect boroughs to work out what their needs are of
their local population living in social rented housing and make sure that they are setting clear planning policy
around what kind of homes are needed.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): | do not know how much longer we can wait before we hear from the boroughs on
this. We can carry on arguing. However, can we get their views as soon as possible?

Nicky Gavron AM: Can | just ask a technical question?

Sian Berry AM (Chair): No. We should move on to hear from --
Leonie Cooper AM: No. | put my hand up a long time ago.
Nicky Gavron AM: Sorry, Leonie.

Leonie Cooper AM: Thank you very much. Mine is also about the mix of sizes of homes but partially coming
from the other end. Andrew [Boff AM] started with the comments about the SHMA and this assessment that
we need lots and lots of one-beds. You then said, “In the real world, we are not really assuming that, and a lot
of that need is being driven by older people who are possibly in properties that they are under occupying”. |
do have a big concern about property for people who are knocking around in places that are simply too large
for them. You just said that we do not really expect them to downsize into one-beds. If we are not expecting
them to downsize to one-beds, hopefully we are then going to completely ignore that part of the SHMA that
says that we need lots of one-beds.

My concern is also partly driven by some historical evidence. We ended up in 1989/90, just as mortgage
interest relief at source (MIRAS) was being removed by the Government, with builders all over London shoving
up thousands of blocks of flats with lots and lots of one-beds. MIRAS was then removed. There was then this
massive overhang and the Government rode in, as it has not have done for Carillion, to help all these poor
builders because most building companies are very impoverished and deserve Government assistance - not -
and invented the housing market package and then got housing associations to buy really poor-quality blocks
that contained lots and lots of one-bedroom flats. That was also because people were getting into trouble
with their mortgages because, in some cases, they had bought places that were then worth half of what they
had paid for them and all this sort of thing. We are seeing a bit of a slump in the housing market again. | am
really worried about this concept of moving towards the smaller units. | am coming at it from the other end
because | am wondering who is going to go into them because | cannot see older people, who seem to form
the largest number of the new smaller households, being interested in them.

Page 46



| have run decant schemes and tried to persuade older people to move out of three and four-bedroom places
and you cannot. They do require at least two-bedrooms and, apart from anything else, having their children or
their grandchildren or carers coming to stay, it is absolutely essential that they have another bedroom,
therefore, it becomes a home for life and you are not expecting them to move.

| am hoping that we are going to move more towards twos, threes and fours but coming at it from the other
end. Can you guarantee that is definitely what we are going to see?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Just to separate out a few
of the points there. On the point around downsizing, just to reiterate, the SHMA does not assume any
downsizing in the owner-occupied sector. A lot of that need for one and two-beds would be various factors
but, for instance, newly born households, assuming particularly the households who are owner occupying in
their medium, longer term are less likely to under occupy than existing households because of the cost of
housing. A newly formed household is more likely to buy a home with the more number of bedrooms close to
their need than they might have done a generation ago.

It also seems there may well be some households which are currently concealed, therefore, people living with
other people, but they want their own home as their own household. There were new sources of household for
those one and two-beds which does not involve any downsizing from owner occupiers.

In the social rented sector, downsizing is something where | agree, and | say this with my previous hat on, you
were much likely to be able to encourage people to downsize from a three or four-bed to a two-bed than to a
one-bed. Tom [Copley AM], when | had the previous job, you came to see a great development of two-bed
homes in a development ringfenced for five bedroom households and people were very keen to move in there
because they were well designed for older people. Everyone moving in there freed up a three- or a four-
bedroom home by building these 20-odd two-bedroom homes in this development. That is an example there
where the local borough would be encouraging the delivery of two-beds, which would free up a large number
of family-sized housing on the housing waiting list. That is quite a good example of where you can create
more availability in larger-sized family housing by building smaller housing, if it is ringfenced for two-bed
homes, for instance, for people to downsize into.

Leonie Cooper AM: It has to be really well designed. | have done the same thing and did a whole set of
decants from people into a tower block, which young families did not wish to live in, that was on the edge of
town, but converted a couple of the flats on the ground floor to being communal facilities, and then got a lot
of people who were previously under-occupying to move in. They did have the advantage of having beautiful
views of the sea from balconies, but it was really unpopular and it had been massively under-occupied. [There
was a] waiting list as soon as we said it was for people 55-plus. Reimagining some of what we are doing is
really important.

Are you really saying, then, the one-beds are going to be completely filled by people in these hidden potential
households of people in their 20s and 30s and possibly their early 40s, who have been unable to move out
from living with their parents? Is that what we are saying?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is not entirely that. It is
also new household formation over time, so people who we expect to move to London, people who are
growing up in London, people who are forming new households in London. We expect there to be a large
number of people requiring one- or two-beds over the long-time period that the SHMA analyses.

Page 47



To your other point around one-bed developments, lots of one-beds in one development, there is a policy in
H12.B: generally, schemes consisting mainly of one-bed units should be resisted. Although the SHMA has
identified that need for smaller properties, there is nonetheless a very clear steer that developments of
one-beds only should be resisted.

Leonie Cooper AM: “Mainly” one-beds. That could mean that one that has 49% one-beds could be
approved because that is not “mainly”, that is less than 50%. It is really important to restrict the number.
Most people do not want to live in a one-bedroom flat. Having lived in several one-bedroom flats myself for
many years but with very good space standards, it would be an issue for most people at whatever point they
are in their lives. Anyway, thank you.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Could | perhaps ask the boroughs about these size standards? To just
pick up one point that the Deputy Mayor said, for instance, a large family might downsize to two other
properties. How practical is that? Would you be able to make two properties available at the same time to the
same family?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): One second. Sorry, just to
correct, that is not strictly what | said.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | beg your pardon. | did not mean to --

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | said that you could well
have overcrowding in a household which is relieved by some members of that household moving into a smaller
property. You might have, for instance, in a two-bed home, a need for more than two beds, but that is
relieved by, let us say, one adult child moving out into a one-bed.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): The remainder of their family staying in the property?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes. The key point there is
it does not require the initial property to be vacated. It could just mean grown-ups moving out or household
units moving out into new ones.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | am genuinely sorry. | misunderstood. On the issue of family-sized
housing, of course, we do not know what “family-sized” is going to mean now. It could mean two-bedroom.
You may as well make it ten-bedroom, for all | care. It just seems a distortion of what a family-sized home is.
How are the boroughs going to deal with this lack of aspiration for family-sized homes?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): It is a very interesting
debate, by the way. It is quite interesting from an officer point of view, sitting there and listening there, and
understanding some of the conversations around that. Havering is an outer London borough and so a lot of
the things mentioned in the London-wide SHMA are here. Locally, our SHMA in 2016/17 identified that 80%
of our needs were three-bed-plus. That is fundamentally different than what is in the London Plan. That was
2016/17, Martyn, was it not?

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
Yes.

Page 48



Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Yes. That is very recent.
Again, inner London will have a different dynamic.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): 80%?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Yes. That is a key factor
for us in looking at need, and of course it is nigh on impossible to hit that need. We know that, so we try to
aspire to that as best we can. There is a real risk with this sometimes if we are talking about numbers. There is
a very technical discussion around numbers. | am Director of Neighbourhoods for the Council, which is
Director of Place, so the clue is sort of in the title. It is looking at people, it is looking at the wider community
and wider community needs and infrastructure. As | have mentioned today, it is just not about housing. It just
does not work. If you look at it in isolation, it is about creating the community resilience. Through our
regeneration programmes, we try to look at opportunities - whether they are young 30-something
professionals, stereotypically, or family accommodation, or people with assisted living needs - where we have
the opportunity to build that into the wider footprint of the regeneration so that people can move around and
support their needs. From a community resilience point of view, it is quite critical for us to be able to manage
down demand. That is certainly at the forefront of what we are looking to do as a local authority.

| know | have said it two or three times today, but | will say it again: this is really not about building housing.
This is about creating good, new communities which meet the needs of that population. If you look at housing
completely in isolation, then it does create challenges and can increase the cost to local authorities.

As | say, some of those statistics are probably quite surprising for you, but Havering is also --
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Actually, they do not surprise me.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): There is a flipside to that.
London is moving and the dynamics are changing. Havering has been a place, like most outer London
boroughs, that has attracted people who have moved out from inner London to outer London to more green
spaces, parks, that sort of thing, to start families and that sort of stuff. Historically, it has been a place of
settlers, where people have chosen to move to, primarily from inner parts of east London. That dynamic is
changing through welfare reform, as a lot of people, from an affordability point of view, are not choosing to
move out to Havering. They have no option but to move out to more affordable parts of London. That
chasing along that A13 corridor is going on at the moment, and with that is coming a different demand that
we need to adjust to as a local authority, and that needs to factor into our needs going forward, and we need
to get more intelligence around what that demographic change is going to bring to the needs over the next
five, 10 or 15 years. Working closely with colleagues in the GLA to understand that dynamic and that
movement is going to be important.

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
What | have been encouraged about is hearing the Deputy Mayor confirm that, provided we have our own local
evidence about what is needed in Havering, and it is up-to-date and relevant and we can support it, then we
have a reasonable amount of flexibility and latitude to make sure that our planning policies are aimed at
delivering those sorts of units for the benefit of the borough. That is encouraging, very positive.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Are you confident that you will be able to resist developers who want to
put in developments that you do not identify as your local needs?

Page 49



Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): That is a really good
question and one | have put a little question mark against here when | was asking my colleague earlier on.
Developers will play that game. They will say, “You might turn it down locally, but we will link it to the London
Plan and that will trump you”. That is something we would need to understand a bit more about where that
hierarchy does sit, because developers will normally default to the London Plan or NPPF in relation to getting
what they want to do eventually. If it is more financially viable for developers to build one-bedroom
apartments than it is family accommodation, that is something we are going to have to keep a close eye on.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Just to take that point on, we have had an admission from the Mayor in
the last Mayor’s Question Time that he would turn down developments if the room sizes were too big. Do you
see that as a problem, if Havering is coming forward and providing homes that are suitable for larger families,
and the Mayor says, “No, your room sizes are too big”? It has never been in the Plan before.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): As a general point, the
Mayor can turn down any application that does not accord with his planning policy. | am not quite sure what
you are --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): In this policy - and it was not in the previous Plan - boroughs are to
resist developments with significantly high room sizes. It does not say what “significantly” means, but it could
be room sizes --

Nicky Gavron AM: Does it say room sizes or space standards?
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Room sizes.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): This is more Planning Committee than --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Sorry. | am concerned that the Mayor is going to default to the London
Plan if we get a developer who is perhaps trying to get away with not providing the homes that Havering or
Tower Hamlets want, that the Mayor will grant them because there is nothing in the London Plan to stop him
from it as such.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sorry, what was the
question in that?

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | do not know. It was a kind of question. Do you not feel that there is
insufficient protection for the boroughs to be able to fashion local housing developments according to their
local need?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | hesitate to sound like a
broken record, but the draft London Plan, for the first time, requires boroughs to set out guidance on what
unit size mix they want to see in low-cost rented housing. In terms of their cover by the London Plan, it is
clearer and stronger than it has ever been.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): That really is debateable. Can we hear from Tower Hamlets about the
room sizes?

Page 50



Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Yes.
Certainly from a Tower Hamlets point of view, the issue of overcrowding is massive, and it is something we
monitor very carefully locally and set ourselves targets around. In terms of our waiting list, our housing
register, there are many thousands of households on that register and we know we have thousands of children
in overcrowded conditions. We want to address that, and we are addressing that. In terms of being able to set
clear targets for the social sector in terms of new developments and that sort of thing, we already do, and so
we welcome that.

In terms of the mix, if you look at our housing register, it is two-beds that we have the biggest need for, but
equally we do have large extended families; we do have a need for larger bed sizes as well. | am sorry, | do not
have all the figures in front of me, but we could send you that.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Sure. At the source of that two-bed requirement, the source of your
assessment, is that the SHMA?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): We have
done our own local housing market assessment and we have our housing register which provides details of
what --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): Then again, it is cold statistics, rather than weighting according to any
social need.

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): As | say,
we have figures for overcrowding locally, which we can provide to you. | did not bring them --

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): That would be very useful. | appreciate it.

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Our
concern: we would like to be able to require developers to provide family-sized homes, not just in the social
sector but also in the market sector. That is something we would want to see happening. | take the point that
those homes do not always end up immediately going to a family, but in terms of future stock mix in the
borough we would want to see family-sized homes in the market sector, too. That is something we would like
to be able to put into our requirements as well.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): You will agree with what Tom Copley said earlier that this is not really
about who is going to move next into that accommodation. It is about, in the long term, the stock being
available to accommodate London’s needs in the future.

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Exactly.
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | am done.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): | have a couple of follow-ups to the boroughs - myself, sorry - about local needs
assessments. You are doing these; you are looking at overcrowding locally and the needs locally. Are they all
done according to the same methodology? Are they comparable? One thing | noticed from the London Plan

is that, while we have overall figures for London about overcrowding that come from the EHS, that does not
break down per borough. Like we said before, there are 2,000 per year even to get London-wide estimates.

Page 51



They look at them across a three-year basis. Are you all using the same methods? Are your overcrowding
statistics comparable so that we could build up a picture across London?

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering): My
understanding is that our SHMA is good practice and meets all the necessary requirements. It has certainly
been shared with the London Plan team because they have commented on our emerging Local Plan, and | am
not aware of any concerns about how we have done the work. We have done an assessment which is shared
with Barking and Dagenham and with Redbridge as well and so it is the housing market area, which, again, we
understand to be what we have to do.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, the Mayor encourages sub-regional --

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering):
Yes, exactly. Yes.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Tower Hamlets, do you use the same methods as other boroughs to work out your
needs in that way?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Yes.
There are one or two differences. In terms of the GLA SHMA for the affordable sector, there is a higher
number of one-beds coming out of town than our own assessment. There are a few anomalies like that, which
| think is something to do with the application of benefit rules. | am not an expert on that area. | would be
happy to get someone to answer that.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): OK. We have been looking at the SHMA in some detail. We would be interested to
know the differences.

You are using your housing registers, the people who are registered for social housing, as part of assessing that
need. If you have an older person who is living in social housing in a larger-than-needed home, when you are
doing a downsizing programme, when you are assessing their needs, are you assessing them as needing a
one-bed? Social housing, how many bedrooms you can get, that has got really tight lately when it comes to
allocations policies. Are you assuming that the older people in social housing will move into one-beds?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): In terms
of what we offer people, we generally offer people a two-bed if that is what they want. Some people do want
a one-bed. Itis not a blanket policy. There will be a difference in the rent. For some people, that makes an
impact and they would rather choose to pay less rent. For heating the home and all those factors, there is a
higher cost if you take the two-bed on.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): When you offer a downsizing incentive, that applies even if they are moving into a
two-bed, then?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): Yes.
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Is it the same in Havering?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): It is the same. Again, we
do encourage downsizing where applicable. Funnily enough, our revised housing allocations policy went

Page 52



through our Cabinet last week and has gone out for consultation. Some of the general feedback from local
members is: someone may live on their own, but what if they have needs or a carer or someone that is coming
to stay? That is a fair challenge. It made me think twice as well. It is not just about the one, but it is about
the individual needs. We need to look at the individual cases of each individual when we look at the
allocations policy.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): How do you measure overcrowding? The EHS does not let you do it.

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): | will defer to you. | am
not an expert on this.

James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): My understanding is
the only consistent borough-level measure of overcrowding is the census, which is very frustrating because it is
a 10-year measure. The latest data we have that is robust at a borough level is census. The EHS is robust at a
London-wide level and that is what we use to inform the SHMA. At borough level, it is always a challenge with
local SHMAs, which is one of the reasons why we do not strongly support borough-level SHMAs to get the
level of detail we need on housing needs, just because it is all in the census.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): That is really difficult because you are devolving this to the boroughs. One thing |
would quite like to feed back to you is that this could do with a London-wide strategy. James has given some
nice examples of work that Islington has done, but there does not seem to be anything in this policy to
encourage that, or even within the Housing Strategy. Measuring it would be the starting point, would it not?
James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Just because there is
not a consistent borough-level way to measure overcrowding, that does not mean that every borough in each
case will use, for example, their waiting lists, and that is partly determined by what your waiting list policy is
because not everyone can join the waiting list, but most boroughs are able on their own to make an
assessment of the number of overcrowded households that need social rented housing. It is just those

numbers are not comparable between boroughs because there is not a consistent way to do that.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): We would really like the Mayor to do some work on this. If you are looking for one
thing, it cannot be that hard to do.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): We made this recommendation in 2011 --
Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you. |thought we might.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): -- and so we would really like one Mayor to do it, and | might say
something nice about the Mayor.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): OK, we are going to have to move on to the next topic.
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair): | might. | might.
Nicky Gavron AM: Am | allowed to ask a question?

Sian Berry AM (Chair): We have very little time and we need to talk about small sites, Nicky. | am really
sorry.

Page 53



Nicky Gavron AM: It could be written, the question. It is very relevant. The current SHMA is based on the
EHS to a certain extent, and you told us, when we had our informal meeting about it, that it was also based on
aspiration. It is only a sample of 2,000. What | want to know is whether the last SHMA - you could write and
tell us - was also based on EHS and 2,000. As far as | know, the last SHMA came up with a need for many
more family houses than this SHMA does, and | would be interested to know how we got to that and how we
have got to this SHMA, which comes up with so few family houses.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | believe it was based on
the same EHS but, because James was involved in the previous one --

James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Yes. Essentially, the
methodology is the same as the previous SHMA, which made it through an examination-in-public and the
inspector was happy with it. Where there is more recent data available, we have used more recent data.

On your point about families and smaller units, our demographic projections have changed. We now think -
our demographers tell us this - that the number of smaller households that are going to be forming over the
25-year period of the SHMA is going to be larger than we envisaged in 2013 when we did the previous SHMA.
Basically, the facts have changed.

Nicky Gavron AM: Yes, but the previous SHMA was not based on the EHS that you are using. It was based
on a much earlier one, which was the London Household Survey, which was very complete. | may be wrong. |
just want facts.

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair in the Chair): Thank you, Assembly Member Gavron. If you could write
to us sorting out some of those problems, | would appreciate it. Assembly Member Cooper?

Leonie Cooper AM: Back to size, but this time site size, and looking specifically at small sites, which, James
[Murray], you covered in your initial remarks. We have the target for 38% of the 65,000 dwellings to be
delivered on small sites, which equates to 24,700 units on 988 sites, if you assumed that they were all going to
be 25 dwellings. It could be up to 1,000 if some are smaller than that. Can you explain how you arrived at this
target?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sure. As you rightly say,
small sites are a really important component of the overall land supply for hitting the 65,000-capacity target.
What the modelling did was look at the trends in intensification among small sites in London and assumed that
rate of growth can be replicated at a greater frequency across London as encouraged by the policy. For
instance, it identifies where existing residential accommodation could be intensified, so within 800 metres of a
town centre or a Tube or rail station or places with Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) 3 to 6. It then
applies assumptions around the rate of growth that could be expected to those sites as a result of the
presumption in favour of development in the new draft London Plan. It obviously adjusts some of the
expectations based on whether there is a conservation area and so on, assuming a lot less intensification can
happen, or it can happen at a much slower rate, rather, in conservation areas, even if they are near to a Tube
station, and so on.

Broadly speaking, it works out what the observable trends are at the moment and have been in recent years in

terms of small sites, takes the London Plan assumption of a presumption in favour, and a well-designed,
high-density development on the sites.

Page 54



Leonie Cooper AM: | will come back to the presumption in favour in a minute, but how confident are you
that almost 40% of the 65,000 being delivered on these smaller sites is achievable? | mean that in terms of
both the acceptance by local people issue, which | have raised before, acceptance by local politicians of that
densification or intensification, but also in terms of the burden on things like drainage and water supply. It
looks as though Cape Town is going to literally run out of water very soon, and the Environment Committee
are just about to hear from Thames Water on its 80-year plan for supply and demand. That is just choosing
water. You have covered off the transport issue. That is leaving aside a whole range of other infrastructure
issues. Is it achievable in terms of getting buy-in from politicians and local people, and also in terms of the
physical requirements for intensification on these sites that are mainly going to be infill and quite surrounded
already?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is right to identify the
fact that we had to make a case to Londoners about why this is important for meeting the needs of Londoners
now and of the future to build new housing, because it does mean that areas where historically you might not
have seen as much building will see more in the coming years, so there is going to be a real emphasis on
building more housing. You are right to identify the importance of bringing Londoners with you.

One really important thing for me is around the emphasis on good design around what higher-density housing
can look like. People want the confidence that if they are going to see new homes built, particularly in their
local neighbourhoods, the design is going to be appropriate for the local area, that it is going to be well
designed and so on. There is a real emphasis in the draft London Plan on trying to encourage boroughs to set
out principles of good design, so design guides for what smaller housing developments should look like to
ensure that good design is really locked in as far as possible to these developments coming forward.

There is a slight point - | do not want to imply the answers your question in its entirety - around the fact that
there are people living in London already who might be living in overcrowding or not having a home which is
suitable for their needs. Building the new housing, you do not necessarily always bring up the space for new
people to move to London. They might be in London already, just not living in the right sort of housing,
whereas this way they can get a decent home and, by virtue of planning permission being granted, there will
be a Section 106 requirement associated with it and so on to make a contribution to the local area. It is not
necessarily a binary in terms of new housing meaning that there are more people living in the local area,
because sometimes there can be people living there, just living in overcrowding or in unsuitable housing,
moving somewhere more suited to their needs, and then getting the benefits of development in terms of
Section 106 and so on. | will agree with you that --

Leonie Cooper AM: Perhaps my vision of this is slightly coloured by some issues that we have had around
this in Wandsworth, where a lot of people live in overcrowded conditions on one side of the road and then the
blocks of luxury flats built on the other side are literally beyond them because they are on the other side of the
road, but of course they cannot possibly afford the price tag associated with the luxury flats, many of which
are then dark blocks and nobody actually moves into them. That has really been quite offensive to local
people, and it is not just a Wandsworth issue. That has been an issue more widely across the whole of London,
and it is one in fact that the Mayor himself commented on. It is really important that we make sure that we
carry local people and we do not create more blocks that people just buy holiday flats in. That is absolutely
essential.

Can | ask you, then, to come back to the presumption in favour? How helpful is that presumption in favour,
and whom is it most helpful to?

Page 55



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The presumption in favour
is a really important part of the policy in terms of giving greater encouragement to development of small sites.
Part of the reason why it is important to have that shift is to give small and medium builders greater
confidence around building developments. When you talk to small and medium builders, some of the issues
which come up frequently are around access to sites, access to finance, and planning risk. If you are a very
small builder and you buy a site with which there is a lot of planning risk associated, you are in quite a
precarious position and might shy away from it if there is a huge amount of planning risk associated with that
development going forward.

If there is a shift within planning policy through this presumption in favour to decrease the risk of buying that
site and then going into planning permission, we hope it will encourage more small and medium builders to get
involved in bringing forward these sites. Certainly, from industry feedback from small and medium builders,
they have welcomed the greater certainty this gives them.

Leonie Cooper AM: | think that would be very welcome because it is certainly something that we have
identified in this Committee, and | know that Andrew [Boff AM] and | have raised this over the development of
some of the TfL sites, the necessity for giving that assistance to the small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in
the building sector. | was glad to hear that some of the boroughs were referring to the need to meet the skills
shortage because, as you start to bring forward those sites and perhaps the SMEs might grow from being small
to medium building companies, they need the skilled staff to be able to develop those sites out.

Will you have a specific target for how well you are doing on developing out the small sites, and how will that
be monitored? Will we be able to see reports here to see how many of the 988 to 1,000 - or possibly slightly
more, depending on how small they are - are being developed and when? You are talking about them being
valuable because we can also do them at an early stage, and so we would be very keen to see that they are
starting to move.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): In the draft Plan it sets out,
as you say, the specific targets for small sites, and that is the first time that small site delivery has been
identified separately from the aggregate number. That shows the emphasis we are putting on it. Sorry, was
the question around bringing forward the sites or the builders?

Leonie Cooper AM: When and how we are going to review progress towards meeting the targets is really the
most important issue here.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sorry, yes. The Authority’s
Monitoring Report, which monitors the implementation of the London Plan, will follow up on the targets set
out in the London Plan, and so we will be able to see it in that context.

Leonie Cooper AM: We understand that you are working with the boroughs. Some may embrace the targets
more than others; some horses may need to be taken to the water-trough and some may indeed need to have
their heads shoved into the water. There will be a kind of dance towards meeting the targets. Should you find
the horses unwilling to drink from the water, what remedies are you going to apply if the boroughs are really
falling short around seeing these smaller sites developed out?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): If we just focus rather than
going to general conformity, can | just talk about the small sites in particular? | will just get the text so that |

Page 56



can refer to it precisely. In terms of the small sites where it talks about the presumption in favour it suggests
that local boroughs should, here in H2.E, it says:

“... the presumption in favour ... means approving small housing developments which are in accordance
with a design code developed in accordance with part B.”

It basically says the borough has developed a design code and, if you have that design code, that then means
that applications for small sites will have to be approved if they are in accordance with that design code.

“Where there is no such design code, the presumption means approving small housing development
unless it can be demonstrated that the development would give rise to an unacceptable level of harm to
residential privacy [and so on].”

There is a baseline protection there in terms of blocking developments where they impact on privacy and so
on. For boroughs to have a greater degree of influence over what is developed, a design code means that they
can then judge an application against that design code. There is an incentive in the system there for boroughs
to proactively develop design codes about what might be acceptable or not in terms of small site development
because they would then be able to judge an application whether it accords with that design code.

Leonie Cooper AM: Supposing they have their design codes sorted out and you still feel that they are
dragging their feet, is there any remedy that you can apply to make them move things forward?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Boroughs will develop their
Local Plans in due course, and conformity between the London Plan and local plans is part of the plan-setting
process, so it will influence individual boroughs in that way, as well as, clearly, there is the appeals process,
which applicants are always open to go down that route.

Leonie Cooper AM: It is just a concern because you are talking about almost 40% of the delivery coming
through this route. Where the Mayor has a much stronger role in planning applications that are more than
30 metres high or have more than 150 units, you are relying on the boroughs much more strongly here.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): We want to do everything
in partnership with the boroughs. The presumption in favour is a different approach for the small sites than
the larger sites, because on the larger sides, as you rightly say, the Mayor can have a direct influence over the
planning response to individual applications, so he has that way of getting involved. On the smaller sites, you
are right; we are never going to get involved in the very small sites in that way, which is why the presumption
in favour is a really important way in which the Mayor, through the London Plan, can shift the focus and try to
arrive at a new normal situation for this.

Leonie Cooper AM: That is effectively the main lever to bring them forward. What about the decision to
encourage the application of Section 106 payments to sites delivering under 10 homes? Why have you
decided to do that?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That basically reflects the
fact that, at the moment, the policy for onsite affordable housing tends to apply to schemes with more than
10 units, but we recognise the fact that the smaller sites are going to make a big contribution towards housing
delivery generally in London. We want to make sure that, where possible, they are making a contribution to
affordable housing as well. It might work better in some boroughs than others, but we want to make sure we

Page 57



are supporting boroughs where they are capturing some of that benefit from the smaller schemes for
affordable housing in the borough more broadly.

Leonie Cooper AM: Do you think there might be a problem for the smaller builders in terms of the section
106 payments coming in as a disincentive? We have talked about incentivise, the presumption in favour, and
trying to smooth the process of bringing the smaller sites forward. Do you not think the Section 106 might act
as a bit of a break on some of their ambitions? They are operating on a slimmer margin, so that might not be
something that they would like.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It would always be up to a
borough to consider its policy around this in terms of its viability more generally when they are introducing the
policy, and then, by exception, on the individual schemes.

Leonie Cooper AM: There can be an exception?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is up to boroughs to
apply it in the way that they want on viability grounds, but, again, that would come down to viability in that
situation, which people would want to avoid if possible, but there is always the viability route if it really is
undeliverable.

Leonie Cooper AM: It is something that the borough will make a decision, and so could support the small
builder by not requiring that wider capture in the way that we have just described for the Section 106?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Sorry, could you say that
one more time?

Leonie Cooper AM: The Section 106 additional payment could be removed if the borough considers that it
compromises the viability and would stop the scheme coming forward, but we then do not get that wider
capture.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): The viability route is always
open to applicants to make that case. | was not saying specifically viability applies here more than elsewhere.
It is simply that viability is a route open to all applicants. There are other things which boroughs can do to
support small builders. For instance, the phasing of the payments, so making sure that you do not have to pay
that contribution to affordable housing upfront. You can pay it later down the line, nearer completion or so
on, so that you do not have the cash flow issues. There are other ways in which boroughs can support small
and medium builders. Indeed, the Mayor in his Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule did
that for some of the small- and medium-sized builders to reflect the fact that cash flow is an issue. There are
ways that you can mitigate viability concerns.

Leonie Cooper AM: Thank you.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Tom, you had a follow-up question.

Tom Copley AM: Yes. On the presumption in favour, we talked to the Planning Committee yesterday. The
difference between the approach here, a policy-based approach, and the regulatory-based approach that they

might use in some European countries, where you are ticking the boxes and that is it, you are through. Is that
basically if you meet the design code, that is it, you have planning permission?

Page 58



James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Using that analogy is
probably going too far. It is not entirely the model you have in some other countries where it is very regulatory
and there is no discretion, but it is shifting the balance a bit toward presumption in favour. It is shifting the
balance toward saying, “Unless there is a reason to reject this, we anticipate it being approved”. The baseline
of the London Plan is impacts on privacy and so on, but, to give greater protection for a local area, if boroughs
can introduce design codes, that then means that planning applications can be judged against them as well
and then be considered on that basis whether to accept or reject them. It is still discretionary. | do not want
to give the impression this is moving to an entirely formulaic system - that is probably going too far - but it is
certainly saying, within the element of discretion that exists within the planning system in London, it is shifting
it toward, as | say, a presumption in favour.

Nicky Gavron AM: James, it was on Leonie’s [Cooper AM] question about delivery. Are you considering any
incentivisation of - ‘pooling” might not be the right word - aggregating some of these small sites so that they
become more appealing, maybe? Would that work?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): That is a really interesting
question because we were talking a bit earlier around what the barriers are to small and medium builders, and
we are focusing here on planning and planning risks, but the other aspects which are essential as well are
finance and access to land. In terms of land, the Mayor is developing a small sites programme which is to make
it easier to bring forward small sites from the public sector, and that will be a way of bringing forward small
sites for small builders to then develop out. The focus on land and around what small builders might like in
terms of land is as important. Pooling sites through the planning system might be tricky to get a steer on
through the London Plan, but using wider interventions in land is important to work out what might be more
attractive to developers. If developers suggested that pooling sites might be attractive, that is something we
could look at.

Nicky Gavron AM: It is something the offsite-manufactured homes sector has talked quite a lot about, but
also it is something TfL is talking about, is it not? It is looking at, is it not, aggregating sites or pooling sites?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes, the small sites which
the Mayor wants to pilot will be with TfL sites, and so that will be using some of its small sites and bringing
them forward.

Nicky Gavron AM: If you pool, say you put seven sites together with 15 homes on some and so on, but in
the end, you get quite a chunk of homes, you would be above the threshold, of course. Then you would get
the affordable housing in, would you not, or could you?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Certainly, in terms of, for
instance, the Mayor’s Small Sites [Small Builders] Programme, that is something which he is keen to look at,
making sure we are getting decent levels of affordable housing, for instance, on the TfL sites coming forward,
even if some of them are very small, maybe having a broader portfolio approach. In terms of strict planning
rules, it could be up to an individual applicant to link two sites and to make a planning case on that basis. We
have seen situations where you have different planning applications for sites but the applicant asks them to be
considered together, so, in a way, that option does exist to applicants already to join sites in their
consideration. | am not sure. | might ask for some advice on this one, whether it would be possible to formally
put that in, but | suspect it would be up to the applicant whether they wanted to join them or not.

Page 59



James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Yes, that is the case.
The encouragement of affordable housing on sites of ten and fewer implicitly assumes we would be able to
deliver that funding on other small sites in some ways, so you get that wider benefit by making the policy more
enabling and seeing more of these sites come forward, and also getting more CIL and things like that, and so it
has a cumulative benefit in its own right. Yes, to echo what James said you could very well see sites pooled
together and linked, and you get economies of scale benefits and design continuity and benefits like that
locally as well. That is all enabled by the policy and is certainly something we would like to see happen.

Nicky Gavron AM: Yes. | know you are not having a policy on downsizing from private homes, but we know
there are 800,000 homes with two or more bedrooms empty in London. | am just wondering. | can see people
downsizing in their own communities, and the small sites policy gives an opportunity for that, but people who
do not want to move out of their community and would downsize from these larger homes. Anyway, it is just a
thought.

James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): That is certainly what
has informed our thinking on the policy.

Nicky Gavron AM: On the policy of presumption in favour of small sites?
James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): Yes.
Nicky Gavron AM: You have not included --

James Clark (Senior Manager - Housing Strategy, Greater London Authority): It is not explicitly
included in the policy because there is a limit. It is not about mandating to people what they should do, but it
is about enabling that to happen. In a way, we would see more downsizing through this policy, potentially.

Nicky Gavron AM: Would that work for Havering, then? Can you imagine small sites being in places where
people in the larger family houses in Havering could downsize to?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Possibly. It is 68% of our
total build programme or total target at London boroughs that is small sites. It is not 30% or 40% either, so
this is a particular issue for us. That is certainly something we could factor in. | have a range of things | would
like to say, but I will stop there now. It is fine.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Great. We have 10 minutes left for the entire rest of the Committee and we have a
whole other question to come, but we do have follow-ups and we need to hear from the boroughs on this
issue. Can we hear first of all from the boroughs on the small sites questions and how you feel about it?

Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Sure. Thank you, Chair.
The quantity or the aspiration of what we could develop on small sites, politically, locally in Havering, has gone
down with concern. Members are trying to understand how that is going to work and how to protect the
characteristics of the borough. It is an outer London borough, and that is one of the things that the Leader of
the Council [Councillor Roger Ramsay] has said on numerous occasions: it is about protecting the place, so it is
encouraging protection of design.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Are you not encouraged by the design codes and the area strategies you are being
asked to produce?

Page 60



Steve Moore (Director of Neighbourhoods, London Borough of Havering): Absolutely. There are a lot
of unknowns around this. There is the whole thing about what this actually means in reality, and really
working up the protections locally and trying to make sure that that is articulated in a way so that people
understand it. Certainly, local members will default originally to a position of pessimism in relation to
something like that. Again, it is just working that through.

Technically, it is trying to understand the business case of how that works. The economies of scale question
was an interesting one in relation to the affordability of developers to be able to build out on a small scale. If
it is not pooled on aggregate of sites, is that going to affect the deliverability of affordable housing? | do not
know. That fragmented approach potentially could see a loss of total placemaking and shaping and the ability
to negotiate more opportunity for infrastructure investment because it is too fragmented. Strategically, | am
not clear about, in reality -- if it was 10%, the target, we would say, “We will work with that, we will chug
along with it and see where we are”, but it is the majority. | am not quite sure how something so significant is
going to work in practice, where we probably do have a better handle on large site development and how we
can maximise the benefits from these going forward. There are lots of question marks.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): It is a whole new policy. Tower Hamlets, how about you?

Mark Baigent (Interim Divisional Director of Housing, London Borough of Tower Hamlets): We
welcome this and we have similar concerns about deliverability. A particular issue just in terms of the local
planning authority processing all of this. If you have a planning officer and there is a large site, one person
can, in effect, produce a lot of homes, and if you could give that person then a whole load of small sites, albeit
with the presumption here that it should be less work, but there is that issue about the capacity of the system.
Then, as | said earlier, there is the issue about the capacity of the industry to build it.

One of the things we are working on at the moment which | think fits with this is around the self-build model.
Where we have small sites in council ownership, we have started a self-build register. We have a lot of very
interested people and we are looking at supporting them to deliver on small sites, which we think is just
another way of making sure there is more capacity for people to do this.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): One of the questions that does come up is about public acceptance, and we
discussed that quite a bit at the Planning Committee yesterday. One thing | want to ask about is the way that
the design section and the housing section of the policy do not seem to quite match on this. When residents
are looking for reassurance that they will be able to influence how different small sites are being developed,
the worry - what did you say - and the “default to pessimism” that people have when you hear that the small
sites are up for grabs, and, “It is all going to be very tall”, and people want some reassurance they will have
some influence. Policy H2, which is in the housing section, calls for area-wide design codes, and it says how
additional housing can be accommodated in different locations. The word there is not, “On each small site”. It
is, “In different locations”.

Then, within the design policies, we have the request for area-based strategies, looking at the capacity for
growth and how many homes you could fit in, and the different housing types and typologies and things like
that, but there it does not mention assigning a typology to an individual small site. You can see how,
combined with the push for density, people might assume plans are going to come forward for these small sites
near stations that have more density than people are comfortable with, and people want to know that they can
say, “This is fine, as long as it is these typologies that we want”. The area-based strategies in D2 are subject to
more - as far as | can tell - consultation than the design codes in H2. | do not know if these two things need

Page 61



to be matched up better and have one set of, “Here is how we will consult about the amount, the type, the
design of these small sites in your area”, to reassure people.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is possible to get a partial
answer to your question, which is that the expectation of the design codes is to be led by boroughs. That is
clearly a borough responsibility to lead on that. Obviously, we will support however we can, but the idea is
that boroughs do something which is appropriate for their area. What the GLA is going to be doing this year is
developing Supplementary Planning Guidance around housing design, and clearly an important part of that will
be how, in the 21st century, you could build at high densities in an appropriate way that people think is
appropriate for their area. That would include a lot of the issues around optimising density on bigger sites as
well as smaller sites, but | would see that as being slightly broader than the design codes, which would be led
by boroughs.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. The question is, when you are asking for it to be applied to particular sites in a
particular area, the area-wide things, which are an area-wide design code and an area-based strategy, those
two things seem to be where residents can get in and influence what happens on their particular small sites,
but it is just not completely clear what the process is for that. | know it is up to boroughs, but the expectations
of boroughs in terms of public engagement ought to be perhaps clearer here.

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): It is probably worth also
stressing that the plans should be read as a whole. Just because we have not repeated the design policies
under the housing policies, it does not mean they do not apply, and we sought to keep the London Plan within
600 pages. It would have been a lot longer if we had repeated ourselves. Also, we have already started talking
to boroughs about how we can support them on design codes, and if what boroughs are saying is, “We need
support through Supplementary Planning Guidance specifically on the issue of design codes and how they
should be developed”, then we are more than happy to consider that, and that is something we are aiming to
do.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): This is what is in D2: area-wide strategies to determine the capacity of the sites in
that area. That is what worries people most, not so much the colour of the bricks and things. How many
homes will be fitted in?

Nicky Gavron AM: How can a borough like Havering or Tower Hamlets know what the capacity is, when
some of it can come from conversions? In fact, conversions are counted as part of your small sites target.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. Itis a lot of work for boroughs to do.

Nicky Gavron AM: | do not know how you deal with capacity when it is a bit of an unknown quantity what is
going to come forward in conversions. Could somebody answer that?

Martyn Thomas (Development and Transport Planning Manager, London Borough of Havering): It
goes back down to the really high importance of design codes to get the quality that we want out of these
schemes. | was just saying to Steve, hopefully quietly, there is a real issue in places like outer London about
how these schemes are delivered and the implementation of them. In inner and central London, everybody is
well used to schemes being fitted in, from a construction point of view, into tricky, difficult-to-develop sites.
In outer London, that is still quite novel to us, and there will be scope for getting some sort of accreditation
scheme, if you like, for smaller developers and smaller builders who have a good track record of delivering
these high-pressure schemes where they are surrounded by back garden land or residential properties or

Page 62



commercial properties. If you begin to put all the pieces of the jigsaw together, the design codes and the
accreditation to reliable developers rather than somebody who just fancies developing a small site, then you
begin to have the tools to work towards the aspiration that the Mayor has for the numbers involved.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Thank you. We are really running out of time, but we do have --
Nicky Gavron AM: Deal with conversions.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): We are really running out of time. We are going to have to --
Nicky Gavron AM: It is a big issue.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Can we ask a very quick question from Tom about a couple of particular groups that
we are a bit worried about?

Tom Copley AM: Yes. How does the planning cater for the needs of specialist groups like Gypsies, Travellers,
students and people who require supported accommodation?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): Yes. There are specific
sections set out in the London Plan around that, and I will particularly start with Gypsy and Traveller
accommodation.

It suggests that boroughs should plan to meet the identified need for pitches. Part of the way that we
approach the policy around gypsy and traveller needs in the draft London Plan and in the draft Housing
Strategy is we have set out for it to be an improvement on what we inherited in terms of working out what
their needs are and in terms of working out what the definition is of people from that community to make sure
that people are not excluded because they are not currently living in that lifestyle. They might be living in a
bricks-and-mortar building, but that is not out of choice; that is because they have been forced to by
circumstance. The definition of who counts as a member of that community is being expanded, and we
developed that in consultation with representatives from the community as well as saying the boroughs should
identify what the need is in their local areas. There is a stronger approach there for Gypsy and Traveller
pitches.

Clearly, the provision is well short of the need, and so there is an ability for boroughs to apply for affordable
housing funding as well to support some of those developments, but it is something where the need is not met
by the supply at the moment.

Tom Copley AM: Absolutely, and | am really pleased that this expanded definition has been adopted because
it has been eroded over the last few years by the Government changing the definition and reducing
responsibilities in local authorities to provide for the accommodation needs of gypsies and travellers. That is
really important. How that then is translated into boroughs, for example, applying for funding from the
Affordable Homes Programme is a different question and probably not for this meeting, but this takes us in a
very good direction.

| want to just ask quickly about student accommodation because | know we are running out of time. This for

the first time sets a provision for a percentage of affordable student accommodation, which was not in there
before, the 35%. In the supporting text it talks about the definition of “affordable” being determined by the

Page 63



work of the Mayor’s Academic Forum. Could you talk a bit about that? Is this the public definition of what
counts as affordable student accommodation?

James Murray (Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development): | might ask Elliot to jump in
on that with some of the details.

Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): Sure. The Academic Forum has
existed for a number of years. All its papers are on the website, so you can see we had discussions over a
number of months with them - which includes the National Union of Students (NUS), universities, boroughs -
about how we should come up with establishing what is student income, because it is very difficult to define.
It is unlike other people living in London. Then, what proportion of their income should be spent on
accommodation? We are only talking about purpose-built student accommodation. We are not talking about
rent in private housing. Unlike that, in purpose-built student accommodation, you have often either amenities
or services provided, and so it is considering all those factors to come up with this definition.

Tom Copley AM: More of a co-living situation.
Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): Yes.

Tom Copley AM: | was going to come on to nomination rights. Who would determine who would get the
affordable student accommodation? How is that determined?

Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): The way we set it out is that the
new accommodation has to have a link to a university, and it would be the responsibility of the university to
identify need among its student cohort and then allocate the rooms appropriately. The university would be the
people that know most about who is in need, and so it is for them to allocate it.

Tom Copley AM: OK, thank you. Given the time, | will leave it there.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. Just one final quick thing about the student accommodation. Section 4.17.7
sets out that the current definition is 55% of the maximum income that a new full-time student could receive
from the Government’s Maintenance Loan. That seems like a high number except that it seems not to include
any money they might make from working. Is that why it is such a high number? There is no assumption there
that they might work?

Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): Yes. We were looking for a way
to figure out what would be a student income. There are lots of different studies on this. Excluding people’s
money over the summertime and vacation period was something we worked quite closely with the NUS about.
This is almost a proxy for all students about what they could get, so maybe you do not get the full
Maintenance Loan, but you do some work and it tops it up to that level, but it is saying every student who is
from outside London could get that money.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): The NUS is happy with this definition at the moment?

Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): Yes.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): However, it is under review. That is why it is not written into the policy.

Page 64



Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): It is not under review. It means
that because the Maintenance Loan changes every year --

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes, and so the Government policy --

Elliot Kemp (Principal Strategic Planner, Greater London Authority): It will change if the Government
changes it.

Sian Berry AM (Chair): Yes. Great. Thatisit. Thank you very much to the guests for your contributions.
Thanks to everyone for waiting.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



Agenda Item 4

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDONASSEMBLY

Subject: Summary List of Actions

Report to: Housing Committee

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat Date: 27 February 2018

This report will be considered in public

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out actions arising from previous meetings of the Housing Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its
previous meetings.

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SET 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk

Page 67




Actions Arising from the Meeting of 23 January 2018

During the course of the discussion the Committee
requested the following information:

e A written explanation on how planning permissions
are monitored in terms of funding in relation to the
London Plan;

e The number of young people in overcrowded
households;

e The timescale for analysis of the effectiveness of the
35% threshold approach for developers; and

e Further information on the net and gross loss of
social housing through demolition on public land and
information on the delivery of affordable housing in
parts A3 and A4 of the London Plan.

e Why the 40% borough portion of tenure split in be
social housing is included in the supporting text
4.7.2 and not in main H7 policy box;

e Whether the last Strategic Housing Market
Assessment was based on the data from the English
Housing Survey, or the London Housing Survey; and

e The figures for overcrowding locally in Tower
Hamlets

Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with
party Group Lead Members, to agree the Committee’s
submission to the Planning Committee on the draft London
Plan response.

Minute | Topic Status For action by
Number
5. Draft London Plan Ongoing.

Deputy Mayor for
Housing and
Residential
Development

Senior Manager —
Housing Strategy

Interim Divisional
Director of Housing
and Regeneration
Scrutiny Manager

Additional information for noting
e On 18 January 2018, the Mayor of London provided a letter of response to the Committee’s report,
Hidden Homelessness in London, as attached as Appendix 1.
e On 23 October 2017, the Minister for Local Government provided a letter of response to the
Committee’s report, Hidden Homelessness in London, as attached as Appendix 2.
e The impact review of the Housing Committee’s findings report, Hidden Homelessness in London,
attached as Appendix 3.

3. Legal Implications

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report.

4, Financial Implications

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report.

Page 68




List of appendices to this report:

Appendix 1 — Mayors response letter

Appendix 2 — Ministers response letter

Appendix 3 — Impact review for the Hidden homelessness in London report

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers: None

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer
Telephone: 0207983 4616
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk

Page 69



mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



MAYOR OF LONDON

Appendix 1
Sian Berry AM Our ref: MGLA280917-8791
City Hall
The Queen’s Walk
More London pate: 1 8 JAN 2018

London SE1 2AA

&J $ua,

Re: Housing Committee report — Hidden Homelessness in London

Thank you for your letter of 27 September 2017 outlining the findings and recommendations of
the Housing Committee’s report into hidden homelessness in London. | welcome the attention that
you and other members of the committee have drawn to the range of different sorts of
homelessness that affect such a shocking number of Londoners.

| have set out my responses to your report’s specific recommendations in the appendix to this
letter. As | said when we discussed the issue at Mayor’s Question Time on 14 December, it is clear
that to a great extent all forms of homelessness - including hidden homelessness — result from
London’s shortage of affordable housing. | am committed to doing all | can to tackle the problem
of affordability; my draft London Housing Strategy and draft London Plan outline how | intend to
significantly increase the number of new homes delivered in London, and in particular genuinely
affordable homes.

Furthermore, my draft London Housing Strategy sets out how | intend to do all | can to help
prevent homelessness and ensure that those who find themselves without a home receive the help
and support they need. For example, | want to press Government to provide adequate funding for
councils to fulfil their new duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act, and | am helping
boroughs to more closely collaborate in seeking temporary accommodation. With Transport for
London, | am funding dedicated outreach provision for rough sleepers on the night transport
network to locate and assist those who might not otherwise be identified. And | hope that you
have by now seen my winter campaign, which encourages Londoners to help rough sleepers by
using StreetLink and donating to our new coalition of 18 homelessness charities.

However, although | am doing all | can to help those who face homelessness, as | made clear at
Mayor’s Question Time, any sustained reduction in different forms of homelessness needs wide-
ranging action from Government. Insecurity for private sector tenants means that two-fifths of the
homeless households who London boroughs assist have lost their accommodation because a
private landlord ends a tenancy, making it the biggest single cause of homelessness in the capital.
At the same time, welfare reform over recent years has left a yawning gap between private sector
rent levels and the maximum benefit tenants can claim in many areas of London. The insecurity of
private sector tenancies and welfare reform combine perniciously, as private landlords resort to
evicting tenants whose benefits no longer cover their rent. | am clear that Government must
fundamentally rethink both the welfare benefits available to help with private tenants” housing
costs and way that tenancies in the sector operate.

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA « mayor@lﬂag:enﬁﬂpv.uk ¢+ london.gov.uk + 020 7983 4000



MAYOR OF LONDON

We also need Government to invest more in the delivery of new homes — particularly homes based
on social rent levels - and to secure arrangements for future funding of supported accommodation
that recognise the vital role such accommodation plays for a whole range of vulnerable groups who
might otherwise face homelessness. | am concerned that Government’s most recent proposals for
supported housing fail to afford sufficient protection for various groups, including rough sleepers,
those fleeing violence against women and girls, and young people, including care leavers. | will use
the opportunity to respond to the Government’s current consultations on these issues to push for
more secure provision in this area.

Thank you again for your work in investigating these issues.

Yours singerely,

Sadiq Khan
Mayor of London

Appx.

Cc: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Team Manager

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA « mayor@IoRage.ZRV.uk ¢+ london.gov.uk « 020 7983 4000



Appendix: Mayoral response to recommendations in Hidden Homelessness in London

Recommendation 1: The Government should recognise the acute nature of homelessness
in London and keep under review the funding to implement the Homelessness Reduction
Act for London local authorities, to ensure that boroughs have sufficient resources to
relieve and prevent homelessness.

My draft London Housing Strategy urges Government to meet its commitment to fully cover the
costs to local authorities of implementing the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. My Deputy
Mayor for Housing and Residential Development, James Murray, reiterated this point in a recent
response to the Government’s consultation on its draft Homelessness Code of Guidance for local
authorities. It is of real concern that the amount of funding Government has allocated to local
authorities to cover the cost of meeting new obligations is only 15 per cent of what London
boroughs assess implementation will cost them — and that Government is only making funding
available for three years.

As we know, it is very hard for London local authorities to secure accommodation for those who are
facing homelessness or have become homeless, thanks to a shortage of affordable housing,
insecurity in the private rented sector, and the pressures exerted by welfare reform. Any sustained
reduction in homelessness needs a strategic response from across Government that tackles these
underlying issues.

Recommendation 2: The Mayor should lobby London local authorities to record the
protected characteristics of those presenting at housing options services, following
comprehensive training of staff about the sensitivity required in collection, and the
purpose of such monitoring. This would create better understanding of London’s
homeless population.

Government has recently reviewed what data it will ask local authorities to record, as part of
preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act. | am pleased to see that
this includes more thorough recording of the equality characteristics of those facing and
experiencing homelessness than the previous data collection regime.

Recommendation 3: The Mayor should review the assessment of ‘vulnerability’, and
advice given to non-priority need applicants across London to create best practice
guidelines for local authorities and homelessness charities. This should make particular
reference to advice and support for young and LGBT persons, as well as supporting
vulnerable people. He should add this to the agenda for his No Nights Sleeping Rough
Task Force.

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 is intended to ensure that those who are not in priority
need, as defined in law, receive better help than they have to date. Definitions already exist in
statute, case law, and the Homelessness Code of Guidance for local authorities (which Government
is updating to reflect the duties created by the Act). My view is that seeking to create some
London-specific guidance could complicate the issue at this stage.

My No Nights Sleeping Rough taskforce has already considered the implications of the Act and will
continue to do so. To be clear, however, they have only considered its implications insofar as they
relate to rough sleeping, as the Terms of Reference for the taskforce define its remit very
specifically to that form of homelessness.

Page 73



Recommendation 4: The Government should rewrite the guidance around evidence
required to reach an assessment of ‘vulnerability’ for those who have experienced
domestic violence and abuse to make it easier for authorities to identify victims
accurately. They should ensure that staff know that police crime reference or risk
assessment numbers are not required in order to validate an application.

My draft London Housing Strategy makes clear that | recognise the importance of appropriate
housing support in tackling domestic violence and abuse. | was encouraged to see that the needs
of those who have suffered domestic violence and abuse are covered in a designated chapter of
the Homelessness Code of Guidance for local authorities on which the Government recently
consulted.

Recommendation 5: In light of the Homelessness Reduction Act’s introduction, and new
data gained from prevention services, the Government should look to review the list of
those who meet the criteria for “vulnerability’ under the legislation.

The Homelessness Reduction Act is designed to ensure that those who may have some support
needs but do not necessarily meet the statutory threshold of “vulnerability” receive the help they
need — something | very much welcome. Further changes in the statutory definition would require
legislation — something that seems unlikely in the current political context. But it is clearly
important that Government keeps implementation of the Act under close review, to assess whether
the Act is delivering its intended impacts.

Recommendation 6: The Mayor should promote the use of existing homelessness advice
and support services using the London.gov.uk website and TfL advertising space.

I will help promote existing homelessness advice and support services offered by local authorities
and the voluntary sector, though | believe it is only appropriate to do when they have indicated
they would welcome it and have the capacity to respond to anticipated enquiries. | have previously
helped publicise individual services in response to requests from them, for example, Centrepoint’s
Young and Homeless Helpline.

The position is different in relation to rough sleeping, because | commission pan-London services
that help this group off the streets. | will be publicising the help available to rough sleepers over
the winter period, using both the London.gov.uk website and advertising space on the public
transport network.

Recommendation 7: The Government should ensure that any future legislation on
domestic violence and abuse gives survivors of domestic violence and abuse priority in
tenancy law. This would mean that survivors are able to remain in their homes following
an incident of abuse, if they wish, rather than the perpetrator. Legislation should seek
to formalise the use of reciprocal housing agreements between local authorities (and
housing associations) to ensure that people who experience domestic violence and abuse
can maintain their housing eligibility band across London.

| wholeheartedly agree that survivors of domestic violence and abuse should be able to remain in

safe and secure accommodation. | think we are unlikely to see legislation that enshrines this in the

immediate future, but the draft London Housing Strategy highlights positive steps we can take

without waiting for legislation, including by:

o Making clear that housing providers should seek to identify and support those who suffer
domestic abuse — and highlighting the value of the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance’s
National Domestic Abuse Service Standards in helping them to do so;

Page 74



Indicating my support for the Pan-London Reciprocal Agreement, which is administered by
Safer London and designed to facilitate reciprocal housing agreements; and

Explaining how | will play my part in enabling survivors of domestic abuse to move without
surrendering a social housing tenancy, by giving them priority for my Housing Moves
scheme.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Appendix 2

Marcus Jones MP
Minister for Local Government
Department for Department for Communities and Local
Communities and e
Local Government 2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Sian Berry AM
Chair Tel: 0303 444 3460
London Assembly Housing Committee s s o
City Hall Email: marcus.jones@communities.gsi.gov.uk
The Queen’'s Walk
London www.gov. uk/dclg
SE1 2AA

:DW M @/ Our Ref:3510312
§ / 2 3 0CT 207
ul -

Thank you for your letter of 27 September to the Rt Hon Greg Hands MP about
homelessness. | am replying as homelessness falls within my ministerial responsibiiities.

You may already be aware that we recently published guidance setting out how local
authorities should implement the Homelessness Reduction Act. This guidance is subject to
an 8-week consultation, and more information can be found here:
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/homelessness-code-of-quidance-for-local-authorities

We also announced an additional £11.7 million in new burdens funding for local authorities to
implement the Act, taking the total amount to £72.7 million over 2 years. £30.2 million of this
has been allocated to London. The full breakdown of new burdens funding can be found
here: www.qov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-reduciion-act-new-burdens-

funding

The Government has committed to reviewing the implementation of the Act, including the
resourcing of it and how it is working in practice, concluding no later than two years after
commencement of the substantive clauses of the Act. We will also carry out, in the same
time-frame, a post-implementation review of the new burdens, to review the robustness of
our assessment of the estimated costs to local authorities and the underlying assumptions.

We also announced £3 million of funding to local authorities to support them in upgrading
their data systems to allow them to assess how the Act is changing homelessness prevention
in their areas. This will include improved recording of household support needs such as
domestic abuse.

Domestic violence and abuse is unacceptable and addressing this issue is a priority for the
Government. We have committed to introduce a landmark Domestic Abuse Bill to protect and
support victims, recognise the life-long impact domestic abuse has on children and make
sure agencies effectively respond to domestic abuse. This will include measures to:

Enshrine a definition of domestic abuse in law,

Create a consolidated new domestic abuse prevention and protection order regime;
Introduce a new aggravated offence if behaviour involves a child,;

Establish a Domestic Abuse Commissioner;

Page 77



« Enable ratification of the Istanbul Convention on preventing violence against women
and domestic violence;

We will consult widely with partners and will also work up a suite of non-legislative policy
options to support the aims of the Bill.

| hope this addresses the points that you raise in your letter and assures you that the

Government is committed to preventing homelessness and addressing domestic violence
and abuse. -

e Ju-c-z..rplT

W,

MARCUS JO

Page 78



Appendix 3
LONDONASSEMBLY Housing Committee

LONDONASSEMBLY

Housing Committee

Hidden homelessness in London Hidden homelessness in London
Released 27 September 2017

Feedback and impact
Terrie Alafat, Chief Executive of the Chartered Institute of

Housing, commented "Homelessness has risen steadily since
2010 according to official statistics and we know that the
problem is acute in London. But as this report highlights
there are many more people affected by homelessness that we don’t know about. To have so
many people homeless in 2017 is quite simply a national disgrace and something we must act
on now. History tells us that we can significantly reduce homelessness, but it will take a cross-
departmental commitment from government and a strategic approach to tackle all of its
causes.”

Jenny Barnes, Head of Policy and Research at Centrepoint said ‘We think this report is a very
useful political counterbalance to the ongoing focus on rough sleeping... We were pleased with
how much focus was placed on the issue of proving vulnerability as this is something that |
think most people are unaware of, but it’s an issue that makes a huge difference to people’s
experiences on the ground. We therefore particularly liked the recommendations on this, and
on better data collection around people’s characteristics. It was great to see the point about the
TfL adverts — this is something that we and others have been recommending for some time, so
it would be great if this report can help drive this through.”’

Mary Mason, Chief Executive of Solace Women’s Aid, who gave evidence to the investigation,
welcomed the report and responded in a statement.

New Horizons Youth Centre said ‘It is both fitting and an honour that the London Assembly and
Sian Berry chose our centre to host the launch of their Hidden Homelessness Report. The
report's findings highlight precisely what we at New Horizon Youth Centre have been
consistently telling government and the mayor’s office: young people are disproportionately
affected by the housing crisis, but their homelessness is not visible on the streets.’

Polly Neate, Shelter’s chief executive, praised the report, saying it ‘reveals the the tragedy of
rising and persistent homelessness in London for tens of thousands of people, many of them
young and vulnerable to abuse” and urging national government to ‘stem this crisis by ending
the freeze on housing benefit and giving Londoners the leg up that they so desperately need.”
The Department for Communities and Local Government responded to press enquiries about
the report, saying: ‘Tackling homelessness is a complex issue with no single solution, but this
government is determined to help the most vulnerable in society. We're investing £550 million
to 2020 to address the issue and implementing the most ambitious legislative reform in
decades, the Homelessness Reduction Act. This Act means more people get the help they need
earlier to prevent them from becoming homeless in the first place.’

The Royal Society of Arts wrote a blog which mentions the report.

Media coverage

Widespread media coverage for the report, including major outlets and trade press - BBC
London News, LBC Radio, BBC London radio, 5live Investigates, The Guardian, Sky News,
Evening Standard, 24Housing, Inside Housing, picked up by PA and Reuters.

Continued pick up by national press in the months since release.

Page 79


http://solacewomensaid.org/housing-and-homelessness-has-reached-a-crisis-point-for-women-fleeing-violence-and-abuse/
https://nhyouthcentre.org.uk/news/2017/09/26/nhyc-hosts-hidden-homelessness-report-launch
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/hidden-homelessness-london
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/rsa-blogs/2017/10/millennials-and-the-end-of-the-property-ladder-paradigm

LONDONASSEMBLY

Housing Committee

Mayoral response and recommendation implementation

Recommendations RAG |Response - January 2018
The Governmeht should recognise the acute .nature of The Mayor says he has urged the government to
homelessness in London and keep under review the . . .
) ) . commit to fully cover the costs of implementing the
funding to implement the Homelessness Reduction Act for .
N Homelessness Reduction Act.
London local authorities, to ensure that boroughs have
1|sufficient resources to relieve and prevent homelessness. | N/A

The Mayor should lobby London local authorities to
record the protected characteristics of those presenting at
housing options services, following comprehensive
training of staff about the sensitivity required in collection,
and the purpose of such monitoring. This would create
better understanding of London’s homeless population.

The Government has since reviewed data it asks local
authorities to record. The Mayor says he is 'pleased
to see this includes more thorough recording of
equality characteristics.'

The Mayor should review the assessment of
‘vulnerability’, and advice given to non-priority need
applicants across London to create best practice
guidelines for local authorities and homelessness
charities. This should make particular reference to advice
and support for young and LGBT persons, as well as
supporting vulnerable people. He should add this to the
agenda for his No Nights Sleeping Rough Task Force.

The Mayor responds that, as guidance and legal
definitions already exist, he believes it would
complicate things to introduce London-specific
guidance at this stage. He says that the No Nights
Sleeping Rough Taskforce has already considered the
implications of the Act, but only insofar as they relate
to rough sleeping.

The Government should rewrite the guidance around
evidence required to reach an assessment of
‘vulnerability’ for those who have experienced domestic
violence and abuse to make it easier for authorities to
identify victims accurately. They should ensure that staff
know that police crime reference or risk assessment
numbers are not required in order to validate an

The Mayor says his Housing Strategy 'makes clear
that | recognise the importance of appropriate

housing support in tackling domestic violence and
abuse.' The new Homelessness Code of Guidance

4|application. N/A |includes a dedicated chapter on domestic violence.
. . . . The Mayor suggests that further change to legislation
In light of the Homelessness Reduction Act’s introduction, ¥ g8 . g \ &
. . . to the statutory definition of homelessness 'are
and new data gained from prevention services, the ] . o o
. . unlikely in the current political context. But it is
Government should look to review the list of those who .
L . e, . important that the government keeps the Act under
meet the criteria for ‘vulnerability’ under the legislation. o
5 N/A |closereview

The Mayor should promote the use of existing
homelessness advice and support services using the
London.gov.uk website and TfL advertising space.

The Mayor said that he will promote existing advice
and support services, but only when they have
indicated they would welcome it. Assembly officers
have informed services that gave evidence to the
enquiry about this. The Mayor also says that rough
sleeping campaigns are promoted on london.gov.uk
and public transport.

The Government should ensure that any future legislation
on domestic violence and abuse gives survivors of
domestic violence and abuse priority in tenancy law. This
would mean that survivors are able to remain in their
homes following an incident of abuse, if they wish, rather
than the perpetrator.

Legislation should seek to formalise the use of reciprocal
housing agreements between local authorities (and
housing associations) to ensure that people who
experience domestic violence and abuse can maintain
their housing eligibility band across London.

The Mayor 'wholeheartedly' agrees that survivors of
domestic violence and abuse should be able to
remain in safe and secure accommodation and
expects future legislation will enshrine this. He will
take action through his Housing Strategy to make
sure housing providers identify and support victims
of abuse; indicating support for the Pan-London
Reciprocal Agreement; and helping allow survivors to
move without surrendering social housing tenancy,
by giving priority in his Housing Moves scheme.

Page 80




Agenda Item 5

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDONASSEMBLY
Subject: Strategic Issues for Social Housing in
London

Report to: Housing Committee

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat Date: 27 February 2018

This report will be considered in public

1.1

2.1

2.2

3.1

4.1

4.2

Summary

This report sets out the background information for a discussion with invited guests on the strategic
issues for social housing in London.

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the invited
guests on strategic issues for social housing in London.

That the Committee delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group
Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion.

Background

Following the Grenfell Tower fire in June 2017, social housing providers faced a range of urgent
challenges, such as rehousing residents and dealing with immediate issues of fire safety. However, a
tragic incident of this kind also has far wider implications. This meeting will discuss a range of these
wider implications and issues for social housing.

Issues for Consideration

The cost of immediate essential fire safety measures has been substantial, and it is not clear how
they will be financed. This may then have significant implications for providers” development plans,
both in terms of the number of homes they can finance, how quickly they can do so, and any new
quality standards they may seek to meet.

There may be cost implications for planned refurbishment of existing stock. Changes may need to
be made to asset management programmes as a result. And since many estates and developments
are designed as mixed tenure, or have become mixed through the Right to Buy, there may be
significant issues with oversight and control of refurbishment in these estates.

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SET 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk

Page 81




43

4.4

45

5.1

6.1

Mechanisms are available to residents to raise concerns and hold their landlords to account on issues
of property standards and management. However, in light of what we know following the Grenfell
Tower fire, they are likely at least to need reviewing.

In the Mayor’s draft Housing Strategy he calls on the Government to appoint an independent social
housing commissioner. A Government green paper on social housing is also expected in the
spring 2018.
The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting and participate in the discussion:
e Sue Foster OBE, Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Growth, London Borough of
Lambeth;
e Pat Hayes, Managing Director, Be First;
e Chyrel Brown, Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group;
e Andy Bates, JMB Manager, Leathermarket JMB;

e Kym Shaen-Carter, Development Manager, Igloo (To be confirmed).

Legal Implications

The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report.

Financial Implications

There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.

List of appendices to this report:

None.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers: None

Contact Officer: Pauline Niesseron, Assistant Scrutiny Manager
Telephone: 020 7983 4843

Email:

pauline.niesseron@london.gov.uk

Page 82



mailto:pauline.niesseron@london.gov.uk

Agenda Item 6

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDON
Subject: Protecting London’s Property
Guardians

Report to: Housing Committee

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat Date: 27 February 2018

This report will be considered in public

1.1

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

Summary

This paper asks the Committee to agree its report on growth of property guardianship as a form of
property protection in London, Protecting London’s property guardians.

Recommendation

That the Committee agree its report on property guardians, Protecting London’s property
guardians, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

Background

At its meeting on 5 Septemeber 2017, the Committee used its meeting slot on to discuss property
guardians, with invited guests.

The following terms of reference were agreed for this investigation:

To identify the extent of property guardianship in London, highlight good and bad practice
and emerging self-regulation in the sector;

To examine the impact of property guardianship on Londoners, including local authorities,
communities, businesses and property security companies; and

To consider the effectiveness of current legislation and whether it protects property
guardians adequately.

A panel of guests was invited to discuss these issues with the Committee:

Professor Caroline Hunter and Jed Meers, York Law School, University of York;

Lord Kennedy of Southwark, Shadow Spokesperson (Communities and Local Government,
Housing and Home Affairs) and Opposition Whip (Lords);

Rubina Nisar, Valuation and Strategic Assets, London Borough of Lambeth;

Jon Castine, Environmental Health Officer, Westminster City Council; and

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SET 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk

Page 83




34

35

3.6

4.1

4.2

43

° Stuart Woolgar, Representative of the BSIA Vacant Property Protection section, and Director
of Global Guardians.

The Committee also held several informal meetings as part of its investigation. This included
property guardians, property owners, property guardian companies and legal experts.

The Committee also commissioned research from the University of York to inform its investigation.

It was agreed informally that the evidence gathered from this investigation, including the
commissioned research, should form the basis of a report on property guardianship.

Issues for Consideration

The Committee is recommended to formally agree its report Protecting London’s property guardians,
as attached at Appendix 1.

After agreement from the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, under delegated
authority the report was published on 6 February 2018.

This report makes the following recommendations:

Recommendation 1

Ministry of Housing, Communities of Local Government (MHCLG) should review legislation and
guidance (for example, the Tenant Fees Bill 2017) to see how licensees can benefit from the
improvements made in the private rented sector.

Recommendation 2
The Mayor and MHCLG should provide guidance about the legal rights of guardians and where
guardians can access help.

Recommendation 3

The Mayor should advise councils (especially those that use property guardians) to ensure the words
‘property guardian” are included on all local authority publicly promoted resources on raising
grievances about property standards, fire safety and environmental health concerns.

Recommendation 4
MHCLG should require all property guardian companies to register with a recognised property agents
redress scheme. This would allow guardians to raise concerns about a company in a “safe space’.

Recommendation 5

The Valuation Office Agency should provide clear guidance on whether commercial properties that
are temporarily occupied by guardians are entitled to a temporary revaluation from business rates to
council tax. This would ensure property guardian companies and property owners are aware of the
rules around business rates and council tax.

Page 84



5.1

6.1

Recommendation 6

MHCLG should clarify whether the Housing Act 2004 is enforceable against malpractice in the
property guardian sector. MHCLG should revisit the Housing Act 2004 if it is no longer protecting
people effectively.

Recommendation 7
The Mayor should use the London Boroughs’ Private Rented Sector Partnership to share best
practice and lessons learned by local authorities.

Recommendation 8

MHCLG should provide statutory guidance for environmental health officers and the London Fire
Brigade on how to effectively deal with buildings occupied by property guardians, like guidance
provided for bedsits and shared accommodation.

Recommendation 9
The Mayor and MHCLG must provide clarity on how local authority planning departments should
handle commercial properties occupied by property guardians.

Recommendation 10

The Mayor and MHCLG should set out best practice guidance for local authorities when procuring
property guardian services. Guidance should include a standardised contract between building
owners and guardian companies, which contains a minimum length of tenure, licence fee setting if
applicable, and clear guidance on repairs and maintenance responsibilities. This guidance could also
form part of the ‘A fairer deal for private renters and leaseholders’ section of the Mayor’s Housing
Strategy.

Recommendation 11

Efforts by guardian companies to introduce common standards are welcome, but it is important all
companies follow them if they are to be effective. Therefore, the Mayor and Government, as well as
councils who use guardian companies, should look at what can be done to ensure new standards are
applied more widely.

Legal Implications

The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report.

Financial Implications

There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.

Page 85



List of appendices to this report:
Appendix 1 - Protecting London’s property guardians

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers:

None.

Contact Officer:  Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager
Telephone: 0207983 4394

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk

Page 86



mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

Appendix 1

LONDONASSEMBLY

Protecting London’s property
guardians

| IN OCCUPATION

Housing Committee
February 2018

Page 87




Holding the Mayor to
account and
Investigating issues
that matter to
Londoners

LONDONASSEMBLY

Page 88



Housing Committee Members

Sian Berry AM
(Chair)
Green

Andrew Boff AM
(Deputy Chairman)
Conservative

Leonie Cooper AM
Labour

Tom Copley AM
Labour

Tony Devenish AM
Conservative

Nicky Gavron AM
Labour

David Kurten AM
UKIP

The Housing Committee scrutinises the Mayor’s role and record in
delivering the private, social and affordable homes London needs.

Contact

Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager

Email: lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 7983 4000

Follow us:
@LondonAssembly  #AssemblyHousing

facebook.com/london.assembly

Page 89

Alison Bell, Communications
Manager

Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk
Telephone: 0207 983 4228



mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly

Contents

FOrEWOId ..o 4
SUMIMIATY ittt et e e s e e s e aa e e e e eaaae s 5
Recommendations........cccceeviiiiiiii 7
1. Background ... 10
2. The property guardians ......ccccveeeeviiieeeeeiiieeeeiiee e, 13
3. The property OWNErS ....cccccevviiieeeeeeeeiiee e 22
4. The property guardian companies......ccccceevvveeereveeeeennnnnn. 25

5. Can change to existing legislation re-balance the

FelatioNShiP?..ccueeee e 29
6. Improving standards within existing legislation ............... 34
(@ 1F] gr=To] o] e Y- Lol o A 38
RefErenCes. ..o 40
Other formats and laNgUAZES .....ccevvvveiiiiiieeeeiieeeeeee e, 45
London Assembly | Housing Committee 3

Page 90



Sian Berry AM

Chair of the Housing Committee

This report is the first comprehensive look by a city or
local government in England at the issue of property
guardianship, and its findings echo many of the issues
for which we have only had anecdotal evidence.

Housing Committee members have heard public

. evidence from local authorities, parliamentarians,
experts in the law and guardian companies as part of our investigation. We
have visited a property occupied by guardians and spoken directly to
guardians themselves on our visit and at City Hall.

We have commissioned independent research which has helped to find out
more about the characteristics of guardians and the issues they face. This
uncovered a different picture from the traditional image of property
guardians as carefree, young people, with most working full time on lower
than average incomes, and ranging in age up to 60.

We found that, as a way of filling empty homes and securing buildings, there
are many advantages for property owners in using temporary guardians.
However, legal grey areas and a lack of information and standards means the
relationship between property guardians and the companies controlling their
homes is currently unbalanced. As this relatively new industry looks set to
grow, with more homes and buildings earmarked for regeneration in future
years, this balance must be reset.

Our recommendations ask the Mayor and local councils to provide more
information and access to advice for property guardians, seek to make sure
guardianship is included in new legislation to ban additional fees to private
renters and give them access to redress schemes, and ask for help for councils
and the London Fire Brigade to enforce good safety standards.

Most importantly, we want the Government to provide more clarity in the
law, so that companies managing buildings have a level playing field when
competing for business, and so that potential property guardians know what
they are getting into and existing guardians know how to exercise their rights.

I’d like to thank all of those who contributed to this investigation.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 4

Page 91



Summary

Property guardianship is a relatively unknown housing choice in the UK but it
is a rapidly growing phenomenon. Property guardianship protects vacant
commercial and residential property by occupation, providing additional short
term accommodation, normally at sub-market rent levels. There are
estimated to be between 5,000 and 7,000 people living as property guardians
in the UK, with London having the lion’s share of that figure. On current
trends, this has the potential to grow dramatically.

Very little has been published about the implications of property guardianship
for those involved, especially the guardians themselves. We commissioned
independent research from the University of York to explore this relatively
new housing phenomenon in more detail. This work, as far as we are aware, is
the largest research project on property guardianship to date. The research
included a survey of current property guardians, mapping of advertised
property guardian opportunities and a discussion with local authorities to
understand their concerns with property guardianship. It is published
alongside this report.

The profile of property guardians has changed significantly in recent years.
Property guardians are no longer just young creatives looking for cheap live-
work space. Today they are often professionals, working full time and ranging
in age from early twenties to over 60. The challenge of affordability in London
is pushing an increasing number of people into guardianship so they can live
in the capital, although some people do seek out these opportunities and
enjoy this way of living.

Until now, the relatively unregulated success and the rapid growth of the
industry has relied on legislative grey areas and an unbalanced relationship
between property guardians, property owners and property guardian
companies. This relationship must be rebalanced and legislation reviewed to
ensure this sector contributes positively to providing housing for Londoners
with more benefits than costs.

There are growing concerns over the expansion of guardianship. Guardianship
offers a licence agreement instead of an Assured Shorthold Tenancy
agreement (AST) commonly found in the private rented sector. These licence
agreements come with very few legal protections compared to ASTs. Those
who are unable to afford the private rented sector, or access other
accommodation, are penalised by their financial situation and accept limited

London Assembly | Housing Committee 5

Page 92



legal rights in return for more affordable accommodation in the property
guardianship industry.

The lack of legal rights may also have a knock-on effect on the condition of
properties occupied by guardians. Guardians commonly complain that
properties are not habitable or kept in a good state of repair. According to our
survey, 22 per cent of guardians are dissatisfied with repairs and maintenance
and 37 per cent of guardians have problems with mould and condensation in
their properties. Unfortunately, guardians are often not making their local
authority aware of poor living conditions; either because they are not aware
they can or they are afraid of losing their licence and being made homeless.
Unlike in the private rented sector, there is no ‘safe space’ for guardians to
highlight complaints or concerns.

Fire safety in properties is also a concern. Most guardians are required to
purchase their own fire safety equipment before they move into a property at
an average cost of £50. This can include a fire alarm, fire blanket and fire
extinguisher. However, guardians, environmental health officers and the
London Fire Brigade are concerned that the packs will not protect guardians
adequately if there is a fire, especially if they are living in a commercial
property.

Local authority enforcement officers and the London Fire Brigade are
struggling to enforce against malpractice in the sector. Current legislation
does not reflect this new housing option and has left a grey area which is
being exploited by guardian companies and property owners to the detriment
of guardians. The Housing Act 2004, the Fire Safety Order 2005 and
accompanying guidance must be revisited to ensure they are still relevant and
protect guardians effectively. The need for planning permission for temporary
change of use must also be clarified.

The industry has recognised the need to improve but requires support from
central government and the Mayor to ensure its reputation does not suffer
more. Some companies are investigating how self-regulation could benefit the
sector. Other companies are working with industry-wide associations to
promote best practice. While we welcome these initiatives by the sector, any
self-regulation needs to be underpinned by clear guidance from the Ministry
for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on minimum
health and safety and housing of multiple occupation standards and whether
planning permission is required in any property occupied by guardians.
Without clear guidance, it will be difficult to raise standards in the industry
and penalise those who flout the law.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 6

Page 93



Recommendations

Recommendation 1

MHCLG should review legislation and guidance (for example, the
Tenant Fees Bill 2017) to see how licensees can benefit from the
improvements made in the private rented sector.

Recommendation 2

The Mayor and MHCLG should provide guidance about the legal
rights of guardians and where guardians can access help.

Recommendation 3

The Mayor should advise councils (especially those that use
property guardians) to ensure the words ‘property guardian’ are
included on all local authority publicly promoted resources on
raising grievances about property standards, fire safety and

environmental health concerns.

Recommendation 4

MHCLG should require all property guardian companies to
register with a recognised property agents redress scheme. This
would allow guardians to raise concerns about a company in a
‘safe space’.

Recommendation 5

The Valuation Office Agency should provide clear guidance on
whether commercial properties that are temporarily occupied
by guardians are entitled to a temporary revaluation from
business rates to council tax. This would ensure property
guardian companies and property owners are aware of the rules
around business rates and council tax.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 7

Page 94



Recommendation 6

MHCLG should clarify whether the Housing Act 2004 is
enforceable against malpractice in the property guardian sector.
MHCLG should revisit the Housing Act 2004 if it is no longer
protecting people effectively.

Recommendation 7

The Mayor should use the London Boroughs’ Private Rented
Sector Partnership to share best practice and lessons learned by
local authorities.

Recommendation 8

MHCLG should provide statutory guidance for environmental
health officers and the London Fire Brigade on how to
effectively deal with buildings occupied by property guardians,
like guidance provided for bedsits and shared accommodation.

Recommendation 9

The Mayor and MHCLG must provide clarity on how local
authority planning departments should handle commercial
properties occupied by property guardians.

Recommendation 10

The Mayor and MHCLG should set out best practice guidance for
local authorities when procuring property guardian services.
Guidance should include a standardised contract between
building owners and guardian companies, which contains a
minimum length of tenure, licence fee setting if applicable, and
clear guidance on repairs and maintenance responsibilities. This
guidance could also form part of the ‘A fairer deal for private
renters and leaseholders’ section of the Mayor’s Housing
Strategy.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 8

Page 95



Recommendation 11

Efforts by guardian companies to introduce common standards
are welcome, but it is important all companies follow them if

they are to be effective. Therefore, the Mayor and Government,
as well as councils who use guardian companies, should look at
what can be done to ensure new standards are applied more
widely.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 9

Page 96



1. Background

Key findings

Property guardianship has grown rapidly in recent
years, and is now found across London.

» Property guardians receive licences instead of
assured shorthold tenancies (ASTs). These offer
considerably less protection than a standard
tenancy agreement.

« The relationship between property guardians,
property owners and property guardian companies
is currently unbalanced.



1.1

1.2

1.3

Background

Property guardianship is a way of protecting vacant property by occupation.
This model of vacant property protection originated in the Netherlands in the
early 1990s as an anti-squatting measure. Property guardianship also provides
accommodation, normally at submarket rent levels, in residential and
commercial buildings.

Living in a property as a guardian is very different from being a tenant in the
private rented sector (PRS). Guardianship offers a licence agreement for
accommodation instead of an Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreement (AST)
which is common in the PRS. These licences have very few legal protections
compared to an AST.

The concept of property guardianship has been relatively unknown in the UK
but it is a growing phenomenon. Property guardian providers estimate that
there are between 5,000 and 7,000 guardians in the UK, with London having
the lion’s share of that figure. A freedom of information request in 2016
showed that there were over 1,000 guardians protecting local authority
property in London alone.! Property guardianship has the potential to become
a much more mainstream form of housing. In the Netherlands, it is becoming
an increasingly popular choice of accommodation, where there are estimated
to be 50,000 people living as guardians.?

Figure 1. Twenty-four out of the 33 London local authorities protected at
least one property by property guardianship in 2016

Legend

No. of buildings occupied
0

I
-0
-2
B s -4
No data
Source: Freedom of Information request, Sian Berry AM, 2016
London Assembly | Housing Committee 11

Page 98



Figure 2. Guardian opportunities can be found across London but are most
common in prime and central locations. There are significant clusters of
advertised guardian places in inner London. These may be linked to large
scale regeneration programmes

Hillingdon

Ealing

Hounslow

Legend
o *  Property guardianship locations
Kingston upon Thames O [ ] Hot Spot - 90% Confidence
i K .‘ Exomey [ Hot Spot - 95% Confidence
° 8 Croydon - Hot Spot - 99% Confidence

Source: University of York, Property Guardianship in London

1.4 Itis important to note that property guardianship is not just a London
phenomenon. Although there is a large concentration of guardians in the
capital, they can be found up and down the country. Urban areas appear to
have the greatest concentration, but it seems this way of securing and
managing empty buildings is also making its way into smaller towns and rural
areas. The committee received evidence to this review from environmental
health officers operating in the coastal town of Great Yarmouth, Norfolk.

1.5 Our investigation has found that property guardianship is not always the ‘win-
win-win’ scenario it is commonly promoted as. The relationship between
property owners, the companies that work for them and the guardians is
unbalanced. Property guardians can live a precarious existence. They are not
protected by legislation or standard practices in the same way that tenants in
the private rented or social rented sector are. This must be reviewed to
ensure property guardians are adequately protected.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 12

Page 99



2. The property
guardians

Key findings

= The profile of property guardians is changing, and is
no longer dominated by young twenty-somethings.

» People are primarily attracted to becoming a
property guardian because of the lower costs when
compared to private renting. However, fees charged
can vary from £195 to £1000 per month.

= Property guardians live in a wide range of buildings,
but most commonly residential or former local
authority properties.

= The average length of stay for a guardian is twelve
months, but some stay as long as six years.

= The current legal status of guardians is unclear.



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Who are London’s property guardians?

Because little is known about guardianship, we commissioned some
independent research to fill the gap. It sets out for the first time who London’s
property guardians are and what life as a guardian is like.

We have found that the profile of property guardians is changing. A wide
range of people are now living as guardians and it is no longer just a choice for
the twenty-something creative looking for a cheap live-work space. Most
guardian companies now require prospective guardians to be in full time
employment, with some even stipulating a minimum income level, before
someone can be considered for a guardianship. This may have a significant
impact on who applies to become a guardian.

The University of York surveyed over 200 property guardians and found
that:

e Most guardians work full time or are self-employed.

e The average guardian income is £24,800 - significantly lower than
the average income in the PRS.

e Guardians can range in age from early twenties (and younger) to mid
to late 60s.

e Guardians spend on average 37 per cent of their income on
accommodation.

e Most guardians are British, Irish or from another white background.

e Men are slightly more likely to be guardians than women.

e Avery low proportion of guardians have a disability.

The survey showed that cheaper housing costs, good locations and the
perceived ‘temporary’ way of living are a draw for some people. Most
companies go through a rigorous application process to make sure the
applicant is the right match for the company and understands what it means
to be a property guardian. Dot Dot Dot3 told us they receive so many
applications that only four per cent are successful and go on to become
guardians.

Is guardianship getting more expensive?

Guardianship can provide low cost accommodation. Some properties are even
advertised at prices comparable to socially-rented accommodation. In
London, this can be a third of the cost of housing in the PRS. Companies that
attended our roundtable said licence fees (charged to the guardian) were on
average £400 a month.*

London Assembly | Housing Committee 14

Page 101



2.5

2.6

2.7

However, there is a large variation in fees charged and they are, in general,
rising. Our survey showed there was a wide range in the cost of licence fees,
from £195 per month to £1,000 per month.® The average licence fee for a
property in London was £475 a month.” And rises in fees of as much as 200
per cent have been reported. One source told us their guardianship fees had
increased from £240 a month including bills in 2009 to £800 excluding bills in
2017.8

Marcel® had a very positive experience of guardianship. He lived in an ex-
office block in the centre of London with 32 other people. He had heard
about guardian schemes from friends and was attracted by the low price.
He found it a great way to meet new people, having just moved to London.
He signed a licence agreement that was comprehensive and well written,
and felt confident in the professionalism of the company. The main ‘duty’
he had as a guardian was double locking the door — failure to do so would
result in expulsion from the building. He lived in the property for nine
months, before having to move out because the property was ready to be
used for another purpose.

Financial pressures are pushing more Londoners to turn to insecure
accommodation like guardianships. Our survey found that the cost of
accommodation was the main reason for becoming a property guardian.
Despite increasing licence fees being charged by guardian companies, the
growing cost of accommodation in the capital is clearly pushing more people
to become guardians out of necessity, not necessarily out of choice.

Figure 3: The cost of accommodation is the primary reason why people
become property guardians

100
80
60

40

No. of guardians

20

0
Cost Space Location Flexibibility Type of Building Charity/ethos

Source: University of York, Property Guardianship in London

Our survey results show that the most common type of opportunities are in
residential and former local authority buildings. However, some guardian
opportunities are in large commercial spaces in prime locations that would
normally be inaccessible in the PRS. These places can provide valuable live-
work space for creatives who may need large spaces to create and store work.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 15

Page 102



2.8

2.9

2.10

Although large spaces can be a positive aspect of living in commercial
properties, guardians who responded to this investigation highlighted they
sometimes must pay business rates for utilities, telephone and internet access
if they are living in an office or shop space. These can be considerably higher
than the cost in a residential building.

The length of time someone spends as a guardian is also much longer than the
presumed ‘temporary’ living ethos would suggest. Our survey found that
guardians were spending on average 12 months in one property, with the
longest duration six years.’

Simon?? has been a guardian for many years, having used several
companies. He enjoyed the flexibility and cheap price when he started as a
guardian, but says the price has increased significantly in the past few years
and the rent is now almost equivalent to market rates. He has had a positive
experience with properties during his time, most of which have been in
good condition. He is currently living in an estate that is being regenerated
by the local council. He has made a concerted effort to get involved in the
community in his current building, helping tenants with problems where he
can. However, he has personally experienced some resentment from
residents who are unhappy about the regeneration of the building. In
addition, the guardians in the building are not allowed access to all the
same services as residents, such as the concierge, which can cause issues
for them.

The hidden costs of being a guardian

Guardian opportunities do not come with a standard AST that you would
commonly find in the PRS. Instead, guardians are issued with licence
agreements which provide very few legal protections. During our committee
meetings, stakeholders have acknowledged that licences do not provide the
same protections as a tenancy and are balanced in favour of the property
owner.!!

The use of licences mean that guardians are not protected in the same way as
regular tenants: for example, deposits paid to secure a licence are not
protected by deposit protection legislation.'? Our research found that a
significant proportion of guardians highlighted delays in getting deposits
returned after leaving a property.'3 Guardians must also continue to pay
substantial fees for administration costs such as referencing, fire safety packs
and criminal reference checks, which can be very expensive — according to our
survey the average cost of these additional fees was £148.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 16

Page 103



2.11 Aslicensees, guardians are not entitled to exclusive possession of their
accommodation. This means that day to day, the guardian company can
access a guardian’s room or accommodation at any point. This also means
that guardian companies can increase the number of guardians in a property
without notice or permission from the current residents. Survey responses
and written submissions to the investigation highlighted that the implications
of not having exclusive possession of a property meant that guardians felt
distressed when inspections took place without warning.

2.12 Property guardians are protected by the Protection from Eviction Act 1977.%4
This means that guardian companies are legally required to give a guardian 28
days’ notice as a minimum before they have to leave a property. All guardian
companies that attended the roundtable discussion confirmed that guardians
must be given at least 28 days’ notice and this was echoed in the written
evidence.'® However, nearly 10 per cent of guardians that responded to our
survey highlighted several occasions where guardian companies were not
adhering to the legal minimum of 28 days’ notice.*®

Harry!” heard about a guardian property becoming available through a
friend, who had been told it was ready for people to move in. He moved
into the property without signing a licence agreement but was told that
they would be offered something to sign shortly. Harry said that when he
moved in it was clear that “the squatters had moved out the day before”. A
few weeks later, Harry came home to find that the electricity in the building
wasn’t working. He went to inspect the basement and found that the
electric system was on fire. Harry called the fire brigade and was forced to
leave the property. Harry’s contact at the guardian company told him he
would be re-housed in a different property which would be a “big upgrade”
rent free, if they kept quiet about what had happened. Harry and his friends
lived in the new property for four months’ rent free before the company
suddenly asked for the backdated rent payments which they had been
promised would be free. They left the property and have stopped contact
with the company.

A licence or tenancy?

2.13 Legislation around the status of guardians and their licence agreements was
recently called into question, highlighting the unclear legal status of
guardians. The Camelot vs Roynon 2017 case, heard in Bristol County Court,
showed that a guardian can be a tenant despite being given a licence.!® This
case rested on a previous case, Street vs Mountford 1985, which ruled that a
licence could constitute a tenancy if the licensee met three conditions.
According the Street vs Mountford 1985 case, ‘to constitute a tenancy the

London Assembly | Housing Committee 17

Page 104



2.14

2.15

occupier must be granted exclusive possession for a fixed or periodic term
certain in consideration of a premium or periodical payments.’*® The 2017
case found that the guardian had met all three conditions of a tenancy and
was entitled to the same rights given to a tenant.

Tenancies are protected by a wider range of legislation which provides greater
protection for tenants. For example, a tenant must be given at least two
months’ notice before being asked to leave a property. Any deposit paid to a
landlord must be protected in an approved tenancy deposit scheme. A tenant
has the right to exclusive possession of a property. A tenancy also imposes
repairing obligations on the landlord (this could be the property owner or
guardian company). If the landlord does not carry out the repairs a tenant can
get an injunction against the landlord to carry out the repairs and may be
entitled to damages.?° These measures would more than likely cost the
property owner and the guardian company more and could potentially make
the guardianship sector less flexible.

The Camelot vs Roynon ruling has shone a light on this legislative grey area
but may have negative implications for other guardians. After the ruling,
Bristol City Council decided to take back control of its vacant property
protected by property guardians and is set to demolish all ten buildings.?! The
ruling was important to many guardian companies and local authorities who
engaged with this investigation. Many guardian companies and property
owners have now sought further legal advice to ensure they do not
inadvertently grant a guardian a tenancy (with more legal rights) instead of a
licence.

Recommendation 1

MHCLG should review legislation and guidance (for example, the Tenant

Fees Bill 2017) to see how licensees can benefit from the improvements
made in the private rented sector.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 18

Page 105



Does lower cost accommodation mean low
property standards?

2.16 Our research and the comments we received from guardians giving evidence
to our committee found that guardian properties are sometimes not habitable
or kept in a good state of repair despite regular property inspections. The
committee heard from several guardians how repairs were often completed
to a poor standard, if followed up at all.

“Our roof has leaked in heavy rain since we moved in. The guardian
company and the [property owner] know this, and have never fully
resolved the matter. Currently we have a serious problem with rats
getting into the property, via broken sewerage, and broken doors/walls.
[The property guardian company] are being extremely slow and
reluctant to resolve this. We've done work ourselves to try to prevent the
rats getting in, including boarding and cementing some holes. These
buildings are large and virtually impossible to keep clean.”?

The University of York survey found that:

e 22 per cent of guardians were dissatisfied with the repairs and
maintenance of their property, which is similar to dissatisfaction
levels in the PRS.

e 37 per cent of guardians had problems with incidences of mould and
condensation. This is much higher than properties in the PRS (ten
per cent).

e 62 per cent of guardians could keep their bedroom warm but only
45 per cent of guardians could keep their living areas warm.

e 47 per cent of guardians had bought some form of portable heater
to keep warm.

e 96 per cent of guardians had access to a smoke alarm.

e Issues with waste collection and vermin were also highlighted in the
survey.

2.17 Guardians are not coming forward to raise concerns about the condition of
properties. Some licence agreements contain clauses that explicitly state that
guardians are not allowed to speak to the property owner or the local
authority about their experiences. Some licence agreements go further,
implying that guardians have no rights to speak out about concerns either
with the company or the property. Others contain gagging clauses which
prevent guardians talking to the media about their experiences. This means
guardians do not know whether they can speak out, or choose not to speak
out in fear of losing their licence and being made homeless. The committee

London Assembly | Housing Committee 19

Page 106



heard that these clauses may not be legally enforceable. According to Caroline
Hunter “there is a case that could be made that it is not a reasonable clause”??
to be included within a licence agreement.

2.18 Empowering guardians would help them to raise concerns about the property
they are living in, or about the actions of the company. Providing information
on a guardian’s rights, much like the information available to tenants in the
PRS, would allow them to challenge actions and accommodation that is not
appropriate or suitable, or in some cases unsafe or illegal. Lord Kennedy of
Southwark highlights the need for guardians to know their rights to ensure
that these rights are enforced:

“The legislation may well be there and the guidance is there, but people
often do not know what their rights are. It is ensuring that through
various means people understand what their rights are and what their
protections are and they know where to go to get those enforced.”?*

Cherry?> has been living in a centrally located guardian property for four
months. She became a guardian because it allowed her to live in a space
large enough for her to carry out her work at cheaper prices than the
private rented sector. The building was occupied by ten live-in guardians
while the owner waited for planning permission for a new development.
Cherry described the building as “very old”, in bad condition, and
unoccupied for two years. There is a large sign at the entrance to the
building (and in her contract) that says, ‘do not contact the council’ about
any issues they have with the property and do not speak to the press.
Cherry enjoyed the space for the first week before severe plumbing leaks
started happening, with water pouring through the ceiling into Cherry’s flat,
near to electrical wires. When the toilet in Cherry’s flat broke she contacted
the guardian company and was told to “use your neighbours’ toilet”. There
are now only a few people left in the building — most have left because of
the poor conditions.

2.19 Unlike the PRS, there is no ‘safe space’ for guardians to highlight complaints
or concerns. There is no redress scheme for this sector, unlike the PRS where
all agents must join an authorised consumer redress scheme.?® Expanding the
reach of services such as the Housing Ombudsman to property guardians
would provide a space for guardians to raise concerns about a guardian
company.

Recommendation 2

The Mayor and MHCLG should provide guidance about the legal rights of
guardians and where guardians can access help.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 20

Page 107



Recommendation 3

The Mayor should advise councils (especially those that use property
guardians) to ensure the words ‘property guardian’ are included on all local
authority publicly promoted resources on raising grievances about property
standards, fire safety and environmental health concerns.

Recommendation 4

MHCLG should require all property guardian companies to register with a
recognised property agents redress scheme. This would allow guardians to
raise concerns about a company in a ‘safe space’.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 21

Page 108



3. The property
owners

Key findings

» Property guardians protect a range of buildings,
including those owned by local authorities,
investment funds and charities.

Owners use guardians to physically protect the
building and to generate financial savings.

It can save on a number of costs for property
owners, including business rates.



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

Using guardians to protect property

Property guardians protect residential and commercial buildings owned by a
wide range of property owners, including local authorities, developers,
investment funds and charities.?’” Research commissioned for this report
shows that guardian opportunities are growing and can be found across
London, not only in central locations. In the space of two weeks, over 370 new
advertisements for guardianships were listed across London.?®

Property owners use guardians to physically protect a given property and to
generate financial savings. Property guardianship can provide better
protection from anti-social behaviour (ASB), squatting, property fraud and
metal theft than other forms of vacant property security such as metal
shutters, CCTV and staffing properties with guards. London Borough (LB) of
Tower Hamlets welcomed this method of property protection as it provides a
financial saving and is more effective at preventing ASB.%°

Property guardians ensure that the fabric of the building is maintained.
Repairs and concerns are reported far earlier than under other methods of
property protection.3° Guardians can also maintain gardens which can
become overgrown and run down on long-term regeneration sites.3!

Guardianship can provide an income for property owners. Some property
owners, including local authorities, receive a proportion of the licence fees
paid by guardians. For example, LB Camden receives a proportion of the
licence fee from the provider, with estimated income of around £250,000 per
annum.3? This kind of arrangement may be why the cost of licence fees has
increased in recent years compared with when companies charged a fee to
the property owner or provided security at no cost.

The use of guardians can also provide a financial saving compared to other
physical property protection measures. In some cases, guardianship can save
up to £2,000 per week compared with using professional guards, or up to
£400 compared with using physical steel protection and alarms.33
Guardianship can also reduce a commercial building’s insurance premium by
up to 50 per cent.?* Some boroughs are therefore saving thousands of pounds
a month by using property guardians to protect their vacant property.3 LB
Lambeth agreed, “from a council perspective the primary driver is cost, using
property guardians is significantly less expensive than any other security
method.”36

Property guardians can also relieve the burden of council tax for empty
residential buildings for property owners. The cost of council tax usually falls
to the guardian or the guardian company, providing significant financial
savings for the property owner. According to Metropolitan Housing
Association, this is especially important in a regeneration site where there are
a substantial proportion of vacant buildings which are being charged

London Assembly | Housing Committee 23

Page 110



3.7

3.8

3.9

expensive vacant council tax rates.3’ Local authorities also continue to receive
an income through council tax payments for occupied residential buildings.

Guardianship can also provide savings on empty business rates for
commercial property. In theory, when a vacant commercial building is
occupied by property guardians the property’s use changes to residential.
According to the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) a ‘property is domestic if it is
used as living accommodation, so there is no reason why such a scheme
should not succeed in reducing tax liability’.3® This means that the property
should be revalued as residential (and so pay council tax) instead of
commercial (when it paid business rates). Council tax is much cheaper than
business rates and is normally paid for by the guardian or the guardian
company. A property owner can save up to 90 per cent of their business rates
bill this way.

The publicised benefits (the change from business rates to council tax) may
not, however, always come to fruition for property owners. There are
concerns over the transfer from business rates to council tax as the VOA takes
a long time to revalue a property even if it is only being used for a brief
period.3? According to LB Lambeth, the delays are so severe that they are
currently paying business rates on properties that have been occupied by
guardians for many months.° LB Lambeth are awaiting a decision from the
High Court in 2018 which will be the benchmark for the VOAs view on
temporary change of use. Depending on the verdict, it may affect the financial
incentives for using guardians to live-in vacant properties.

Recommendation 5

The Valuation Office Agency should provide clear guidance on whether
commercial properties that are temporarily occupied by guardians are

entitled to a temporary revaluation from business rates to council tax. This
would ensure property guardian companies and property owners are aware
of the rules around business rates and council tax.

It is important to note that vacant local authority residential buildings can also
be used for much needed temporary accommodation for people at risk of, or
suffering from, homelessness. Local authorities such as LB Lambeth*! and LB
Camden®? strive to do this where possible. However, since properties let out
for temporary accommodation must meet higher ‘Decent Homes' standards it
is sometimes financially prohibitive. For example, a pilot scheme in Camden
showed that it would cost on average £22,000 to bring regeneration flats
being used for guardian accommodation up to an appropriate standard for
tenancy-based letting.*?

London Assembly | Housing Committee 24

Page 111



4. The property
guardian
companies

Key findings

» Property guardianship companies say that their
model is a solution to buildings lying empty.

« There are various business models currently in use
across London, including requiring voluntary work
as part of guardianship.

« The property guardianship industry is growing
rapidly.

«  Maintenance and property standards vary across
the sector.



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The property guardian companies

Property guardian companies broker relationships between property owners
and prospective guardians. Companies provide a range of vacant property
protection services, for example professional guards and steel shutters, or
increasingly just property guardianship. According to Dot Dot Dot, ‘the core
role of a property guardian is to secure the building they live in.”** This was
echoed by all property guardian companies that engaged with our
investigation.

Many guardian companies argue that property guardianship makes efficient
use of London’s vacant property but some recognise guardianship is insecure
and not an ideal way to provide accommodation. According to Interim Spaces,
‘property guardianship is not a solution to the housing crisis, but is a sensible
solution to empty buildings — particularly, in our view — residential
buildings.’#

Figure 4. Property guardianship companies act as intermediaries between
property owners and prospective guardians

Property owner/manager .

[ Authorisation agreement

Property Guardianship company

[ Temporary occupation licence

Property guardian .

Source: Ferreri et. al (2017) Living precariously: property guardianship and the flexible city

Property guardian companies have different business models. Some guardian
companies receive a fee from the property owner and a licence fee from the
guardian. Others provide the service free of charge for the property owner
and only receive the licence fee from the guardian. A third category pay a fee
to the property owner and receive the licence fee from the guardian.

Some guardian companies build in charity and volunteering initiatives to their
operations. Volunteering is mandatory for Dot Dot Dot, which requires
guardians to volunteer in the local area for 16 hours per month.*® According
to LB Croydon, Dot Dot Dot’s focus on volunteering gives the borough peace
of mind that the guardians will look after the building they occupy.*’ Bow
Arts*® also encourages its guardians to volunteer in the community (although
this is not mandatory). Bow Arts has established an ‘Arts Chest’*® that
provides an independent source of funding for community creative activity.>°
Bow Arts estimates that for every pound invested, a further three pounds in

London Assembly | Housing Committee 26

Page 113



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

funding and community value is generated.>! For example Mobhila Creations, a
Community Interest Company set up for and by Bangladeshi mothers, has
delivered creative activity supported by Bow Arts for six years, and other
projects have given media skills training to local young people.

Guardianship is a growing industry

The property guardianship sector is growing rapidly. Twenty-one out of the
31 companies offering property guardian services have formed since 2009,>?
and most only operate in London. Low levels of regulation provide few
barriers to entering the sector for prospective companies.

Demand from both property owners and prospective guardians is high and
growing. For one guardian company, demand from building owners for
property guardian services had increased by 15 per cent since 2011 and
demand from guardians seeking places to live had increased by 20 per cent
over the same period.>3 For another, demand had increased four-fold since
2011, which they attribute to the increased cost of business rates on empty
buildings in many local authorities.>*

Ensuring properties are fit for human habitation

Property guardians can occupy a range of buildings in differing states of
repair. According to one company, ‘as long as the property is water and
airtight and has electricity and hot water, there is no reason for us not to put
guardians in it.”>> Guardian companies and/or property owners take steps to
ensure a property is fit for human habitation and is ‘safe, warm and dry’.
These steps include: fire risk assessments, electrical and gas safety tests and
legionella tests.

Despite this, guardians continue to complain about the poor standard of
properties. According to our survey one in five guardians was dissatisfied with
the repairs and maintenance of their property. And one in three guardians
had problems with mould and condensation in their properties.>®

Companies attempt to handle this by carrying out regular weekly and monthly
inspections to ensure that minimum standards are maintained throughout the
life of guardian occupation.®’ These visits also ensure that companies do not
inadvertently allow a guardian to have exclusive possession of a property.
These inspections can be done by an external company, for example, Essential
Safety Products carries out inspections on behalf of Global Guardians,®® or by
the company themselves, for example Dot Dot Dot.>® Ad Hoc even have a 24-
hour call centre for out of hours issues.®°

Some guardian companies also use ‘head guardians’ to ensure minimum
standards are maintained in a property. The ‘head guardian’ can act as a first
port of call for the guardian company and other guardians. They may also

London Assembly | Housing Committee 27

Page 114



4.11

have additional accountabilities such as ensuring guardians are aware of the
health and safety and fire safety procedures in return for a reduced licence
fee.

The condition of homes offered by guardian companies is often not
acceptable to guardians, and falls below the level expected of the private
rented sector. The reputation of the industry may suffer if more is not done to
increase standards.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 28

Page 115



5. Can change to
existing legislation
re-balance the
relationship?

Key findings

= Property guardians can lose out from grey areas in
current legislation.

= Clarifying legislation would redress the imbalance
between guardians, owners and property guardian
companies.

= Property guardians are often required to purchase
additional fire safety packs, at extra cost to them.
However, there are still concerns about fire safety in
guardian protected properties, particularly
commercial units.



51

5.2

53

5.4

5.5

Guardianship under the existing legislation

Our investigation has found that the success and rise of the property
guardianship sector has been possible because of legislative grey areas and an
unbalanced relationship between property guardians, property guardian
companies and property owners. In many cases, this relationship does not
create a ‘win-win-win’, with the property guardians themselves generally
being the party which loses out.

It is unclear whether legislation such as the Housing Act 2004 can protect
property guardians effectively. The welfare of guardians and the sustainability
of the sector will be adversely affected if legislation is not able to protect
guardians or is not being enforced effectively by local authorities and the
London Fire Brigade. Clarifying the legislation would improve how local
authority environmental health officers and the London Fire Brigade enforce
against malpractice in the sector, rebalancing the relationship between
property owner, guardian company and guardian.

Is the Housing Act 2004 fit for this changing market?

The Housing Act 2004 sets out minimum property standards for all residential
accommodation in England and Wales. All properties (residential or
commercial) must pass housing health and safety rating system inspections
and be free of category one hazards.®! Properties occupied as a house in
multiple occupation (HMO)®2 should be licenced and meet the minimum
washing and cooking facilities stipulated in the Act.

Some guardian companies are not aware, or do not think, they should meet
these standards, especially in commercial properties.®® According to one
company, this is because there is no mention of property guardians in any
legislation, including the Housing Act, meaning that standards are not being
applied by all providers. Another guardian company agreed, stating that ‘with
no current barriers to enter the marketplace, there is no legislation to ensure
the safety and protection of live-in guardians.’®

Some local authorities are holding guardian companies to account. Different
methods of enforcement of the Act by local authorities add to the confusion.
There appears to be no common enforcement procedure used by local
authorities so it is not clear what, if any, standards guardian companies must
meet.®® This creates confusion for property guardian companies about what
the minimum property standards are, especially if the company is operating in
several different boroughs.®® According to the Chartered Institute of
Environmental Health, guardian companies’ response to enforcement tends
to be to reduce the number of people in the building so it no longer falls
under a HMO designation, or simply to board up the building.®” Enforcing can
be difficult in local authority owned commercial and residential property if it is
in the officer’s borough, as an officer from that borough may be unable to

London Assembly | Housing Committee 30

Page 117



5.6

5.7

5.8

59

enforce against themselves.®® We heard about the difficulties for local
councils in being made aware when a guardian company is protecting a
property. There is no requirement that local authorities are told about this so
enforcement currently is reactive and no checks take place before occupation
by guardians.

Some guardian companies have called for a recognised minimum standard for
properties occupied by guardians to be introduced.®® These companies
recognise that some in the industry do not meet the minimum standards set
out in the Act for the reasons above. This has been echoed by local
authorities, such as LB Camden, who have called for standard guidelines and
minimum standards for properties.’°

All properties occupied by guardians should be covered under the Act, even
though the words ‘property guardian’ do not feature explicitly in it. The
Housing Act 2004 must be revisited as it is not immediately clear that it is
enforceable on properties that are occupied by guardians, especially for
environmental health measures. An amendment to the Housing Act 2004 may
be needed to ensure that it is enforceable.

Recommendation 6

MHCLG should clarify whether the Housing Act 2004 is enforceable against
malpractice in the property guardian sector. MHCLG should revisit the
Housing Act 2004 if it is no longer protecting people effectively.

Recommendation 7

The Mayor should use the London Boroughs’ Private Rented Sector
Partnership to share best practice and lessons learned by local authorities.

Fire safety issues in guardian properties

The London Fire Brigade has concerns about guardian-occupied property.’! Its
main concerns relate to inadequate fire alarm provision and fire exits, despite
companies being legally required to carry out fire risk assessments.”> MHCLG
has published guidance about completing fire safety risk assessments for
people responsible for sleeping accommodation; however, clarity is needed
on what guidance should be used for different properties — especially
commercial buildings.

Most guardians are required to purchase their own fire safety equipment
before they move into a property. This can include a fire alarm, fire blanket
and fire extinguisher. Guardian companies charge in the region of £50 for a
pack. However, guardians, environmental health officers and the London Fire

London Assembly | Housing Committee 31

Page 118



Brigade are concerned that the packs will not protect guardians adequately if
there is a fire, especially if they are living in a commercial property.

Figure 5. Most guardians have a smoke alarm and fire extinguisher.

Ladder

Sprinkler system

Other fire safety equipment
Planned escape route

Heat sensor

Fire blanket

Fire escape

Fire door

Fire extinguisher

Smoke alarm

10 20 30 40 50

D
o
~
o
(0]
o
Yo
o

100

Source: University of York, Property Guardianship in London

5.10 The London Fire Brigade can enforce against a property occupied by property
guardians if it deems the property to be unsafe, using the Fire Safety Order
2005. It can issue a prohibition order which can take immediate effect if the
risk to life is so serious it is not safe to be in the building. However, it is much
harder to force improvements in a property as the London Fire Brigade must
give the property owner 28 days’ notice, and by that time the company may
have removed the guardians.

Case study: Making sure properties occupied by guardians are fire safe

The London Fire Brigade inspected a commercial office building for fire
safety. The building covered seven floors (basement, ground and five
floors). The inspecting officer found that the building’s automatic fire
detection system was not working and access routes were blocked with
furniture, storage and some appliances. The officer also found there was no
evidence of any maintenance, electrical wiring or appliance testing, nor
instruction to residents on how to use appliances. The London Fire Brigade
served a prohibition notice on the property.”3

The London Fire Brigade inspected of a former pub for fire safety. The
accommodation covered four floors and was home to 12 property
guardians. The inspecting officer found no working fire alarm in the
accommodation, damaged fire doors and poorly maintained electrical
appliances. An enforcement notice was issued to the property guardian
company who then went on to fix the fire alarm and carry out essential
maintenance within two hours.”

London Assembly | Housing Committee 32

Page 119



Recommendation 8

MHCLG should provide statutory guidance for environmental health officers

and the London Fire Brigade on how to effectively deal with buildings
occupied by property guardians, like guidance provided for bedsits and
shared accommodation.

Confusion over planning rules

5.11 Local authorities, property owners and guardian companies need clarity on
whether a planning application is needed for a temporary change of use for
commercial properties occupied by guardians.”® Knowing whether you need
planning permission for a temporary change of use is confusing. According to
the National Planning Policy Framework, you need planning permission to
change from one use class to another —i.e. from commercial to residential —
class A, B or D must receive permission before being changed to class C. For
example, if a school was to change its use to residential it must get planning
permission to do so.

5.12 In some cases, you do not need planning permission to change use from
commercial to residential. The extension of permitted development rights in
2015 mean that the use of offices can be changed without planning
permission. However, some boroughs introduced Article 4 directions’® which
mean that planning permission must still be gained before an office can go
through a change of use. Temporary Exemption Notices can also be given if
planning applications had already been made for a period of up to two years.

5.13 The Chartered Institute of Environmental Health stated that planning
applications for a change of use would be necessary in most commercial
buildings. However, guardian companies said that planning applications were
unnecessary as they were just used for short term.

Recommendation 9

The Mayor and MHCLG must provide clarity on how local authority planning

departments should handle commercial properties occupied by property
guardians.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 33

Page 120



6. Improving
standards within
existing legislation

Key findings

» Local authorities and registered social landlords can
improve the situation for property guardians
through better contracting with property guardian
companies.

« Self-regulation can also play a part, and there are
industry standards beginning to emerge.



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Improving standards

Legislative change can take a long time to come to fruition; however, there
are several more immediate steps property owners and guardian companies
can take to bring about improvements in the sector.

Raising standards through contract management

Local authorities and Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) make up a substantial
proportion of guardian companies’ business so they are in a good place to
raise standards in the sector. According to one commentator ‘clients, local
authorities and public institutions have the opportunity to hold the sector
accountable and promote more secure and appropriate forms of temporary
housing.””’

Setting up the right contract between the property owner and the guardian
company can ensure good practice is maintained and guardians are protected.
According to LB Sutton, ‘the best and worst practice relates to management
arrangements for the property and communication with the landlord.’”® This
is especially important when the owner is the local authority.

There are already examples of how local authorities and RSLs are already
using contracts to improve standards in the sector:

e Metropolitan Housing Association holds regular meetings with its
guardian company to ensure minimum standards are maintained.”®

e LB Camden used a range of guardian providers but standards were not
consistent across its property portfolio so they procured a contract
with a single provider. This contract includes clauses on rent setting
and overcrowding. The local authority also carries out assessments of
privately owned properties before guardians move in.8°

e LB Lambeth insists on gas, electric and legionella certificates being
obtained by companies before buildings are occupied. The guardian
company then undertakes regular inspections and can access a fund
for a payment of up to £500 for emergency repairs if needed.?!

London Assembly | Housing Committee 35

Page 122



6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

Recommendation 10

The Mayor and MHCLG should set out best practice guidance for local
authorities when procuring property guardian services. Guidance should
include a standardised contract between building owners and guardian

companies, which contains a minimum length of tenure, licence fee setting
if applicable, and clear guidance on repairs and maintenance
responsibilities. This guidance could also form part of the ‘A fairer deal for
private renters and leaseholders’ section of the Mayor’s Housing Strategy.

Raising standard through self-regulation

During our investigation we heard guardians, companies and property owners
alike call for better regulation in the sector. All parties hope that regulation
would prevent less reputable companies from taking advantage of legislative
grey areas.®? Some guardian companies are now beginning to recognise this
need and taking steps to self-regulate to improve conditions.

Improving conditions in the sector has become a priority for some companies.
Some companies (for example, Ad Hoc and Dot Dot Dot) have launched their
own guardian charters to increase transparency and help guardians hold them
to account.®3

Seven guardian companies have recently formed an informal working group
they hope to turn into a self-regulated Guardian Association. Parts of the
industry are also considering the use of good practice guidance. The British
Security Industry Association has developed a British Standard Vacant
Property Protection Code of Practice. This code of practice outlines minimum
maintenance, contract management, statutory compliance and inspections.

Improving the Netherland’s property guardianship sector

The Netherland’s property guardian sector has formed the Keurmerk
Leegstandbeheer (KLB), an independent property guardian regulator. KLB
sets standards, issues approval marks, manages the registry of companies
and monitors whether companies comply with stipulated standards. These
checks are carried out by an external party. KLB also has a central
complaints board for owners, guardians and companies. Companies pay a
one-off fee to join KLB and then an annual fee thereafter. However, KLB
membership is not mandatory.

When increasing regulation, it will be important to keep in mind the benefits
the sector offers, including keeping empty properties in use and offering
flexible ways to live, while making sure it is safe and fit for purpose. Any

London Assembly | Housing Committee 36

Page 123



legislation or regulation must not squeeze companies entirely out of the
sector and leave properties empty that could provide homes for Londoners.

6.9 According to Ad Hoc, the key foundation of the industry is the flexibility that it
offers. This could be damaged or reduced if local authorities and central
government simply applied the same legislation and regulation that exists for
the traditional PRS market.8* This was echoed by LB Sutton which said,
‘flexibility is one of the key benefits of the model and to lose it would be a
significant disadvantage to landlords who might need to turn away from the
industry.’®

Improving France’s property guardianship sector

France has trialled new legislation, ‘Protection and Preservation of Empty
Spaces by Occupation of Temporary Residents’, which runs until 31
December 2018. It sets out mandatory contractual agreements between
the property owner and company, a maximum length of contract between
guardian and company and maximum licence fee.

6.10 Self-regulation has the potential to improve a range of issues that property
guardians and property owners have highlighted. While we welcome these
initiatives by the sector, any self-regulation needs to be underpinned by clear
guidance from MHCLG on minimum health and safety and HMO standards
and whether planning permission is required in any property occupied by
guardians. The recommendations in this report seek to do just that.

Recommendation 11

Efforts by guardian companies to introduce common standards are
welcome, but it is important all companies follow them if they are to be

effective. Therefore, the Mayor and Government, as well as councils who
use guardian companies, should look at what can be done to ensure new
standards are applied more widely.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 37

Page 124



Our approach

The Housing Committee agreed the following terms of reference for this
investigation:

e To identify the extent of property guardianship in London, highlight
good and bad practice and emerging self-regulation in the sector

e To examine the impact of property guardianship on Londoners,
including local authorities, communities, businesses and property
security companies

e To consider the effectiveness of current legislation and whether it
protects property guardians adequately

The committee comissioned research from the University of York, carried out
by Professor Caroline Hunter and Jed Meers. This research is published in full
alongside this report.

At its public evidence sessions, the committee took oral evidence from the
following guests:

e Professor Caroline Hunter and Jed Meers, York Law School, University of
York

e Lord Kennedy of Southwark, Shadow Spokesperson (Communities and
Local Government, Housing and Home Affairs) and Opposition Whip
(Lords)

e Rubina Nisar, Valuation and Strategic Assets, London Borough of
Lambeth

e Jon Castine, Environmental Health Officer, Westminster City Council

e Stuart Woolgar, Representative of the BSIA Vacant Property Protection
section, and Director of Global Guardians

The committee also met informally with several current and former property
guardians, and property guardianship companies.

During the investigation, the committee also received written submissions
from the following organisations (or representatives of):

e Ad Hoc

London Assembly | Housing Committee 38

Page 125



e Bowarts

e Camelot Europe

e Cardiff University

e Chartered Institute of Environmental Health
e City of London

e Dot Dot Dot

e Global Guardians

e Great Yarmouth Borough Council
e Guardians of London

e |nterim Spaces

e LB Camden

e LB Lambeth

e LB Redbridge

e LB Sutton

e LB Tower Hamlets

e Living Guardians

e London School of Economics

e Lowe Guardians

e Metropolitan Housing Association
e Property Guardians UK

e SQUASH

e Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona
e Vacant Space

e Vigilance Protects

e VPS Guardians

The committee would like to thank Charlotte Harrison for her work on this
project.

London Assembly | Housing Committee 39

Page 126



References

! Sian Berry, Freedom of Information Request, 2016

2 Huisman, C. (2016) A silent shift? The precarisation of the Dutch rental
housing market, Journal of Housing and the built environment (31), pp. 93-

106.

3 Dot Dot Dot are a property guardian company operating in London and the
South East.

4 Private roundtable, July 2017

> The name has been changed.

® Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London
7 Ibid

8 Anonymous property guardian submission

% Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London

10 The name has been changed.

11 Written submission from Professor Mark Jayne, Cardiff University
12 Caroline Hunter, Housing Committee meeting, 5 September 2017
13 Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London
1 Caroline Hunter, Housing Committee meeting, 5 September 2017
15 Multiple guardian companies

6 Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London

7 The name has been changed.

18 Bristol County Court, 2017, Judgement of Claim Number C01BS354

London Assembly | Housing Committee 40

Page 127


http://431bj62hscf91kqmgj258yg6-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CamelotvRoyon.pdf

19 Bristol County Court, 2017, Judgement of Claim Number C01BS354

20 Giles Peaker and Andrew Arden, November 2017, The law on property
guardianship: A white paper setting out the health, safety and legal status

of security through occupation.

21 Bristol Post, 2017, Will the council ending the Property Guardian scheme

make 150 people homeless?

22 Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London
23 Caroline Hunter, Housing Committee meeting, 5 September 2017

24 Lord Kennedy of Southwark, Housing Committee meeting, 5 September

2017

2> The name has been changed.

26 | ord Kennedy of Southwark, Housing Committee meeting, 5 September

2017

27 Written submission from Lowe Guardians

28 Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London
29 Written submission from London Borough of Tower Hamlets

30 Written submission from London Borough of Tower Hamlets

31 Written submission from Metropolitan Housing Association

32 L. ondon Borough of Camden, 2016, Scrutiny Update — Temporary

Property Guardians

33 Written submission from VPS

3% Written submission from VPS

35 Written submission from London Borough of Tower Hamlets

36 Written submission from London Borough of Lambeth

London Assembly | Housing Committee 41

Page 128


http://431bj62hscf91kqmgj258yg6-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CamelotvRoyon.pdf
http://www.bristolpost.co.uk/news/bristol-news/council-ending-property-guardian-scheme-120974
http://www.bristolpost.co.uk/news/bristol-news/council-ending-property-guardian-scheme-120974

37 Written submission from Metropolitan Housing Association

38 valuation Office Agency, 2014, Council Tax Manual

39 Rubina Nisar, London Borough of Lambeth, Housing Committee meeting,

5 September 2017
40 Written submission from London Borough of Lambeth

41 London Borough of Camden, 2016, Scrutiny Update — Temporary

Property Guardians and London Borough of Lambeth, 2017, Property

Guardian services

42 London Borough of Camden, 2016, Scrutiny Update — Temporary

Property Guardians

43 |bid

4% Written submission from Dot Dot Dot

4> Written submission from Interim spaces
46 Written submission from Dot Dot Dot

47 Discussion during site visit to a disused school owned by the London

Borough of Croydon and managed by Dot Dot Dot.

48 Bow Arts is a social enterprise that aims to create sustainable creative
communities, including guardianship opportunities.

>0 Written submission from Bow Arts
>1 ibid
>2 Ferreri, M., Dawson, G. and Vasudevan, A. (2017), Living precariously:

property guardianship and the flexible city. Trans Inst Br Geogr, 42: 246—
259. doi:10.1111/tran.12162

33 Written submission from Global Guardians

London Assembly | Housing Committee 42

Page 129


http://manuals.voa.gov.uk/corporate/publications/Manuals/CouncilTaxManual/council_tax_man_pn/ct-man-pn8.html#P471_61600
https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/elections-and-council/about-lambeth/property-guardian-services
https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/elections-and-council/about-lambeth/property-guardian-services

>4 Written submission from Guardians of London

> |bid

>¢ Hunter, C and Meers, J. (2017) Property Guardianship in London
>7 Numerous guardian company submissions

>8 Written submission from Global Guardians

>9 Written submission from Dot Dot Dot

60 Written submission from Ad Hoc

61 Written submission from the Chartered Institute of Environmental
Health
62 A house in multiple occupation is a property rented out by at least 3

people who are not from one ‘household’ (e.g. a family) but share facilities
like the bathroom and kitchen. It’s sometimes called a ‘house share’.

63 Private roundtable, July 2017
64 Written submission from

® Private roundtable, July 2017
66 private roundtable, July 2017

67 Written submission from the Chartered Institute of Environmental

Health

68 Jon Castine, Westminster City Council, Housing Committee meeting, 5

September 2017
69 Written submission from Global Guardians

0 London Borough of Camden, 2016, Scrutiny Update — Temporary

Property Guardians

"1 Meeting with Nicholas Coombe, London Fire Brigade, September 2017

London Assembly | Housing Committee 43

Page 130



2 |bid
3 Meeting with Nicholas Coombe, London Fire Brigade, January 2018
74 |bid

75 \Written submission from the Chartered Institute for Environmental

Health

6 An Article 4 direction is a special planning regulation adopted by a Local
Planning Authority in all or part of their borough. It operates by removing
permitted development rights from whatever is specified in the Article 4
direction.

7 Ferreri, M., Dawson, G. and Vasudevan, A. (2017), Living precariously:
property guardianship and the flexible city. Trans Inst Br Geogr, 42: 246—
259. doi:10.1111/tran.12162

8 Written submission from London Borough of Sutton
9 Written submission from Metropolitan Housing Association

80 London Borough of Camden, 2016, Scrutiny Update — Temporary

Property Guardians

81 1bid

82 Written submission from Guardians of London

83 Written submission from Ad Hoc and Dot Dot Dot
84 Written submission from Ad hoc

85 Written submission from London Borough of Sutton

London Assembly | Housing Committee 44

Page 131



Other formats and

languages

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or

braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then

please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email:
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.

Chinese

QR EE X AR ST A (R A,

i B R R R AT B LT AR AL ) R 27 Hbohl B
Email SEANEER .

Viethamese

Néu ong (ba) muén ndi dung vin ban nay dugc dich sang
tiéng Viét, xin vui long lién hé vai chiing t6i bang dién
thoai, thur hodc thu dién tir theo dia chi & trén.

Greek

Edv emBupceite mepiAnyn aurou rou Kepévou oty yAdooa
oag, TapakaAu KaAESTE Tov aplBud ij emKovwviare padi
pag ornv avwrépw raxudpopik 1j Tnv nAskrpovikr SievBuvarn.

Turkish

Bu belgenin kendi dilinize ¢evrilmis bir 6zetini
okumak isterseniz, liitfen yukandaki telefon
numarasini arayin, veya posta ya da e-posta
adresi araciligiyla bizimle temasa gegin.

Punjabi

¥ 3t fem eR3RT © Hou »ust gwr feg B
v, 3 fagur 993 fow @99 '3 @5 99 W
Sug &3 39 & 2w U2 '3 W Huag 91

London Assembly | Housing Committee

Page 132

Hindi
g MURT FH TEAAS BT AR NG AT H

afey dr Sux fad gu Fex W wE W a1 IR A
T TE T AT S HA T W EH IS B

Bengali

= 1fi a2 wiREiem 9F:61 ST FeE S e 5,
BIFE T FE CFl FAEN H9A SRS wiF e A
B-3A 3T SIS0 IR G R |

Urdu

Ut b il A 1S gl el Sl R
S O o maie Sel e g S

dre sl iy S SEYLo S L

oS bl ey

Arabic

e Jo 3o 13 Gapda sdp dsosrd)
wde Joacid) Gl a3 0 Jpadddl ez s
a5 Oscg S wdpd sasawd dscgd
S soseddd

Gujarati

F dalR 2l eRelld%ell Wi daA @i
FHdl Sl dl GUR AUA o181k YR Slol S
iUl GUR N cUld Al S-S UIsllaiL
UERE TR REATE =

45


mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk

© Greater London Authority
City Hall
The Queen’s Walk

More London
London SE1 2AA

Enquiries 020 7983 4100
Minicom 020 7983 4458

www.london.gov.uk

Front cover photo: Becca Antink



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 134



Agenda Item 7

GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY LONDON

Subject: Housing Committee Work Programme

Report to: Housing Committee

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat Date: 27 February 2018

This report will be considered in public

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out a proposed work programme for the Housing Committee for the remainder of
the 2017/18 Assembly year.

2. Recommendations
2.1 That the Committee notes the progress on its work programme, as set out in the report.

2.2 That the Committee notes the schedule of its provisional meetings for 2018/19, which is
subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 10 May 2018.

2.3  That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy
Chair, to agree the topic, terms of reference and scope for the Committee’s first
provisional meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year on 24 May 2018.

3. Background

3.1 The Assembly agreed meeting slots for the Housing Committee for the 2017/18 Assembly Year,
which the Committee may choose to use for formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or other
engagement activities. Members receive a report at each Committee meeting on the progress of the
projects agreed as the basis for the work programme. Additional projects will be included in the
work programme from time to time reflecting the need for the Committee to respond to tasks such
as consultations or other events as necessary.

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk

Page 135




3.2

3.3

4.1

Criteria for topic selection
The criteria for selecting topics are some, or all, of the following:

(@ Addresses a strategic challenge relating to housing in London, with a particular emphasis on:
o Developing and maintaining sustainable communities; and
o Reducing inequalities and offering opportunities to all Londoners;
(b) Relates to the responsibilities and priorities of the Mayor and Greater London
Authority (GLA) Group;
(@) Provides an opportunity for the committee to influence policy; and

(d) Provides an opportunity for the committee to add value by bringing significant new evidence
or new perspectives to the debate.

The Committee has agreed to use the remaining meeting of this Assembly year for an update on
overcrowding in London’s housing stock.

Meeting Date Proposed topic(s)

15 March 2018 Overcrowding in London

Issues for Consideration

Provisional meeting dates in 2018/19

The GLA Oversight Committee has agreed the following provisional meeting slots for the Housing
Committee in 2018/19. The meeting slots are subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the
London Assembly on 10 May 2018.

Meeting Date Proposed topic(s)
Thursday 24 May 2018 at 2:30pm To be confirmed
Tuesday 5 June 2018 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Tuesday 3 July 2018 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Tuesday 4 September 2018 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Thursday 4 October 2018 at 2.00pm To be confirmed
%éggz;day 28 November 2018 at To be confirmed
Tuesday 4 December 2018 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Tuesday 22 January 2019 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Tuesday 26 February 2079 at 10.00am To be confirmed
Tuesday 2 April 2079 at 10.00am To be confirmed

Page 136



4.2

43

The Committee has not yet discussed initial priorities for its work programme for 2018/19.
Therefore, it is recommended that the Committee delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation
with the Deputy Chair, to agree topic, terms of reference and scope for the Committee’s first
provisional meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year on 24 May 2018.

Set out below are the topics that the Committee has scrutinised since 2012. Members may wish to
revisit topics to ascertain the progress since the Committee’s original scrutiny investigations.

Topics scrutinised during 2016-2018:

Affordable housing delivery;
Building small;
Community-led housing;
Draft Housing Strategy 2017;
Draft London Plan 2017;

Draft Affordable Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance and Affordable
Housing Programme Funding Guidance 2016-21;

Hidden homelessness;
Property guardians;
Rough sleeping;
Supported housing; and

Transport for London land.

Topics scrutinised during 2012-2016:

Affordability of home ownership;

Affordable rent model;

Diversifying the housebuilding industry;
Extension of the Right to Buy to housing associations;
Gypsy & Traveller site provision;

Housing estate renewal;

Impact of investor buyers on new build homes;
New delivery models for affordable rented homes;
Overcrowding;

Rent stabilisation models;

Rough sleeping and single homelessness; and

Student accommodation.

Page 137



5. Legal Implications

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report.

6. Financial Implications

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.

List of appendices to this report: None

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers: None

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager
Telephone: 020 7983 4394
E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk

Page 138


mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Transcript - Housing Committee 23-01-18

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Response from the Mayor
	Response from the Minister
	Hidden homelessness impact review

	5 Strategic Issues for Social Housing in London
	6 Protecting London's Property Guardians
	Propertt guardian report

	7 Housing Committee Work Programme

